
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

Date:      Tuesday, 29 March 2022 
Time:      5.00 pm 
Venue:   The Council Chamber - City Hall, College 
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR 
 
Distribution: 
 
Councillors: Tony Dyer (Chair), Mark Bradshaw (Vice-Chair), Martin Fodor, Geoff Gollop, Tim Kent, 
Brenda Massey, Graham Morris, Steve Pearce and David Wilcox 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Issued by: Lucy Fleming, Democratic Services 
City Hall, PO Box 3167, Bristol, BS3 9FS 
Tel: 0117 92 222000 
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 
Date: Monday, 21 March 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Agenda 

 

 

Agenda 
 

1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information   

 (Pages 4 - 6) 

2. Apologies for absence   

  

3. Declarations of Interest   

To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors.  They are asked to 
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.  
 
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion. 
 

 

 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting   

- To follow 
 

 

 

5. Chair's Business   

To note any announcements from the Chair 
 

 

 

6. Public Forum   

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item  
 
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
scrutiny@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines will apply in 
relation to this meeting:- 
 
Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5pm on Wednesday 23 March 
 
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12.00 noon on Monday 
28 March 

 

mailto:scrutiny@bristol.gov.uk


 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Agenda 

 

 

 
 

7. Performance Report Q3 2021-22   

 (Pages 7 - 29) 

8. Risk Report Q3 2021-22   

 (Pages 30 - 82) 

9. Scrutiny Annual Report 2021-22   

 (Pages 83 - 90) 

10. Work Programme   

To note the work programme. 
 

(Pages 91 - 96) 

 

11. Bristol City Council Business Plans   

 (Pages 97 - 202) 

12. City Leap  
 
- To follow on 28th March 2022 

 

  

13. Exclusion of Press and Public   

That under s.100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
(they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

 

14. City Leap   

- To follow on 28th March 2022 
 

 

 

15. Mayor's Forward Plan - Standing Item (for information only)   

 (Pages 203 - 225) 

16. Minutes from the WECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
standing item (for information only)  

 

 (Pages 226 - 235) 
 
 



www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Information Sheet 
 

Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

 
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk. 
 

Public meetings 

 
Public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory meetings (where planning and licensing 
decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall. 
 
Members of the press and public who plan to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to 
watch the meeting on a screen in another room should the numbers attending exceed the maximum 
occupancy of the meeting venue. 
 

COVID-19 Prevention Measures at City Hall (from March 2022) 

 
When attending a meeting at City Hall, the following COVID-19 prevention guidance is advised:  

 promotion of good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently 
 while face coverings are no longer mandatory, we will continue to recommend their use in 

venues and workplaces with limited ventilation or large groups of people. 
 although legal restrictions have been removed, we should continue to be mindful of others as 

we navigate this next phase of the pandemic. 
 

COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (from March 2022) 

 
Government advice remains that anyone testing positive for COVID-19 should self-isolate for 10 days 
(unless they receive two negative lateral flow tests on consecutive days from day five). 
  
We therefore request that no one attends a Council Meeting if they:  

 are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19 or   
 have tested positive for COVID-19  

 

Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment  

Other o check with and  
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in 
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer.  Please give as much notice as 
possible.  We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular 
meeting. 
 
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment.  If you 
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer. 

  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Forum 

 
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most 
meetings.  Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published 
on the Council’s website before the meeting.  Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.   
 

The following requirements apply: 

 The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is 
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.  

 The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.   

 
Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer 
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available 
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine 
articles that may be attached to statements. 
 
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and 
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within 
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on 
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act 
requests in the future. 
 
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information.  However, because of time constraints we 
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information 
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain.  Other committee papers may be placed on the 
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet. 

 

During the meeting: 

 Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions 
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.  

 There will be no debate on statements or petitions. 

 The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that 
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will 
have the greatest impact. 

 Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as 
short as one minute. 

 If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to 
speak on the groups behalf. 

 If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken 
your statement will be noted by Members. 

 Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be 
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all 
attending.   

Page 5

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

 As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own 
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser. 

 
For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution  

 

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings  

 
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full 
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except 
where there are confidential or exempt items).  If you ask a question or make a representation, then 
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this.  If you do not wish to 
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff.  However, the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take 
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting  (Oral commentary is 
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore 
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control. 
 
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-
website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services  

Page 6

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
http://www.bristol.public-i.tv/site/
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services


Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
  Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board  
Tues 29 March 2022  

Report of: Guy Collings, Head of Insight, Performance & Intelligence     
 
Title: Quarterly Performance Progress Report (Quarter 3 2021/22)  
 
Ward: All wards  
 
Officer Presenting Report:  Guy Collings, Head of Insight, Performance & Intelligence    
 
Contact Telephone Number:  0117 9220000 
 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That OSMB note the progress made against the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Q3 
2021/22 (Appendix A1) designed around the themes in the Corporate Strategy 2018-23 and 
Business Plan 2021/22, and that Scrutiny members and relevant Managers / Directors discuss 
measures to address any performance issues. 
 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 
 
Highlighted in section 2 below and noted within the suite of KPIs set out in appendix A1. 
 
Of the overall measures reported this quarter:  

40% are on or above target 
53% are performing better or the same compared to this period last year  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
1. Background context   

This performance progress report and appendix is part of the standard reporting arrangements around 
the Bristol City Council (BCC) Business Plan 2021/22. The Performance Framework and reporting 
arrangements for 2021/22 were approved by CLB and noted by Cabinet and OSMB in Feb-March 2021.   

This report, with its focus on Corporate Strategy 2018-23 and Business Plan 2021/22 themes, is the 
high level, Council-wide product designed for senior officers and sharing with Cabinet leads and OSMB.  
It is complemented by additional sets of KPIs for each directorate and shared with cabinet leads and 
directorate scrutiny commissions.  A list of short definitions for each measure is in Appendix A2. 

BCC measures and City-wide measures - This year we continue to differentiate between indicators 
wholly owned by BCC, so are direct measures of our performance, and those where BCC is a key player 
but performance is dependent on other partners or factors. Indicators are listed accordingly. 

Impact of Covid-19 – Covid-19 renewal and recovery has been embedded into the commitments that 
underpin our Business Plan and is being delivered across all areas of the council.  Adjusted targets are 
set to take account of this, including some which appear counter-intuitive compared to last year’s outturn due 
to Covid-19 impact (see BCC 2021/22 Performance Targets).   Details for individual indicators are in the 
management comments (see Appendix A1). 

 

2. Summary 
 

Performance summary:   

Taking the available KPI results this quarter, and noting the BCC / City-wide differentiation: 
 

• 40% of all Business Plan measures (with targets) are performing on or better than target (23 
of 58) 

o 36% of BCC-only measures (8 of 22) 
o 42% of city-wide measures (15 of 36) 

 

• 53% of all Business Plan measures (with a comparison from 12 months ago) are improved or 
same (30 of 57)  

o 48% of BCC-only measures (10 of 21) 
o 56% of city-wide measures (20 of 36) 

 

Note – the Q3 summary figures are worse than both those for Q2: was 46% on or better than target 
(17 of 37) and 59% improved or same (22 of 37) and Q1 (61% on or better than target and 64% 
improved or same).  This is in part due to a number of annual metrics from the Quality of Life (QoL) 
survey reporting worse results than in 2020/21 and not meeting the targets set. 
 
Corporate Strategy Themes: 
 
Empowering & Caring:  

Performance in supporting independence through home adaptations continues to improve positively, 
reflecting ongoing successful working with teams in Adult Social Care. Progress is now well ahead of 
target, standing at nearly 2,400 against the year end target of 3,400, the increase in part due to a 
reduction in access difficulties that had been experienced throughout the pandemic. 

There has been another increase in the number of households in Temporary Accommodation (TA) 
compared with the previous quarter, now standing at 1,053. After a reasonable Q1 the number of 

Page 8

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/4629037/Corporate_Business_Plan_2021-22.pdf/b89295d6-7db8-f4c7-30ff-a1c6cf208e58?t=1618998864503
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34208/2021-22+BCC+Performance+Framework.pdf/fc80390e-a4b3-f66b-c87a-2e2f60475b1b?t=1620208532127
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34208/Business_Plan__2021_2022_performance_measures_and_targets.pdf/45e1a81b-a04a-26bb-149d-d40c5a05bcd5?t=1626775551057


Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
households presenting as homeless has continued to increase during 21/22 driving an increase in 
placements and meeting the target of 950 will most likely prove challenging. 

The number of people rough sleeping as measured on our annual street count in November was 68. 
This represents an increase from the previous year (50) but still significantly lower than the pre-
pandemic peak of 130. Additional winter pressures funding is in place which should assist in reducing 
the number of people sleeping rough during the coldest months. 

This quarter sees the publication of the annual Quality of Life (QoL) survey results, two of which 
feature within this theme. The first, the percentage of respondents who volunteer or help out in their 
community at least 3 times a year has fallen by just over 1% to 45.9%. The previously high levels of 
neighbourly /community action witnessed at the start of the pandemic has fallen away slightly. There 
is however evidence that social media groups and neighbourly connections continue to flourish.  

The second QoL measure assesses the reduction in the percentage of people who lack the information 
to get involved in their community. In 2021 this stood at 30.5% and in 2022 has increased slightly to 
30.8%. There has been less community activity due to the pandemic, in particular opportunities to 
come together face to face.  
 

Fair & Inclusive:   

The percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks excluding exception cases stands at 33.6% and 
has, as anticipated, fallen by slightly over 9% in Q3. There is a real concern that owing to increased 
demands for service and capacity issues, that future improvements may be slower and the target of 
60% will not be met at year-end. To give an indication as to the volumes involved, between January 
and September 2021, 381 new plans were finalised, of which 128 were within the 20-week timescale 
(33.6%). The decline in performance reflects an increase in requests received, coinciding with 
recruitment and retention issues in the SEND and EP teams alongside the subsequent time needed to 
train and develop new starters. 

After an expected slump during and following the global pandemic, the amount of Bristol City Council 
Apprenticeship Levy spent (£774,270) is now ahead of schedule and likely to exceed expectations, with 
just under £300,000 committed in Q3 alone. Predicted spend for next 12 months is now £1.1million.  
External recruitment of new apprentices however remains subdued and a rotational scheme is being 
introduced to encourage Council departments to innovate. A strategic partnership to share 
apprenticeship levy is working well with a number of arrangements coming to fruition with bodies 
such as Avon & Somerset Police, Care Homes and SMEs.   

The number of empty council properties is currently 239, an increase of 11 from Q2 and 29 above 
target (210). The number of voids being repaired has increased due to greater internal and contractor 
capacity. This will further improve with the introduction of the citywide response framework and 
increased external capacity made available. 

The percentage of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years who are not in employment, 
education or training (NEET) & destination unknown stands at 7.8%. This has fallen from 9.6% in Q2 
but is still above the target of 4.9%. In December, an offer of support was issued to NEET Young People 
outlining all local opportunities. Staff are contacting this NEET cohort to see what additional can be 
provided to get them into education employment and training. 

The percentage of people who feel they belong to their neighbourhood as captured in the QoL survey 
stands this year at 63.1%, up from 62.8% in 2021. This is positive news and possibly reflects the high 
level of connection and outreach between neighbours and communities during the early stages of the 
pandemic. 

Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
Wellbeing:  

The number of visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries and Archives has reached 256,425 and is well on 
course to reach the revised target of 300,000. This is pleasing progress towards a return to normality 
and has been achieved in spite of the Bristol Museum and M shed still running at reduced capacity due 
to Covid restrictions. Blaise, Red Lodge and Georgian House remain closed until April 2022. 

The percentage of households in the most deprived areas using a food bank or charity in the last year, 
as measured by the QoL stands at 4.8%, down from 8.4% in 2021. Challenges remain in ensuring food 
security for the residents of Bristol due to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and there has been 
significant work across the city to support those worst affected. Headline results for 2021/22 (2%) 
show little change over the past 2 years in the City-wide average figure but do show a significant 
reduction in use of food banks in the most deprived areas when compared to last year. A Food 
Equality Strategy has been developed and work is underway on an action plan to achieve its goals. 
Food Equality Champions are also being recruited to encourage co-design and community ownership 
of this work. 

The council's carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (in tonnes) stands at 5,918 (based on 2020-21 
figures as the data is published in arrears) compared to 9,528 tonnes in the previous year. The Mayor 
has set a new target for the Council to be carbon neutral by 2025 for its emissions as defined by the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol Scope 1 and 2; this is a different dataset and will be reported from 22/23. 

The percentage of people who feel that street litter is a problem in their neighbourhood (QoL) has 
fallen slightly this year, standing now at 81.7% compared to 82.4% in 2021. There has been a small 
improvement on last year, but overall has remained static for the past three years. The continuing 
wider challenges around waste and recycling collections may have contributed to the figure remaining 
high. A wide range of campaigns and activities are in progress or planned across the year to reduce 
street litter and deliver overall improvements to the street scene. These include incremental service 
improvements such as the Great Bristol Spring Clean and the Big Tidy. However, for the 10% most 
deprived areas in the city, 95.6% of respondents consider street litter a problem locally. 

The percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting features as it remains 
below its target of 50% again in Q3 (43%), as it as throughout the year. There continue to be high 
volumes of kerbside collections (household waste) as a direct result of home working which in turn is 
impacting on overall recycling rates. There are still challenges related to the availability of collection 
teams relating to both national shortages of appropriately qualified drivers as well as staff still 
isolating. 
 

Well Connected:   

The number of people able to access care and support through the use of Technology Enabled Care 
stands at 445 (against a Q3 target of 494). Demand for installations continues to outstrip the ability to 
deliver and whilst performance is at present slightly behind target it is hoped that the Q4 installation 
target will be met by year end.   

The percentage of people living in deprived areas who have access to the internet at home(QoL) 
stands at 91.3%, down 0.7% from 2021. This forms part of the Digital Inclusion agenda set by the One 
City Digital Board and will be improved through large-scale Digital Place and smaller-scale Council 
initiatives. A pilot project is delivering broadband to high-rise buildings and discount schemes available 
via broadband/mobile providers to our citizens are being actively promoted.  

The percentage of residents saying that traffic congestion is a problem in their area (QoL) has 
increased by over 3% in 2022 (up from 70.4% to 73.6%). This may in part be due to changes in overall 

Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
traffic volumes since the previous year's survey. In the 10% most deprived areas of the city, 61.7% 
consider congestion a problem locally. This increased from 56% the previous year. Ongoing work 
across the year is intended to consolidate on reductions in congestion achieved during 2020 but traffic 
congestion remains a clear concern to many of our residents. 

The percentage of people who feel they can influence local decisions (also measured by the QoL) is 
down 0.5% from 2021 (20.6% from 21.1%) although it is still 3% higher than the low-point value in 
2018/19. This indicator is likely to be influenced by a wide range of factors and the reduction in 
2021/22 mirrors the trend in other QoL measures. The positive response in 2020/21 was tentatively 
attributed to the council's work with communities in its response to the COVID-19 pandemic, plus the 
'Your City Our Future' programme leading to Bristol's first citizens' assembly. The worsened perception 
in 2021/22 may reflect the return to more' business as usual' conditions with the negative legacy of 
COVID-19 still impacting many people. 

The number of passenger journeys on buses in the city stands at 21,926,053 and is well on course to 
meet the annual target of 26,505,500 (note this was a revised target due to the pandemic – pre 
restriction journey figures in 2019/20 were over 40,000,000. Passenger numbers overall had been 
growing to a level of around 70% of equivalent pre-Covid numbers, however this dropped during Q3 
with the rise of the new Covid variant, a return to more home working during December, as well as 
people choosing to reduce wider contacts (and therefore travelling by bus) prior to the Christmas 
holiday period.  Although capacity restrictions have been lifted on public transport, the return to 
normal levels of patronage will be dependent on a significant return to office working across the city.  
 

Organisational Priorities:  

General reserves continue to show at 9.17%, which is above the minimum target (5%-6%); this does 
give extra scope should negative outcomes from high-risk scenarios occur. The policy on what 
constitutes a desirable/healthy level of reserves was reviewed as part of the medium-term financial 
plan reported to Cabinet in November 2021 and proposes to increase the target for 2022/23 onwards, 
on a temporary basis, to 10% of net revenue budget. 

Continuing financial pressure caused by the Covid-19 pandemic has meant that Business Rates 
collection is worse than at the same period last year. Collection for December is 6.4% behind target, 
equivalent to a deficit of £13.3m. The focus over the next couple of months will be to support 
businesses with new grants and the various new relief schemes recently announced. Many businesses 
have spread their instalments through to March, and a reduction in the deficit is anticipated during 
February and March. 

The percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that the Council responds to within 15 days has 
increased to 88.4%. This has improved consistently throughout the year and remains well above target 
and is now at its highest level since 2018.  

The average number of working days lost to sickness this quarter saw a significant increase, up from 
7.6 days last year to a high in Q3 this year of 9.2 days; this is reflective of wider society as a whole as 
restrictions have been lifted and absences due to contracting or isolating due to Covid was high. 
However, when excluding COVID sickness (7,291.5 days lost) from the calculation, the average days 
lost decreases to 8.1, which is broadly on target. 

Increasing the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% most deprived areas 
remains a challenge for the Council and again remains stubbornly and significantly worse than target 
now standing at its lowest point (3%) against a target of 6.5%. Q3 saw a decrease in the total number 
of job offers from 1357 in Q2 to 1311 in Q3. There continues to be an increase in job offers being 

Page 11



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
made to applicants who live outside of the Bristol Boundary. Vacancy Management processes 
introduced in June 2021 have meant that the numbers of jobs being advertised has fallen slightly 
compared to previous quarters. Significant work also continues in order to attract apprentices. 

Satisfaction levels of citizens with Council services has fallen to 39.2% from 47.4% in 2021. This 
represents a fall to a three year low after the increased positivity expressed during the pandemic. This 
is largely in line with an overall drop in positive sentiment expressed in the QoL survey across a range 
of indicators. 
 
Note - For all themes, attention is drawn to the commentaries where the service has indicated 
exception in delivery, and/or details of plans and activities underway. 
 

 
3.  Policy 
Performance is reported as part of quarterly governance process as soon as possible after gathering all 
the necessary data. All Business Plan KPIs contained within Appendix A1 are designed to demonstrate 
our progress towards the Corporate Strategy 2018-23. 
 
4.   Consultation 
 

a)  Internal 
Performance progress has been presented to relevant Divisional Management Teams (DMT), 
Executive Director Meetings (EDM), Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) and Cabinet Member 
briefings prior to the production of this report. 

b)  External 
Not applicable.  

 
 
5.  Public Sector Equality Duties 
 
5a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 

considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

the Equality Act 2010. 
 
ii)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to: 
- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic; 
- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities); 

Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board – Quarterly Performance report   

 
- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 

any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 
 

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to – 

- tackle prejudice; and 
- promote understanding. 

 
5b)  Not applicable 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A1:  Performance Progress Update (Q3 2021/22) 
Appendix A2:  A list of short definitions for each measure shown in Appendix A1 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: None  

Page 13



Title Target status DoT Title Target status DoT

BPB307: Increase the number of people enabled to live independently 
through home adaptations

2,399  BCPB225: Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks 
excluding exception cases

33.6% 

BPB357: Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation 1,053  BPB265a: Increase the amount of Bristol City Council Apprenticeship Levy 
spent

£774,270 

BPC312: Increase % respondents who volunteer or help out in their 
community at least 3 times a year (QoL)

45.9%  BPB375: Reduce the number of empty council properties 239 

BPC314: Reduce the percentage of people who lack the information to 
get involved in their community (QoL)

30.8%  BPC263a: Reduce the % of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years 
who are NEET & destination unknown

7.8% 

BPC352b: Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a single night 
in Bristol - BCC quarterly Count

68  BPC324: Increase the percentage of people who feel they belong to their 
neighbourhood (QoL)

63.1% 

Title Target status DoT Title Target status DoT

BC
C BPB410: Increase the number of visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries 

and Archives 
256,425  BC

C BPB308: Increase number of people able to access care & support 
through the use of Technology Enabled Care

445 

BPC259: % of households in the most deprived areas using a food bank or 
charity in the last year (QoL)

4.8%  BPC438: Increase the % of people living in deprived areas who have 
access to the internet at home (QoL)

91.3% 

BPC419: Reduce the council's carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (in 
tonnes)

5,918 
(2020-21)  BPC470: Reduce the percentage of people saying that traffic congestion is 

a problem in their area (QoL)
73.6% 

BPC540: Reduce percentage of people who feel that street litter is a 
problem in their neighbourhood (QoL)

81.7%  BPC475:Increase the number of passenger journeys on buses 21,926,053 N/A

BPC541: Increase the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, 
recycling and composting

43.0%  BPC535: Increase the percentage of people who feel they can influence 
local decisions (QoL)

20.6% 

Title Target status DoT

BPB501b: Forecast level of Bristol City Council general financial reserves 9.17% 
BPB504: Non-domestic rates collected as a percentage of budgeted 
collectible debit

72.15% 
BPB518: Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that 
we respond to within 15 days

88.4% 
BPB522: Reduce the average number of working days lost to sickness 
(BCC)

9.2 days 
BPB528 Increase the percentage of employment offers made to people 
living in the 10% most deprived areas

3.0% 

BPB530: Increase the satisfaction of citizens with our services (QoL) 39.2%  DoT = 'Direction of Travel' compared to this time last year 

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

BC
C

Appendix A1

BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL - Q3 2021/22 Performance Summary

EMPOWERING & CARING FAIR & INCLUSIVE

BC
C-

on
ly

BC
C-

on
ly

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

WELLBEING WELL CONNECTED

WORKPLACE ORGANISATIONAL PRIORITIES

Ci
ty

-w
id

e

OVERALL SUMMARY:
40% on or better than target (23 of 58)

53% same or better than Q3 last year (30 of 57)

P
age 14



Appendix A1

Business 
Plan ref

Code Title +/-
2020/21 
Outturn

2021/22 
Target

Q1 Progress Q2 Progress Q3 Progress
Comparison 
over last 12 

months
Management Notes Directorate

EC2 BPB353 Increase the number of households where 
homelessness is prevented

+ 1,512 1,350 339 672
941

(q3 target 
1013)


We are under target in Q3 but expect this to improve in Q4 with additional Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) grant to prevent private renting tenants with rent arrears 
accrued during the pandemic from becoming homeless.

G&R

EC2 BPB357 Reduce the number of households in temporary 
accommodation

- 1,122 950 893 987 1,053 
There has been an increase in the number of households in Temporary Accommodation (TA) compared 
with previous quarter as the number of households presenting as homeless has continued to increase 
during 21/22 driving an increase in TA placements.  

G&R

EC2 BPB358a Number of households moved on into settled 
accommodation

+ New KPI 
2021/22

1,000 277 294
228

(q3 target 
250)

n/a Whilst under target in Q3, we are on track to meet the annual target of 1,000. G&R

EC3 BPB280 Increase the % of people who contact Adult Social 
Care and then receive Tier 1 and 2 services

+ 55.9% 56.0% 55.9% 47.0% 47.8% 

We have worked with our Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) providers a lot to 
promote their services and so now mainly people contact their local VCSE services directly without 
needing to be signposted by the council at all. This is actually a good outcome for the person and us in 
terms of the cost of redirecting to the VCSE and this KPI doesn't take that work into account.   
As outlined in the Q2 comments we are trying to develop a better measure to capture how we manage 
contacts effectively. We are looking at the amount of contacts that we address effectively without the 
need for a long term state funded care services through finding alternative strength based solutions. 
The new KPI being developed for 2022/23 would be something like 'The percentage of contacts each 
quarter that results in a Tier 3 (long term) care service'. We think this is a better measure of how we are 
managing demand and addresses contacts as they come into our front door. 

PE

EC3 BPB281 Reduce the number of service users aged 65+ in 
permanent Residential & Nursing Care [Snapshot]

- New KPI 
2021/22

Establish 
benchmark

1,039 1,032 1,041 n/a

This is a continued strategy for ASC with targets set for reductions in bed based placements over the 
next 4 years. Covid has naturally reduced the number of placements in bed based care but placements 
are starting to rise again and waiting lists for care homes commencing again. There is also currently a 
push for OOH bed based care due to hospital flow and discharge pressures. The work of commissioners 
in developing alternatives to bed based care (e.g. ECH Out of Hospital Flats) continues with Sirona, CCG 
and partners and maintenance and growth of homecare as a preferred alternative to bed based care. 
Main risks currently are workforce pressures in care workforce and lack of supply of alternatives of bed 
based care. 

PE

EC3 BPB285 Increase the number of people receiving home care + New KPI 
2021/22

Establish 
benchmark

1,349 1,295 1,256 n/a

The number of OP people receiving homecare is a growth target for ASC. This is a critical plank in 
reducing bed based care and enabling people to stay at home receiving care and support to maximise 
their independence. Recent interventions to support this growth include block contracts to guarantee 
supply of care; incentive schemes to encourage providers to take POCs (packages of care), work with 
providers on the cusp of handing back packages of care due to workforce issues and sustainability 
measures to support them; work with VCSE on alternatives to CQC registered homecare and our 
developing locality model for homecare. The balance between number of beds being brokered versus 
packages of care is an ongoing key metric.

PE

EC3 BPB307 Increase the number of people enabled to live 
independently through home adaptations

+ 3,120 3,400 843 1,632 2,399 

Performance is now well ahead of target as a result of a reduction in access difficulties resulting from 
Covid. There has been a significant number of extra jobs coming through for the installation of home 
adaptations and Technology Enabled Care (TEC) reflecting successful joint work with social care staff on 
completing assessments on clients requiring the support provided through these programmes.

G&R

CLB / Cabinet / OSMB - Quarter 3 (1st April - 31 December '21) Performance Progress Report 

2021/22 Business Plan: Empowering & Caring
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

P
age 15



EC1 BPC200 Increase number of in-house Foster Care placements 
(not including kinship) [snapshot]

+ New KPI
2021/22

Establish 
Baseline

526 560 526 n/a
During the last quarter the number of foster places approved were 7, kinship places approved were 9. 
This reflects a slight increase in the number of places available for children in Bristol.  However the 
vacancies within our in house foster carers are very limited.

PE

EC1 BPC216 Percentage children becoming the subject of a child 
protection plan for a second/subsequent time

- 20.4% 22.0% 22.6% 25.6% 25.2% 
250 Child Protection Plans started between 01/04/2021 and 31/12/2021. Of these 63 had a previous 
plan at any time. We believe that we are seeing the impact of COVID on families and that this is 
contributing to increased challenges in sustaining change.  

PE

EC1 BPC222 Increase the take-up of free early educational 
entitlement by eligible 2 year olds

+ 62.0% 66.0% 57.0% n/a n/a 

This annual figure was reported in Qtr1. In January 2021 the headcount data showed that take up was 
57%  then in the May 2021 headcount data showed take up at 64% and then provisional data prior to 
validation from the October headcount shows 70% take up. Historical data shows us that the 
September headcount is always higher than the January headcount however by the end of the spring 
term the take up will increase to include the children that join after the headcount day. Plans are in 
progress to work with the sector in promoting the offer post COVID. 

PE

EC2 BPC352b Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a 
single night in Bristol - BCC quarterly Count

- 43 60 59 62 68 
The number of people rough sleeping as measured on our annual street count in November was 68. An 
increase from the previous year (50) but still significantly lower than the pre-pandemic peak of 130. 
Additional winter pressures funding is in place which will reduce the number of people sleeping rough 
during the coldest months

G&R

EC3 BPC270 Increase experience of work opportunities for priority 
groups 

+ 2,570 2,800 1,672 2,098 2,997 

We have met our target this quarter due to all elements of the project running as proposed. For our 
core WORKS sessions this has included: running year 9 workshops, student newsletter group Post 16 
workshops, and work experience tasters across sessions. This includes: 461 experiences of work in 
schools  - 26 of these for post 16 students with an EHCP and 47 of these pre 16 with an EHCP; 350 
experiences of work through our delivery partner Sixteen who have delivered workshops weekly and 
created a sensory discovery box for learners (all pre 16 with an EHCP); 55 young people have been 
supported through our curriculum work (18 of these are pre 16 with an EHCP); 27 young people in care 
being supported as part of career coach; and we offered 6 work experience placements (1 child in care, 
4 WORKS school student, and 1 person post 16 with an EHCP). All delivery is projected for this quarter 
and with lots in the pipeline we are likely to exceed target this year.  

PE

EC4 BPC311 Maintain the levels of engagement with community 
development work

+ 4,394 5,000 2,038 4,410 7,117 
The team has significantly over achieved their target for the community building conversations.  The 
conversation this quarter is mix of door knocking for community building and vaccine related 
conversations. It includes conversations with business and partners and community based workers.

PE

EC4 BPC312 Increase % respondents who volunteer or help out in 
their community at least 3 times a year (QoL)

+ 47.2% 47.2% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

45.9% 
We are no longer seeing the high levels of neighbourly /community action  seen  at the start of the 
pandemic. There is evidence that WhatsApp groups and neighbourly connections continue and reflect 
the new connections that were made. As the pandemic goes on and we all respond to changing 
requirements it has not been possible to develop and sustain community activity & community action.  

PE

EC4 BPC314 Reduce the percentage of people who lack the 
information to get involved in their community (QoL)

- 30.5% 30.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

30.8% 

There has been much less community activity because of the pandemic particularly opportunities to 
come together face to face. As the pandemic has gone on and everyone deal with their own uncertainty 
there has perhaps been a sense of 'retreating'. So the high levels of communication and connection we 
say early in the pandemic has not been sustained and there has not been the opportunity to rebuild 
community activity although lots of really good work continues it is not at the same levels as pre-
pandemic. .  

PE

FI1 BPB124a % of major residential planning applications 
processed within 13 weeks or as otherwise agreed

+ 87.2% 92.0% 57.1% 75.0% 81.3% 
The improved performance for the 2nd quarter (July to September) was largely sustained during Q3.  
However performance for the year to date remains below target  following a below par Q1. The 
number of decisions (32) for the year to date are down on the same period in 2020-21 when 38 had 
been issued. (26/32 overall. October to December 14/16 and 87.5%)

G&R

FI1 BPB375 Reduce the number of empty council properties - 220 210 264 228 239 

True voids being managed by Responsive Repairs & Lettings Service total 208, with the remaining being 
with Planned Programmes and Accessibly Homes in order to carry out major works. The number of 
voids being repaired in responsive repairs has increased due to greater internal and contractor 
capacity. This will further improve with the introduction of the citywide Response Framework (5 areas 
with 5 contractors) as will give increased external capacity as demand fluctuates.

G&R

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

2021/22 Business Plan: Fair & Inclusive

P
age 16



FI2 BPB225e Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 
20 weeks excluding exception cases *

+ 20.8% 60.0% 42.1% 42.7% 33.6% 

During the period Jan to Sept 2021 381 new EHC plans were finalised of which 128 were within the 20 
week timescale (33.6%). 149 of these plans were finalised in Q3 (Jul - Sept) of which 30 were in 
timescale (20.1%). This is the DfE cohort excluding plans with a mediation and/or tribunal before the 
final plan is issued and excludes exception cases (those cases when a decision is made not to issue a 
plan/reconsidered/changes and subsequently a plan is issued).       
The number of EHCPs produced in the 20 week time period has dipped in quarter 3. This reflects the 
increase in requests experienced coinciding with recruitment and retention issues in the SEND and EP 
teams the subsequent time needed to invest in training and development for new starters and the 
ongoing effects of the pandemic

PE

FI3 BPB265a Increase the amount of Bristol City Council 
Apprenticeship Levy spent

+ £647,299 £1,000,000 £227,285 £485,776 £774,270 

Q3 represents steady progress towards target with apprenticeship starts continuing to flow from 
existing staff and predicted spend for next 12 months now £1.1million.  External recruitment of new 
apprentices remains subdued and will need close monitoring and we are developing with Human 
Resources/Organisational Development support a rotational scheme to encourage departments to 
innovate.  A strategic partnership to share apprenticeship levy is working well with a number of 
arrangements coming to fruition with bodies such as Avon & Somerset Police Care Homes and SMEs.  
Based upon current profile target will be achieved during Q4. 

PE

FI1 BPC310 Increase the number of private sector dwellings 
returned into occupation

+ 445 450 99 216
287 

(q3 target 
300)

 Performance slightly behind target but not significantly. hopefully performance will improve during the 
last quarter.

G&R

FI1 BPC430a Increase the number of new  homes delivered in 
Bristol

+ 1,350
(2019/20)

1500
(2021-22)

Annual - 
data not due

1,589 
(2020-21)

(Target 2,000) 

Annual - data 
not due 

The number of new homes delivered in Bristol for 2020-21 is 1,589 (1,368 plus  221 student 
accommodation units.) The completions for 2020/21 have been affected by COVID-19 and Brexit-
related disruptions to the construction industry as noted against the Affordable Homes metric (BPC425) 
above.   This measure is reported a year in arrears.  

G&R

FI1 BPC425 Increase the number of affordable homes delivered in 
Bristol

+ 400 450 87 164 280 

Completions for the year to date are 280, compared to 118 for the same period last year. The biggest 
immediate impact on affordable housing delivery continues to come from the combined effects of  
Brexit and the Covid pandemic. The construction sector is seeing a significant increase in costs of 
materials, supply chain delays and delays on site through the availability of construction workers. This 
remains a significant concern for q4 delivery, particularly in light of the new Omicron variant, and the 
impact this is having on labour supply. Our Provider Partners are currently reporting 2 large schemes 
slipping into 22/23 although we are working with them to see what homes may be complete within the 
financial year. Two other large sites are forecast to complete in March but this is subject to delays as 
described above. Delivery forecasts will be reassessed in 4 weeks.  The weighting of delivery in q4 is not 
uncommon, but the risks associated with delays in construction are unprecedented and increasing.

G&R

FI2 BPC246 Increase percentage of schools and settings rated 
'Good' or better by Ofsted (all phases) (OCP)

+ 79% 86% 79% 79% 81% 

Recent inspection judgements have increased the proportion of schools judged good or better.  A 
review of the most recetn reports demonstrate schools are developing effecitve curriculums and 
improving the leadership and delivery of provision for pupils with SEND.  There are still a high number 
of schools with requires improvement judgements that are awaiting inspection.  These schools are key 
to increasing the overall percentage of good or better schools through quarter 4. 

PE

FI3 BPC217 Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care leavers in EET 
(statutory return - recorded around birthday)*

+ 71.0% 72% 76% 74% See Qtr 2 

There is a 3-month data lag on this measure and reports the period up to 31 December 2021. Of the 39 
Care Leavers aged 17 and 18 whose birthdays fell in the report period 1 Apr 2021 to 30 Sep 2021, 29 
were ETE at the time of the 'Birthday Contact'. This measure does not include 8 young people who are 
recorded as being Returned Home or Deceased.
Quarter 2 is showing that 74% of our care leavers aged 17 and 18 are in EET; this is 2% above our target 
and higher than statistical neighbours and the England average.

PE

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

P
age 17



FI3 BPC263a Reduce the % of young people of academic age 16 to 
17 years who are NEET & destination unknown

- 6.9% 4.9% 7.4% 9.6% 7.8% 

October is a less reliable month for benchmarking as enrolment information comes through and is 
recorded. For November and December the average is 6.4% which is a more reliable figure and 
comparable with last year. There are no data issues and in December 2021 the Not Known figure was 
2.1% which is the lowest figure recorded historically and a reflection of improved data cleansing and 
tracking work within the team.     
At the end of December, we issued an offer of support to NEET Young People (YP) outlining all local 
opportunities with contact details. The trackers are now contacting the NEET YP to see what additional 
support the young people need to get them into education employment and training.

PE

FI3 BPC103 Increase the number of Black, Asian and minority 
ethnic-led businesses supported

+ 134 50 87 157 311 
The target is being exceeded due to a combination of programmes currently providing support to 
BAME or Black and Minoritised  businesses. Successful securing of additional funding  has resulted in 
the extension of programmes to support this work so further update's will be available.     

G&R

FI4 BPC248 Number of hate crimes reported to Avon & Somerset 
Police

OFF 1,940 1,950 614 1,315 1,818 n/a

503 hate crimes reported in this period bringing total figure for the year 1,818.  This is lower than 
previous quarters and reflects reporting across the Force area.  A reduction from September follows on 
from the 'summer spike' and is anticipated.  Most common offence type was 'public order' (55%) - 
usually verbal abuse in the street/public space followed by 'violence against the person' (35%) and the 
most common hate type was 'race related' (accounting for 66% of all hate reported) followed by 
homophobic hate crime (11%) disability related hate (5%) and religiously motivated hate (4%).  
For the crimes committed in this period 2.5% were charged. Drawing analysis from this data remains 
challenging for a number of reasons.  Police confirm that they have changed their reporting methods 
this quarter.  The absence of a sharp increase is an indicator of some stability in so far as community 
tensions.  
The aim to reduce hate crime needs to be a long term one embedded in a public health approach of 
education equality and inclusion.  Efforts to achieve this are steered from within the Strategic 
Partnership Against Hate Crime.  This partnership is undergoing a 'refresh' and a new plan – of which 
includes creating a hate crime dashboard and a strengthened data share between partners.

PE

FI4 BPC324 Increase the percentage of people who feel they 
belong to their neighbourhood (QoL)

+ 62.8% 62.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

63.1%  This is good news and reflects the high level of connection and outreach between neighbours and 
communities during the early stages of the pandemic.

PE

FI4 BPC327 Reduce the percentage of people who have noted 
“mainly negative effects” from gentrification (QoL)

- 24.70% 25.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
33.4% 

This is the third year running where there has been an increase in those considering gentrification has 
negative impacts. For the 10% most deprived areas in Bristol (based on the 2019 Index of Multiple 
Deprivation) this was 41% of respondents. Negative effects tend to be increased living costs, house and 
rent prices and cultural disconnect/feeling excluded, changes in the local amenities.  
In terms of changes in local amenities the City centre and High streets recovery programme aims to 
address some of these issues in the City Centre and 9 priority highstreets, through supporting local 
businesses, marketing and promotion, bringing vacant properties back into use, street scene 
improvements and greening, and local cultural projects and events. High street action plans are being 
developed through consultation with residents, businesses, cultural organisations and other 
stakeholders.

G&R

W4 BPB253 Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure 
centres and swimming pools

+ 399,343 695,145 385,853 885,755
1,262,983

(Nov 2021)  Attendances continue to grow and are at 80% of pre covid figures. PE

W4 BPB410 Increase the number of visitors to Bristol Museums, 
Galleries and Archives 

+ 28,917 300,000 31,301 153,473 256,425  Bristol Museum and M shed still running at reduced capacity due to Covid restrictions. Blaise, Red 
Lodge and Georgian House are now closed  until April 2022. 

G&R

W1 BPC250
Reduce the percentage of people in Bristol who 
report below national average Mental Wellbeing 
(QoL)

- 19.7% 20.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

20.5%  We continue to work with high risk communities and groups to support mental health, working with 
partners such as schools, universities, workplaces and VCSE. 

PE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

2021/22 Business Plan: Wellbeing

P
age 18



W1 BPC251 Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital 
admissions per 100,000 population 

- 845 839 833 859 n/a n/a
The data hasn't come through for this as yet.  We are setting up a steering group under Keeping 
Communities Safe to deliver on the drug and alcohol strategy.  In addition we have set up a project 
group to examin the reverse liver disease pathway with a specific focus on alcohol.  

PE

W1 BPC255 Increase % of people living in the most deprived areas 
who do enough regular exercise each week(QoL)

+ 55.2% 55.2% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

60.9%  Work is being undertaken including liaison with social prescribing in the most deprived areas of the city PE

W2 BPC419 Reduce the council's carbon dioxide equivalent 
emissions (in tonnes)

-
9,528

tonnes
(2019-20)

7,300 
tonnes

Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

5,918 
tonnes

(2020-21)


The Mayor has set a new target for the Council to be carbon neutral by 2025 for its emissions as 
defined by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Scope 1 and 2.  This is a different dataset and will be reported 
from 22/23.

G&R

W2 BPC433 Reduce the total CO2 emissions in Bristol City (k 
tonnes) 

-
1,447

K Tonnes 
(2018)

1,488
K Tonnes

(2019)

Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

1,390
K Tonnes

(2019)


The City has reduced emissions by 42% from 2005 to 2019 compared to the target of 40% by 2020 set 
in 2008. This measure is reported at around 18 months after the end of the calendar year so the 21/22 
reported outturn is for the calendar year 2019.  

G&R

W2 BPC434 Reduce the proportion of deaths attributed to 
particulate air pollution 

- 5.0%
(2018)

4.3% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

Annual - data 
not due

n/a

This indicator is based on Public Health England data and calculations. These show that for the last year 
of data (2019) the fraction of deaths attributable to pollution from particulates rose significantly 
reversing a general downward trend of the previous 5 years. It is based on the fraction of very small 
particles (<2.5 micro metres) arising from human action. The main sources of this within the city are 
traffic and combustion.

G&R

W2 BPC480 Increase the % of monitoring sites that meet the 
annual air quality target for nitrogen dioxide 

+ 98%
(2020) 

94.0% See Q4 
2020/21

Annual - data 
not due

Annual - data 
not due

n/a

Data for the calendar year of 2020 was reported at Q2;  98% of monitoring sites had an annual NO2 
concentration below 40µg/m3 when analysed in accordance with Local Air Quality Management 
exposure criteria. Levels were substantially improved as a result of Covid lockdowns and subsequent 
reductions in traffic (and other active interventions such as the closure of Bristol Bridge to most traffic), 
so the 98% outturn should not be used as benchmark alone and the 94% target for 2021 continues the 
pre-Covid trajectory (from 90.2% in 2019), moving to the Clean Air Plan aim of 100% of sites on target 
by end 2023. 
Note - previously there has been a data lag with this indicator, with previous calendar year  reported 
after official verification in Q1 of the next year, as is the case here. For 2021 onwards, this indicator will 
be reported in Q4 as unverified data for the calendar year just finished (see definition).

G&R

W2 BPC333 Increase the percentage of residents visiting a park or 
open space at least once a week (QoL)

+ 60.3% 60.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

59.0% 

Performance has dropped very slightly but remains higher than the previous five years. This is likely to 
reflect the continuing influence of the Covid pandemic on lifestyles and the enhanced importance of 
the outdoors to residents. However in 2021 there was greater freedom to travel to green space out of 
the city than in the previous year. The view of Parks Service managers is that visitor numbers remained 
high in our main sites with some peripheral sites continuing to see a growth in visitors e.g. Eastwood 
Farm. There may have been  both positive and negative factors influencing performance: positive 
factors include a general uplift in the Parks cafe service offer, whilst a negative factor is that small 
changes to mowing regimes and reduction in pesticide use did contribute to some spaces appearing 
more 'untidy' and possibly less welcoming. 
There has been a small decrease on last year (2020), but 6% points increase on 2019 when 53% was 
reported.  For the 10% most deprived areas in Bristol (based on the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation)  
42% of respondents had visited parks and open spaces, but this has improved since by 5% points on 
2020.   

G&R

W2 BPC540 Reduce percentage of people who feel that street 
litter is a problem in their neighbourhood (QoL)

- 82.4% 80.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

81.7% 

There has been a small improvement on last year, but overall this has remained  static for the last three 
years. A wide range of campaigns and activities are in progress or planned across the year to reduce 
street litter and deliver overall improvements to the street scene. These include incremental service 
improvements such as the Great Bristol Spring Clean and the Big Tidy. However, for the 10% most 
deprived areas in Bristol (based on the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation)  95.6% of respondents 
consider street litter a problem locally.

G&R

W2 BPC541 Increase the percentage of household waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and composting

+ 45.0% 50.0% 43.0% 42.0% 43.0% 

Recycling continues to be negatively impacted by the growth in kerbside refuse collected owing to 
trends in home working. The suspension of green waste collections has reduced the tonnage of garden 
waste sent for composting and has also having an impacted on the overall recycling rate. Compared to 
the same period in 2020-21 recycling has decreased by 3% from 46% to 43% whilst residual waste has 
increased. It is anticipated that next year the garden waste volumes will increase back to pre-covid 
levels as long as collections are maintain. Analysis is being undertaken to understand why tonnage 
through the Recycling Centres has dropped. The biggest challenge is to address the behavioural change 
of generating more waste at home as this will continue to impact on BCC reaching its targets in the 
longer term. 

G&R

P
age 19



W2 BPC542 Reduce the residual untreated waste sent to landfill 
(per household)

- 122.5 kg 100.0 kg 14.2kg 46.0kg
76.0 kg

(q3 target 
75kg)


The Energy Recovery Centre (ERC)  treatment contracts have continued to perform despite some 
commissioning issues at one ERC.  The bulky waste contract continues to identify alternative outlets to 
landfill.

G&R

W3 BPC258 Reduce the percentage of households which have 
experienced moderate or worse food insecurity (QoL)

- 4.2% 7.2% n/a n/a 4.6% 

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. Challenges remain in ensuring 
food security for the residents of Bristol due to ongoing impacts of COVID-19, and there has been 
significant work across the city to support those worst affected. Headline results for 2021/22 show little 
change over the past 2 years in this figure. A Food Equality Strategy has been developed and currently 
work is underway on the action plan to achieve the goals set out in this strategy. Food Equality 
Champions are also being recruited to encourage co-design and community ownership of this work.

PE

W3 BPC259 % of households in the most deprived areas using a 
food bank or charity in the last year (QoL)

- 8.4% 6.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

4.8% 

This measure is updated annually through the Quality of Life survey. [Note - target was previously 
published incorrectly at the City-wide level of 2%, this has been corrected to 6% target for the most 
deprived areas ]. Challenges remain in ensuring food security for the residents of Bristol due to ongoing 
impacts of COVID-19, and there has been significant work across the city to support those worst 
affected. 
Headline results for 2021/22 (2%) show little change over the past 2 years in the City-wide average 
figure, but do show a significant reduction in use of food banks in the most deprived areas (4.8%) 
compared to last year (8.4%). A Food Equality Strategy has been developed and currently work is 
underway on the action plan to achieve the goals set out in this strategy. Food Equality Champions are 
also being recruited to encourage co-design and community ownership of this work.

PE

W3 BPC334 Reduce the percentage of the population living in 
Fuel Poverty

- 9.8% 9.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

Annual - data 
not due

n/a This measure is updated annually and will be available at year-end.  The fuel poverty strategy is being 
reinvigorated and will hope to link with the food equality work.  

PE

W4 BPC256 Increase the % of adults in deprived areas who play 
sport at least once a week (QoL)

+ 27.5% 27.5% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

36.3%  Partnerships are being explored and strengthened with emphasis on working with seldom heard groups 
in deprived areas. 

PE

W4 BPC411 Increase the percentage of people who take part in 
cultural activities at least once a month (QoL)

+ 33.4% 35.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
31.9% 

This is the third year running where there has been a decrease in those taking part in cultural events at 
least once a month, down from 43% in 2019.  For the 10% most deprived areas in Bristol (based on the 
2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation) this drops to 21.6%, although there has been increase from 18% 
the previous year. 
The culture sector had gradually re-opened over summer 2021 although with greatly reduced capacity 
in many cases and new programmes developed to encourage participation. However the overall return 
to attending cultural events has been more hesitant  than had been expected when the annual target 
was set, albeit that being at a cautious level.

G&R

W4 BPC412a Increase the % satisfied (in deprived areas) with the 
range and quality of outdoor events (QoL) 

+ 40.3% 50.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
39.6% 

There has been a slight reduction in satisfaction from residents in the 10% most deprived areas of the 
city with the range and quality of outdoor events. However across the whole city there was a greater 
drop overall (51.6% down from 57%).  Outdoor events were gradually being re-established with the 
easing of restrictions from July 2021 although the usual big scale events for the city, such Harbour 
Festival and the  Balloon Fiesta were either not be held, or  took place with a revised offer. Work  
continued with events organisers to encourage them to broaden the events offer beyond the city 
centre to the wider city to enable more people to feel able to participate.

G&R

WC2 BPB308 Increase number of people able to access care & 
support through the use of Technology Enabled Care

+ 511 753 166 284
445

(q3 target 
494)

 Performance slightly behind target but the aim will be to meet the Q4 installation target by the end of 
March. Demand for installations is slightly outstripping our ability to deliver.

G&R

WC4 BPB636 Ratio of consultation response rate for the most and 
least deprived 20% of Bristol citizens

- 1.91
1.80
(Q2)

1.91 2.18 1.21 

This PI is significantly better (lower) than target in 2021/22 Q3 due to the inclusion of three surveys 
which attracted high response rates from the most deprived 20% of the city. These are the 'Colston 
Statue - What Next?' survey, the Sex Establishments Policy consultation, and the Investment in Council 
Homes consultation. Overall response rates and, in particular response numbers by people in more 
deprived communities, are strongly affected by the subject of a survey as well as the resource deployed 
to encourage engagement. 

RE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

2021/22 Business Plan: Well Connected

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

P
age 20



WC1 BPC470 Reduce the percentage of people saying that traffic 
congestion is a problem in their area (QoL)

- 70.4% 73.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
73.6% 

There has been an increase in those who think congestion is problem locally; this may in part due to 
changes in overall traffic volumes since the previous year's survey. In the 10% most deprived areas of 
the city 61.7% consider congestion a problem locally. This had risen from 56% the previous year. 
Ongoing work across the year is intended to consolidate on reductions in congestion achieved during 
2020;  it should be noted however that the target for 2021 reflects the previous trajectory from 2019 as 
the 2020 result was better   than expected as there were lower traffic levels overall due to lockdowns, 
home working and education closures.          

G&R

WC1 BPC474 Increase the number of single journeys on Park & 
Ride into Bristol

+

Suspended 
2020/21

(2019-20 
1,687,558)

930,000 109,604 265,192 463,578 n/a

General bus passenger numbers overall had been growing to a current level of around 70% of 
equivalent pre-Covid levels, however this dropped during q3 with the rise of the  Covid variant, a return 
to more home working during December as well as people choosing to reduce wider contacts (and 
therefore travelling by bus) prior to the Christmas  holiday period.  Although capacity restrictions have 
been lifted on public transport, the return to normal levels of patronage will be dependent on a 
significant return to office working across the city. The commuter demand, previously a very significant 
proportion of overall bus usage, has yet to return, with many people continuing to work at home full 
time. This is particularly affecting Park & Ride usage, which also had a proportionately high level of 
peak hour (commuter) usage as part of its overall use. (This measure was suspended in 2020-21)
There is no in-year target for this measure due to the continuing distortion to activity across public 
transport. This measure was suspended during 2020-21 but by this point in 2019-20 there had been 
1,299,638 journeys made.  

G&R

WC1 BPC475 Increase the number of passenger journeys on buses +

Suspended 
2020/21

(2019-20 
40,776,023)

26,505,000 5,978,530 13,139,056 21,926,053 n/a

General bus passenger numbers overall had been growing to a current level of around 70% of 
equivalent pre-Covid levels, however this dropped during q3 with the rise of the  Covid variant, a return 
to more home working during December as well as people choosing to reduce wider contacts (and 
therefore travelling by bus) prior to the Christmas  holiday period.  Although capacity restrictions have 
been lifted on public transport, the return to normal levels of patronage will be dependent on a 
significant return to office working across the city. The commuter demand, previously a very significant 
proportion of overall bus usage, has yet to return, with many people continuing to work at home full 
time. This is particularly affecting Park & Ride usage, which also had a proportionately high level of 
peak hour (commuter) usage as part of its overall use. (This measure was suspended in 2020-21)
There is no in-year target for this measure due to the continuing distortion to activity across public 
transport. This measure was suspended during 2020-21 but by this point in 2019-20 there had been 
1,299,638 journeys made.  

G&R

WC2 BPC438 Increase the % of people living in deprived areas who 
have access to the internet at home (QoL)

+ 92.0% 92.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
91.3% 

This forms part of the Digital Inclusion agenda set by the One City Digital Board, and will be delivered 
through large-scale Digital Place and smaller-scale Council initiatives. Currently, we have delivered a 
pilot project broadband into high-rise buildings, and we actively promote discount schemes currently 
available via broadband/mobile providers to our citizens. We are looking longer-term for potential 
opportunities/partnerships to provide subsidised access to broadband using Council assets to our 
tenants and the wider communities.

RE

WC3 BPC266 Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known 
to social care who are in paid employment

+ 5.3% 6.0% 6.3% 6.1% 6.8% 
We have had strong into work performance from our WE WORK for Everyone learning difficulty 
programme, which has already exceed the annual target in this area. With our supply chain now in 
place through the commissioning Dynamic Purchasing Framework, we are anticipating further growth 
in this area.

PE

WC3 BPC268 Increase the number of adults in low pay work & 
receiving benefits accessing in-work support 

+ 845 850 203 315 512 
The pandemic and Omnicron wave has had an impact on our ability to deliver face to face and hold 
engagement events. Bristol is still showing a strong performance when compared to the other Future 
Bright in work support programme local authorities. We have recently launched a campaign to drive up 
referrals from agencies and from Council front line teams.  

PE

WC3 BPC323 Increase % of people who see friends and family as 
much as they want to (QoL)

+ 73.2% 76.0% Annual - 
data not due

Annual - data 
not due

77.0%  This is good news. This is likely the result of the vaccine take up and people catching up following the 
lock down. 

PE

WC3 BPC041 Improve the overall employment rate of working age 
population

+ 75.8% 70.0% 77.1% 74.4% 77.6%  Performance has picked up again after the last quarter's small decline and is significantly above target. 
The data is for the period July-Sept 2021 reflecting the ending of Covid lockdown restrictions. 

G&R

P
age 21



WC4 BPC533 Increase the percentage of people who feel they can 
influence local decisions (QoL)

+ 21.1% 22.6%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
20.6% 

The 2021/22 figure is 2 percentage points worse than target and is 0.5 percentage points below the 
2020/21 outturn, however is still 3 percentage points higher than the low-point value in 2018/19. 
This PI is likely to be influenced by a wide range of factors, and the reduction in 2021/22 mirrors trends 
in other PIs observed in the Quality of Life survey. The positive response in 2020/21 was tentatively 
attributed to the council's work with communities in its response to the COVID-19 pandemic, plus the 
'Your City Our Future' programme leading to Bristol's first citizens' assembly. The worsened perception 
in 2021/22 may reflect the return to more' business as usual' conditions with the negative legacy of 
COVID-19 still impacting many people. 

RE

P
age 22



WOP1 BPB530 Increase the satisfaction of citizens with our services 
(QoL)

+ 47.4% 48.5%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
39.2% 

Satisfaction with council services dropped to 39.2%, falling to a three year low after the increased 
positivity expressed during the pandemic. This is largely in line with an overall drop in positive 
sentiment expressed in the Quality of Life 2021 survey across a range of indicators. 

RE

WOP1 BPB523 Maintain appropriate staff turnover - 6.8% 10%-15% 11.3% 13.0% 13.8% 

The annual rate of turnover has increased from 13.0% in Q2 to 13.8% in Q3. The number of leavers has 
jumped from 855 to 908. Further analysis of the data reveals that turnover is higher on the lower paid 
grades.
Management (BG13 and above) had 99 leavers against a headcount of 1,382 for a turnover of 7.2%.
Technical / Professional (BG10-BG12) had 217 leavers against a headcount of 2,053 for a turnover of 
10.6%.
Transactional / Officer (BG8-BG9) had 186 leavers against a headcount of 1,638 for a turnover of 11.4%.
Clerical / Administrative (BG7 and below) had 406 leavers against a headcount of 1,512 for a turnover 
of 26.9%.
The Clerical / Administrative level has a much higher turnover due to the TUPE of Cleaning and Security 
services on 31 May 2021. Without this TUPE then the turnover figure would have been closer to 12.3%.
A healthy staff turnover ratio is between 10%-15% which enables fresh skills, ideas and experience to 
be incorporated into the workforce. Covid resulted in a huge reduction in staff leavers as future 
economic certainty was unknown, however we have now reverted back to optimum levels. 

RE

WOP2 BPB518 Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-statutory 
complaints that we respond to within 15 days

+ 86.0% 85.0% 85.3% 87.6% 88.4% 

Performance is now at its highest level since 2018, at 88.4%. This is both an improvement from Q2 
(87.6%) and ahead of the Corporate target (85%). However work continues with service areas to 
improve both response rates and the quality of responses sent out even further.
Complaints received in the period Oct 1st to Dec 31st - 1,452. Complaints answered on time (within 15 
working days) – 1,284. Complaints not answered on time – 168.

RE

WOP2 BPB524 Increase the percentage of staff with a completed 
annual appraisal

+ new KPI 75.0%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

Over the last 18 months we have taken a light touch approach to performance reviews due to 
colleagues focusing on Covid response or redeployed to other work to keep essential services running. 
Although we have encouraged managers to continue regular conversations with their employees and 
undertake reviews where they can. Earlier this year there was a technical problem with the reporting 
system for performance appraisals which means that the data is incomplete. This has now been 
resolved, and we will be able to report at the end of the annual performance reporting cycle.
In the meantime, a pulse survey was run over summer 2021 to ask staff about the frequency and 
quality of conversations with their manager about performance and development needs. 77% of 
respondents reported that they had a performance review in the last 12 months and 66% of 
respondents felt their review was helpful.

RE

WOP3 BPB522 Reduce the average number of working days lost to 
sickness (BCC)

- 7.6 days 8 days 7.8 days 8.3 days 9.2 days 

Sickness has seen an increase from 8.3 days in Q2 to 9.2 days in Q3. When excluding COVID-19 sickness 
(7,291.5 days lost) from the calculation average days lost decreases to 8.1, which is broadly on target.
We continue to take preventative measures to reduce sickness absence through our Health and 
Wellbeing Plan and revised Workforce Strategy. We are actively monitoring sickness absence patterns 
for services relating to COVID-19 to ensure we act swiftly to any areas of increased risk.
New service provider from April 2021 to supply integrated occupational health, employee assistance 
and physiotherapy provision to support our requirements. Our health and wellbeing plan sets out the 
further actions we will be taking this year to support our employees;
  - Adapt mental health training for colleagues and utilise Mental Health First Aiders
  - Equip managers to support their teams whilst working remotely
  - Raise awareness and increase take-up of mental health support mechanisms for colleagues
As part of a new Health and Wellbeing strategy, we maintain a rigorous and proactive approach to 
protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our workforce for those who return to the workplace and 
those who continue to home-work.
Increased visibility to mangers through PowerBI on utilisation of EAP & Occupational Health to be 
included in HR Dashboard from January 2022.

RE

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

2021/22 Business Plan: Workplace Organisational Priorities

P
age 23



WOP4 BPB501b Forecast level of Bristol City Council general financial 
reserves

+ 9.57% 5%-6% 9.17% 9.17% 9.17% 

The current general reserve balance is currently £35.6m against an on-going base budget of £388.8m, 
this represents 9.17%. This is higher than the minimum level with the Council's reserve policy. The 
policy has been reviewed as part of the medium term financial plan reported to Cabinet in November 
2021 and sets plan to increase in short term of up to 10% of net revenue budget. This is to reflect the 
uncertain financial climate, as well as the sensitivity and risks in the medium term financial plan. 

RE

WOP4 BPB502 Increase the percentage of invoices paid on time + 85.95% 86.0% 84.57% 84.10% 82.3% 

The current KPI calculation is based on invoice date (date given on the invoice). Were the calculation to 
be based on 'invoice received' date (when we actually get the invoice) the monthly target has been 
exceeded with year to date performance at 95.2%.  For consistency this year, the KPI will continue to be 
calculated using invoice date.  As we continue to review opportunities under the new Supplier Incentive 
Scheme, such as e-Invoicing, there is the potential for performance against this KPI to improve further.  
From April 2022 the KPI calculation will based on invoice received date.  

RE

WOP4 BPB503 Council Tax collected as a percentage of budgeted 
collectible debit

+ 95.20% 96.0% 26.70% 51.95% 78.01% 
Collection for December is 2.9% behind target, equivalent to a deficit of £8.3m. Some 23,000 letters 
were sent from late November to accounts in arrears, helping to retain the deficit at the level of the 
previous month. The letters have also prompted people to report changes of circumstances and our 
focus is now on processing these and issuing revised bills. 

RE

WOP4 BPB504 Non-domestic rates collected as a percentage of 
budgeted collectible debit

+ 92.24% 93.5% 18.40% 44.67% 72.15% 
Collection for December is 6.4% behind target, equivalent to a deficit of £13.3m. Our focus over the 
next couple of months will be to support businesses with the new grants and the various new relief 
schemes recently announced. Many businesses have spread their instalments through to March, and 
we can expect to reduce the deficit during February and March.

RE

WOP4 BPB505 Percentage of procurement spend with 'Small and 
Medium sized Enterprises' (SME's)

+ 52.0% 52.2%
Annual - 

data not due
Annual - data 

not due
Annual - data 

not due
n/a

This is an annually reported KPI. Initiatives in FY21/22 to promote the use of SMEs for delivering 
contracts include:
- Prompts for officers placing sub-£25k contracts to ensure they have considered local SMEs
- Reviewing standard tender processes and documentation to ensure they are proportionate and SME-
friendly. This will include consulting stakeholders such as the Federation of Small Businesses

RE

WOP4 BPB528 Increase the percentage of employment offers made 
to people living in the 10% most deprived areas

+ 4.7% 6.5% 4.8% 3.6% 3.0% 

The percentage of job offers being made to employees in the most deprived areas has decreased to 3% 
in Q3 from 3.6% in Q2. During Q3 we have seen a decrease in the total number of job offers from 1357 
in Q2 to 1311 in Q3. We continue to see an increase in job offers being made to applicants who live 
outside of the Bristol Boundary. Vacancy Management processes introduced in June 2021 have meant 
that the numbers of jobs being advertised has fallen slightly compared to previous quarters. 
HR Committee receive a report in December on the work the Council is doing to target apprentices;
• April to September 2021 - 93 fully registered apprentice starts. 
• 23 others commenced and completing on boarding process with college. 
• 48 expected starts minimum in October and November. 
• On target to meet public sector duty of 214 starts and stretch target of 250 by April 2022
In addition the report included details of an apprenticeship pilot that was being developed to attract 
greater number of apprentice applicants, that would give an apprentice exposure to many services; 
• Providing a meaningful experience which would enable the individual to attain knowledge and skills.
• Opening doors to careers/functions that an individual may not have considered.
• Enabling teams to participate and attract new talent to the business and open the eyes of what they 
do, to apprentices.

RE

P
age 24



PE

G&R

= RE

Corporate Strategy - Key Commitments

EC1
EC2
EC3
EC4

FI1
FI2
FI3
FI4

W1
W2
W3
W4

WC1
WC2
WC3
WC4

WOP1
WOP2
WOP3
WOP4

Progress Key

Significantly better than 
target 

Better than target

Improvement  Key Directorate

Growth and Regeneration

Redesign the council to work effectively as a smaller organisation.

Wellbeing
Embed health in all our policies to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing inequalities and the demand for acute services.
Keep Bristol on course to be run entirely on clean energy by 2050 whilst improving our environment to ensure people enjoy cleaner air, cleaner streets and access to parks and green spaces.
Tackle food and fuel poverty.

On Target

Worse than target

Significantly worse than 
target 

Make progress towards being the UK’s best digitally connected city.
Reduce social and economic isolation and help connect people to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity.
Work with cultural partners to involve citizens in the ‘Bristol’ story, giving everyone in the city a stake in our long-term strategies and sense of connection.

Give our children the best start in life by protecting and developing children’s centre services, being great corporate parents and protecting children from exploitation or harm.
Reduce the overall level of homelessness and rough sleeping, with no-one needing to spend a ‘second night out’.
Provide ‘help to help yourself’ and ‘help when you need it’ through a sustainable, safe and diverse system of social care and safeguarding provision, with a focus on early help and intervention.

Empowering & Caring

Workplace Organisational Priorities

Prioritise community development and enable people to support their community.
Fair & Inclusive

Make sure that 2,000 new homes (800 affordable) are built in Bristol each year by 2020.
Improve educational outcomes and reduce educational inequality, whilst ensuring there are enough school places to meet demand and with a transparent admissions process.
Develop a diverse economy that offers opportunity to all and makes quality work experience and apprenticeships available to every young person.
Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

Keep Bristol a leading cultural city, helping make culture, sport and play accessible to all.
Well-Connected

Improve physical and geographical connectivity; tackling congestion and progressing towards a mass transit system.

Resources

Equip our colleagues to be as productive and efficient as possible.
Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, healthy and motivated workforce.
Be responsible financial managers and explore new commercial ideas.

Direction of travel IMPROVED compared to same period in the 
previous year

SAME as previous same period in the previous year

Direction of travel WORSENED compared to same period in 
the previous year





People

P
age 25

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Bristol+City+Council+Corporate+Strategy+2018+to+2023.pdf/3e7d7377-ed1f-5d67-c6ab-af49b7159a5e


Appendix A2

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC200 Increase the number of in-house Foster Care placements (not including Kinship)
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

This records he total number of foster care placements that can potentially be available at maximum capacity in-
house excluding any that are approved for kinship placements. This number is larger than the number of foster 
households as it records 'placements' on any given date, as a snapshot.

BPC216
Percentage children becoming the subject of a child protection plan for a 
second/subsequent time

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

The percentage of children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan at any time during the year, who had 
previously been the subject of a Child Protection Plan, or on the Child Protection Register of that council 
regardless of how long ago that was.

BPC222 Increase the take-up of free early educational entitlement by eligible 2 year olds
Annual

(Previous Financial 
Year)

Take up of free educational provision for 2 year olds.  Data provided by the DfE and relates to the previous 
financial year: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/education-provision-children-under-5-years-of-age-
january-2019

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB353 Increase the number of households where homelessness is prevented
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measure reports the number of households where homelessness is prevented as a result of advice provided 
through a dedicated Housing Advice service funded by a local authority, or in-house housing advice service, to 
fulfil the authority's statutory duties under section 179(1) of the Housing Act 1996 part VII, as amended by the 
Housing Act 2002. 

BPB357 Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

This measure reports on  the numbers of households living in temporary accommodation provided under the 
homelessness legislation.

BPB358a Number of households moved on into settled accommodation
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The number of single and family households that have moved from any form of temporary or supported 
accommodation or who have been housed into settled accommodation as a result of being owed a homelessness 
duty. (This includes households that have not entered temporary accommodation.)

BPC352b
Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a single night in Bristol - BCC 
quarterly Count

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The number of people sleeping rough on a single night within the area of the authority. This is a local count  done 
to the same methodology as the annual count and is intended to provide a snapshot each quarter. 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB280
Increase the percentage of people who contact Adult Social Care and then receive 
Tiers 1 & 2 services

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

There is a count of count of requests for Adult Social Care support requests and also a record of how many were 
either signposted to alternate support or provided with lower level support. The inverse percentage being the 
percentage of requests for support that went onto recieve the higher levels of support.  Performance is reported 
on a quarter by quarter basis e.g. Q1 - 55%, Q2 58%  etc

BPB281
Reduce the number of service users aged 65+ in permanent Residential & Nursing 
Care (Snap-shot)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This records the total number of service users who are in a permanent Residential or Nursing setting who are 65 
years or older at the end of the quarter, as a snapshot figure.
The formula is: N = X - Y 
Where x = Number of service users at the end of the quarter who were 65 years and older who are receiving a 
care home service of either Nursing or Residential Care 
Where y = Number of service users at the end of the quarter who were 65 years and older who are receiving a 
care home service of either Nursing or Residential Care who are a carer or receives long-term inhouse service

BPB285 Increase the number of people receiving home care
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

This indicator is being measured to demonstrate how BCC commission and utilise alternative Tier 3 (long term 
care) provision to continue to maximise people’s independence at home. This ultimately will reduce the reliance 
on more traditional Tier 3 care home service which have the highest unit cost.
It records the total number of service users who receive externally commissioned home care at the end of the 
quarter (Excluding carers & in house services) and is reported as a snapshot figure.

BPB307
Increase the number of disabled people enabled to live more independently 
through home adaptations

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measure records the number of people enabled to live more independently in their own home as the result of 
a home adaptation. the Home Adaptations Service operates across both the public and private housing sectors.

BPC270 Increase experience of work opportunities for priority groups 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures the number of people who gain experiences of work for identified priority groups -  Young people 
at risk of and currently not engaging in education, employment and training, Children in care or Care leavers 
(CIC/CL), people with a Learning difficulty and/or disability, people with a disability, Black, Asian and other non-
white minority back grounds ( BAME), Returning to work, living in the 25% most deprived lower super output 
areas, over 55’.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC311 Levels of engagement with community development work
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of residents who actively engage in community building conversations throughout the 
year. This supports an approach which is based on Asset Based Community Development.

BPC312
Increase the percentage respondents who volunteer or help out in their community 
at least 3 times a year (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC314
Reduce the percentage of people who lack the information to get involved in their 
community (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB124a
Increase the percentage of major residential planning applications processed within 
13 weeks or as otherwise agreed

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

Percentage of major residential planning applications by type determined in a timely manner (within 13 weeks)  
n.b. this includes the category of "applications for prior approval" which are NOT included as part of the statutory 
returns PS1 and PS2. 

BPB375 Reduce the number of empty council properties
Quarterly

(Snapshot)

The current number of empty properties as at the end of the measuring period. A property is classified as empty 
when there is no tenancy in force and the  property is void. The number should include all standard voids as well 
as those classed as undergoing major works, or pending a decision to dispose or demolish.

BPC310 Increase the number of private sector dwellings returned into occupation
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of non-local authority-owned vacant dwellings returned to occupation or demolished 
during the financial year as a direct result of action by the local authority.

BPC425 Increase the number of affordable homes delivered in Bristol
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This records the numbers of social rented  and intermediate housing units added to the city's overall housing stock 
during the year. Affordable housing is defined in the Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) from the Ministry for 
Housing Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). 

BPC430a Increase the number of new homes in Bristol 
Annual 

(1 year lag)
This measures the net increase in dwelling stock over one year  and is calculated as the sum of new build 
completions, minus demolitions, plus any gains or losses through change of use and conversions.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Fair & Inclusive

4: Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

2: Reduce the overall level of homelessness and rough sleeping, with no-one needing to spend a ‘second night out’.

Appendix A2 -  Defintions and reporting timescales for Performance Indicators 
2021/22 Corporate Plan: Empowering & Caring

1: Give our children the best start in life by protecting and developing children’s centre services, being great corporate parents and protecting children from exploitation or harm.

2: Improve educational outcomes and reduce educational inequality, whilst ensuring there are enough school places to meet demand and with a transparent admissions process

1: Make sure that 2,000 new homes (800 affordable) are built in Bristol each year by 2020

3: Provide ‘help to help yourself’ and ‘help when you need it’ through a sustainable, safe and diverse system of social care and safeguarding provision, with a focus on early help and intervention.

Page 26



BPB225e
Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks excluding exception 
cases *

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3 

months in arrears)

*(this is reported with a 3-month data lag) Number of Education Health Care Plans in the last quarter that were 
issued within 20 weeks,exncluding exception cases, as a percentage of all such statements issued throghout the 
calendar year.   The reported data aligns with the SEN Census reporting (ie a Calendar year).... This means that this 
KPI is reporting cumulatively and 3 months in areas:
Q1 reports Jan – Mar / Q2 reports Jan – June / Q3 reports Jan – Sept / Q4 reports Jan - Dec

BPC246
Increase percentage of schools and settings rated 'Good' or better by Ofsted (all 
phases)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This records the present percentage of schools, across all phases, where the Ofsted inspection rating is 'Good' or 
better.  The DfE published this information at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/monthly-
management-information-ofsteds-school-inspections-outcomes#history

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB265a Increase the amount of Bristol City Council Apprenticeship Levy spent
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measure the amount of budgeted levy money spent on apprenticships by Bristol City Council as an 
organisation.

BPC103 Increase the number of Black, Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported Biannual
The number of Black, Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported through work commissioned with Black 
South West Network.   

BPC217
Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care leavers in EET (statutory return - recorded 
around birthday)*

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3 

months in arrears)

*(this is reported with a 3-month data lag) Performance is reported with a 3 month data lag owing to the way the 
statutory measure is recorded. The percentage of former care leavers aged 17 - 18 who were looked after under 
any legal status (excl V3 or V41) on 1 April in their 17th year, who were in education, employment or training. 
These figures also include those care leavers who we are not in contact with.

BPC263a
Reduce the percentage of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years who are 
NEET & destination unknown

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the percentage of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in education, employment or training (NEET). 
AND Destination Unknown. Whilst this records data quarter by quarter, unusually the DfE return (and therefore 
the Q4 figure) is the snapshot for the 3 month period 1st December - last day of February.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC248 Number of hate crimes
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
Hate Crime data recorded by Avon & Somerset Police

BPC324
Increase the percentage of people who feel they belong to their neighbourhood 
(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC327
Reduce the percentage of people who have noted “mainly negative effects” from 
gentrification (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC470
Reduce the percentage of people saying that traffic congestion is a problem in their 
area (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC474 Increase the number of single journeys on Park & Ride into Bristol
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of journeys made on Park and Ride (P&R) services in Bristol. Data is supplied by the 
various commerical operators of P&R designated services

BPC475 Increase the number of passenger journeys on buses 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the number of journeys made on all services  which has a boarding point in Bristol. Data is supplied 
by the various commerical operators of P&R designated services

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB308
Increase the number of people able to access care and support through the use of 
adaptive technology

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measure records the number of people enabled to live more independently in their own home as the result of 
the installation of Technology Enabled Care, and is linked to BPB307 which records the number of homes which 
has received home adaptions are part of enabling independent living.  

BPC438
Increase the percentage of people living in deprived areas who have access to the 
internet at home (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC041 Improve the overall employment rate of working age population
Quarterly

(Snapshot)
This is the proportion of the working age population (16-64) who are in employment according to the 
International Labour Organisation (ILO) definition.

BPC266
Increase the percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care, 
who are in paid employment

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

The measure shows the proportion of adults with a learning disability who are “known to the council”, who are 
recorded as being in paid employment. The information would have to be captured or confirmed within the 
reporting period 1 April to 31 March.
The definition of individuals ‘known to the council’ is restricted to those adults of working age with a primary 
support reason of learning disability support who received long term support during the year. 
The measure is focused on ‘paid’ employment. Voluntary work is excluded from the measure. Paid employment is 
measured using the following two categories:
• Working as a paid employee or self-employed (16 or more hours per week); 
and,
• Working as a paid employee or self-employed (up to 16 hours per week).

BPC268
Increase the number of adults in low pay work & receiving benefits  accessing in-
work support 

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This is a cumulative count to show the growth of the Future Bright in work support programme and the new Get 
Well - Get On programme which focusses on supporting people in work who have mental health of muscle, joint 
or bone conditions.

BPC323
Increase the percentage of people who see friends and family as much as they want 
to (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB636
Ratio of consultation response rate for the most and least deprived 20% of Bristol 
citizens

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

Ratio of the consultation response rate per 10,000 citizens from people living in the 20% least deprived parts of 
the city (quintile 5) and the response rate from the 20% most deprived areas (quintile 1). Calculated as the mean 
of responses for all city-wide consultations with 500 or more respondents, which closed during the year ending in 
the reporting quarter.

BPC533 Increase the percentage of people who feel they can influence local decisions (QoL)
Annual

(Survey)
The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC250
Reduce the percentage of people in Bristol who report below national average 
Mental Wellbeing (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

4: Work with cultural partners to involve citizens in the ‘Bristol’ story, giving everyone in the city a stake in our long-term strategies and sense of connection.

3: Reduce social and economic isolation and help connect people to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity.

2: Make progress towards being the UK’s best digitally connected city.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Well Connected

1: Improve physical and geographical connectivity; tackling congestion and progressing towards a mass transit system.

1: Embed health in all our policies to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing inequalites and the demand for acute services.

4: Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Wellbeing

3: Develop a diverse economy that offers opportunity to all and makes quality work experience and apprenticeships available to every young person.

Page 27



BPC251 Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions per 100,000 population 
Quarterly

(Rolling year 3 
months in arrears)

This indicator measures the rate of alcohol related admissions per 100,000 population using Hospital Episode 
Statistics.The rate is calculated using data on those finished in-year admissions that are classified as ordinary or 
day cases and that have a primary or subsidiary diagnosis code.  
Q1 covers April to March, Q2 = July to June, Q3 = October to September, Q4 = January to December.

BPC255
Increase the percentage of people living in the most deprived areas who do enough 
regular exercise each week(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC333
Increase the percentage of residents visiting a park or open space at least once a 
week (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC419 Reduce Bristol City Council’s own carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) emissions Annual 

Carbon Dioxide equivalent emissions from:
1. Council buildings (corporate buildings, leisure centres, council housing (landlord supplies and heating), schools 
and other operational sites);
2. Street lighting;

BPC433 Reduce carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions across the Bristol local authority area
Annual 

(18 month lag)
This measures the annual amount of end user CO2 emissions across an agreed set of sectors (housing, 
roadtransport and business).

BPC434 Reduce the proportion of deaths attributed to particulate air pollution 
Annual 

(2 year lag)
This measure is reported by Public Health England  

BPC480
Increase the percentage of monitoring sites that meet the annual air quality target 
for nitrogen dioxide 

Annual 
(Calendar year)

This measures the percentage of monitoring sites across the city which achieve the air quality target of an annual 
NO2 concentration below 40µg/m3, when analysed in accordance with Local Air Quality Management exposure 
criteria. It is published at Q4 as unverified data for the calendar year just finished, prior to sign-off by DEFRA (i.e. 
calendar year 2021 data to be reported at Q4 2021-22)

BPC540
Reduce percentage of people who feel that street litter is a problem in their 
neighbourhood (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC541
Increase the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the percentage of household waste which is sent for reuse, recycling and composting. 

BPC542 Reduce the residual untreated waste sent to landfill (per household)
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This indicator is the number of kilograms of residual household waste collected per household.

The Numerator (X) for this indicator is total kilograms of household waste less any household waste arisings sent 
for reuse, sent for recycling, sent for composting, or sent for anaerobic digestion.

The Denominator (Y) is the number of households as given by the dwelling stock figures from the Council Taxbase. 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPC258
Reduce the percentage of households which have experienced moderate or worse 
food insecurity (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC259
Percentage of households in the most deprived areas who have used a food bank or 
charity in the last year (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC334 Reduce the percentage of the population living in Fuel Poverty
Annual 

(2 year lag)

Fuel poverty in England is measured using the Low Income High Costs (LIHC) indicator where a household is 
considered to be fuel poor if:
- They have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median level) and were they to spend that 
amount, they would be left with a residual income below the official poverty line.
The data for this measure is supplied by the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB253 Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools on a monthly cumulative basis.  
Occasionally the latest month is delayed and in those instances the month indicated in brackets. 

BPB410 Increase the number of visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries and Archives 
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures visitors to Bristol Museums, Galleries and Archives and is taken from automated counters as well as 
snap shot surveys.   

BPC256
Increase tthe percentage of adults in deprived areas who play sport at least once a 
week (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC411
Increase the percentage of people who take part in cultural activities at least once a 
month (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BPC412a
Increase the % satisfied (in deprived areas) with the range and quality of outdoor 
events (QoL) 

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB523 Maintain appropriate staff turnover
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures staff turnover by considering the numerator as the total number of leavers; including those who 
retire, or leave involuntarily due to dismissal or redundancy over the period; and the denominator as the average 
total number of staff employed over the period....The aim is to keep the level at between 10-15%

BPB530 Increase the satisfaction of citizens with our services (QoL)
Annual

(Survey)
The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics such 
as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

2021/22 Corporate Plan: Workplace Organisational Priorities

1: Redesign the council to work effectively as a smaller organisation.

4: Keep Bristol a leading cultural city, helping make culture, sport and play accessible to all.

3: Tackle food and fuel poverty.

2: Keep Bristol on course to be run entirely on clean energy by 2050 whilst improving our environment to ensure people enjoy cleaner air, cleaner streets and access to parks and green spaces.

Page 28



PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB518
Increase the percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that we respond to 
within 15 days

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The percentage of stage 1 non-statutory complaints that were respond to within 15 days.

BPB524 Increase the percentage of staff with a completed annual appraisal Annual

This indicator is based on figures for the latest performance lifecycle (i.e. at least one face-to-face appraisal must 
have taken place in that 12 month period), and calculated using headcount of staff eligible for a performance 
review. Apply to permanent and temporary staff only. Casual staff (i.e. those not employed on a regular basis but 
when a particular need arises) and those employed by outside contractors (e.g. private companies), are not to be 
counted.

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB522 Reduce the average number of working days lost to sickness (BCC)
Quarterly

(Rolling year)

This performance indicator measures the levels of sickness each quarter is reported on a 'rolling year' basis and 
the last quarter will reflect the whole year's performance - The quartley reports are presented:
• 2020/21 Q1 will report the 1 Jul 20 - 30 Jun '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q2 will report the 1 Oct '20 - 30 Sept '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q3 will report the 1 Jan '21 - 31 Dec '21 figure
• 2020/21 Q4 will report the 1 Apr '21  - 31 Mar '22 figure

BPB528
Increase the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% 
most deprived areas

Quarterly
(Snaphot)

This measures the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10% most deprived areas as a 
percentage of all offers made

PI ref Measure
Frequency/period 

reported
Method of calculation

BPB501b Forecast level of Bristol City Council general financial reserves
Quarterly
(Snaphot)

The level of general reserves (which is the £20m) as a percentage of the net General Fund Budget – and shouldn’t 
fall under 5%.
(a/b)*100, where:
a= General reserve
b= Net revenue budget

BPB502 Increase the percentage of invoices paid on time (BCC)
Quarterly

(Cumulative)

This measures the percentage of undisputed invoices for commercial goods and services paid to external 
contractors and suppliers during the year by the authority within mutually agreed terms or 30 days if such terms 
do not exist, as a percentage of all such invoices paid by the authority in the year. Authorities may exclude 
invoices sent to schools and paid from delegated school budgets if they wish. Time starts from the date the 
authority (not the payment section) receives the invoice.

BPB503 Council Tax collected as a percentage of budgeted collectible debit
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the percentage of the estimated net collectable debit for council taxes net of benefit.
Against the total receipts council taxes; net of refunds granted in respect of the present year only.

BPB504 Non-domestic rates collected as a percentage of budgeted collectible debit
Quarterly

(Cumulative)
This measures the percentage of the estimated net collectable debit in respect of non-domestic.
Against the total receipts of non-domestic rates, net of refunds granted in respect of the present year only.

BPB505
Increase the percentage of procurement spend with 'Small and Medium sized 
Enterprises' (SME's)

Annual 
This PI measures the percentage of Bristol City Council's overall procurement expenditure committed to SME's.  
The aim is to support BCCs policy to ensure that SMEs have the opportunity to bid for and win council contracts.  
The calculation is:  (SME procurement spend / Total procurement spend)*100.

4: Be responsible financial managers and explore new commercial ideas.

3: Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, healthy and motivated workforce.

2: Equip our colleagues to be as productive and efficient as possible.

Page 29



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
  Overview & Scrutiny 

Management Board 
 

29th March 2022 

Report of: Michael Pilcher, Chief Accountant  
 
Title: Corporate Risk Management Report – Q3 2021/22 
 
Ward: All 
 
Officer Presenting Report: Risk and Insurance Senior Officers 
 
 
 

Recommendations: 
 
For Members to note the contents of the Q3 2021-2022 Corporate Risk Report 
 
 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 8



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
1. Summary 

The report provides an update current significant strategic risks to achieving the Council’s objectives as set in 
the Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 and summarises progress in managing the risks and actions being taken as at 
Quarter 3 2021-22. 

 
2. Context 
 

1. The Corporate Risk Report (CRR) is a key document in the council’s approach to the management of 
risk; it captures strategic risks set out in the Corporate Strategy 2018-2023. It also provides a context 
through which Directorates construct their own high-level risk assessments and is used to inform 
decision making about business planning, budget setting, transformation and service delivery. 

2. The CRR provides assurance to management and Members that Bristol City Council’s significant risks 
have been identified and arrangements are in place to manage those risks within the tolerance levels 
agreed. It should be noted that ‘risk’ by definition includes both threats and opportunities, which is 
reflected in the CRR. 

3. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the council to have in place effective arrangements 
for the management of risk. These arrangements are reviewed each year and reported as part of the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). Ensuring that the Service Risk Registers (SRR), Directorate Risk 
Reports (DRR) and the Corporate Risk Reports (CRR) are soundly based will help the council to ensure 
it is anticipating and managing key risks to optimise the achievement of the council’s objectives and 
prioritise actions for managing those risks.  

4. Ensuring that the Service Risk Registers (SRR), Directorate Risk Reports (DRR) and the Corporate Risk 
Reports (CRR) are soundly based will help the council to ensure it is anticipating and managing key 
risks to optimise the achievement of the council’s objectives and prioritise actions for managing those 
risks.  

5. The registers and reports are a management tool. They need regular review to ensure that the 
occurrence of obstacles or events that may put individual’s safety at harm, impact upon service 
delivery and the council’s reputation are minimised, opportunities are maximised and when risks 
happen, they are managed and communicated to minimise the impact.  

6. The CRR summary of risks is attached to this report at Appendix A is the latest position following a 
review by managers and Directors.  

Corporate Risk Report - Summary of Corporate Risks:   

7. OSMB are asked to note the CRR as a working summary report of the critical and significant risks from 
the Service Risk Registers as at December 2021 

8. The CRR sets out the critical, significant and high rated risks both threats and opportunities.  All other 
business risks reside on the Service Risk Registers and reported through the DRRs. 

9. Members of the EDM’s reviewed the DRRs in December 2021 to form the CRR. OSMB are asked to 
accept the attached CRR as a working summary report of the critical and significant risks from the 
Service Risk Registers.  

Page 31



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 

10. The CRR sets out the significant critical and high rated risks both threats and opportunities.  All other 
business risks reside on the Service Risk Registers and reported through the Directorate Risk Reports 
and the Corporate Risk Report. 

11. The Q3 21-22 Corporate Risk Report (CRR) as at 23rd December 2021 contained:   

Threat Risks  Opportunity Risks  External / Contingency 
Risks  

 2 critical   

 18 high   

 4 medium  

 1 new  

 1 improving   

 1 deteriorating  

 0 de-escalating 

 0  closed   

 0 significant   

 2 high   

 0 medium  

 0 new  

 0 improving   

 0 deteriorating 

 0 de-escalating 

 0 closed    

 0 critical   

 2 high   

 0 medium  

 1 new  

 0 improving   

 0 deteriorating  

 0 de-escalating 

 1 closed    

    

12. A summary of risks (Threat and Opportunities) for this reporting period are set out below.   

13. There are two critical threat risks:  

 CRR32 - Failure to deliver enough affordable Homes to meet the City’s needs. The risk rating 
being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This is managed on the Growth and Regeneration Service 
Risk Register. 

 CRR35 - Organisational Resilience. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This is 
managed on the Resources Service Risk Register. 

14. There is one new threat risks: 

 CRR45 - Failure to deliver statutory duty in respect of the safeguarding of Children. The risk 
rating being 3x3(9) medium threat risk. This is managed on the People Service Risk Registers. 
This is a newly identified risk for this quarter. 

15. There is one improving threat risks:  

 CRR9 - Safeguarding Vulnerable Children. The risk rating being 3x7 (21) high threat risk 
improving from a 4x7 (28) critical threat risk level. This risk is managed on the People Service 
Risk Registers.  

16. There are three deteriorating threat risks: 

 CRR35 Organisational Resilience. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk deteriorating 
from a 3x7 (21) high risk rating. This is managed on the Resources Service Risk Register.  

Page 32



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 

17. There is one new external threat risk: 

 BCCC4 Covid-19 Population Health. The risk rating being 3x5 (15) high threat risk. This risk was 
managed on the Growth and Regeneration Service Risk Register. 

18. There is one closing external Threat Risk: 

 BCCC3 Covid-19. The risk rating being 4x7 (28) critical threat risk. This has been closed and 
replaced with BCCC4 Covid-19 Population Health and the impact of Covid on the council 
captured in CRR35 Organisational Resilience’s causes and what we are doing sections with 
detail on the approach in respect of new Covid-19 variants. 

19. The closed risks are now reflected within individual risks across the Council’s Service Risk Registers. 

20. All risks on the CRR have management actions in place.   

21. It is not possible to eliminate the potential of failure entirely without significant financial and social 
costs. The challenge is to make every reasonable effort to mitigate and manage risks effectively, and 
where failure occurs, to learn and improve. 

 

 
 
3.  Public Sector Equality Duties 
 
3a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 

considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

the Equality Act 2010. 
 
ii)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to -- 
 
- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic; 
 
- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities); 

 
- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 

any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 
 

Page 33



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to – 
- tackle prejudice; and 
- promote understanding. 

 
Appendices: 
Q3 Corporate Risk Report Appendix 2021-2022 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: 
None   

Page 34



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

1 

Corporate risk performance summary for threat risks 

Risk Code and Title 
Page 

Number 
Q1 Rating Q1 Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

CRR32 - Failure to deliver enough affordable Homes to meet the City’s 
needs. 

5 28 
 

  

28 
 

  

28 
 

  

CRR35 - Organisational Resilience 10 21 
 

  

21 
 

  

28 
 
 

 

CRR9 - Safeguarding Vulnerable Children 7 28 
 
 

 

28 
 

  

21 
 

 

 

CRR13 - Financial Framework and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 8 21 
 

  

21 
 

  

21 
 

  

CRR10 - Safeguarding Adults at Risk with Care and support needs 12 21 
 

  

21 
 

  

21 
 

  

CRR39 - Adult and Social Care major provider/supplier failure 14 14 
 

  

21 

 

21 
 

  

CRR7 - Cyber Security 16 20 
 

  

20 
 

  

20 
 

  

CRR25 - Suitability of Line of Business (LOB) systems. 17 20 
 

  

20 
 

  

20 
 

  

P
age 35



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

2 

Risk Code and Title 
Page 

Number 
Q1 Rating Q1 Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

CRR37 - Homelessness 18 20 
 

  

20 
 

  

20 
 

  

CRR41 - Long Term Major Capital Projects 15 28 
 

  

20 
 
 
 

 

20 
 

   

CRR6 - Fraud and Corruption 19 15 
 

  

15 
 

  

15 
 

  

CRR12 - Failure to deliver suitable emergency planning measures and 
respond to and manage emergency events when they occur 

21 15 
 

  

15 
 

  

15 
 

  

CRR5 - Business Continuity and Council Resilience. 22 15 
 

  

15 
 

   

15 
 

   

CRR40 - Unplanned Investment in Subsidiary Companies 24 15 
 
 

 

15 
 

  

15 
 

  

CRR29 - Information Security Management System (ISMS) 28 20 
 

  

15 
 
 

 

15 
 

  

CRR4 - Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing 29 20 
 

  

15 
 
 

 

15 
 

  

CRR18 - Failure to deliver enough homes to meet the City’s needs. 31 15 
 

  

15 
 

  

15 
 

  

P
age 36



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

3 

Risk Code and Title 
Page 

Number 
Q1 Rating Q1 Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

CRR27 - Capital Transport Programme Delivery 32 9 
 

  

15 
 
 

 

15 
 

  

CRR23 - Adult and Social Care (ASC) Transformation Programme 2020/21-
2021/22 

36 20 
 
 

 

15 
 

 

15 
 

  

CRR15 - In-Year Financial Deficit 26 15 
 
 

 

15 
 

  

15 

 

  

CRR36 - SEND 34 10 
 

  

10 
 

  

10 
 

  

CRR26 - ICT Resilience. 35 14 
 

  

10 
 
 

 

10 
 

  

CRR45 - Failure to deliver statutory duty in respect of the safeguarding of 
Children 

38     9 
 

NEW  
 

CRR34 - Corporate Equalities 39 5 
 

  

5 
 

  

5 
 

  

 
Corporate risk performance summary for external and civil contingency risks 

Risk Code and Title 
Page Number 

Q1 Rating Q1 Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix 
Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

BCCC4 – COVID-19 Population Health 41    
 

 15 
 

NEW 
 

P
age 37



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

4 

Risk Code and Title 
Page Number 

Q1 Rating Q1 Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix 
Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

BCCC1 – Flooding 42 15 
 

  

15 
 

  

15 
 

  

 
Corporate risk performance summary for opportunity risk 

Risk Code and Title Page Number Q1 Rating Q1 Risk Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

OPP1 – One City Approach 45 21 
 

  

21 
 

  

21 
 

  

OPP2 – Corporate Strategy 44 14 
 
 

 

14 
 

  

14 
 

  

 
Corporate risk performance summary for closing/de-escalating risks 

Risk Code and Title Page Number Q1 Rating Q1 Risk Matrix Q2 Rating Q2 Matrix Q3 Rating Q3 Matrix 

BCCC3 - COVID-19  N/A 28 
 

  

28 
 

  

Replaced Replaced 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

5 

Corporate Threat Risks 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating 
Likelih

ood 
Impact 

Risk 
Rating 

CRR32 - Failure to deliver enough affordable homes to meet the City’s needs. 

 4 7 28 3 5 15 

Failure of the City to deliver to the Mayoral Target of 1000 affordable homes per year by 2024. 
Strategies and delivery models designed to further stimulate growth in the housing market and deliver diversity of 
the housing in the City prove to be ineffective. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Subsidy availability  
• Insufficient land available  
• Uncertainty in the housing market as a result of Covid-19  
• Not enough planning applications submitted  
• Not enough planning permissions granted  
• Inability of the housebuilding industry to deliver at this level  
• Increased uncertainty in the market due to Brexit  
• Lack of capacity within the council’s delivery system and the local market  
• Insufficient housing land identified in strategic planning documents   

What we have done What we are doing 

Continue to deliver a targeted grant funding programme to subsidies the delivery of affordable homes. A 
review to strengthen the grants policy, focus BCC grant to top HE funding (funders of last resort - making 
our funding go further) and maximise delivery is just starting. 
 
Working collaboratively with Homes England to maximise subsidy in schemes to provide as much 
affordable housing as possible.  New framework for regular collaboration and review in place, focussing 
on both BCC direct delivery and RP delivery. 
 
Requiring a minimum of 30% affordable housing on land released by the Council. 
 
Created a single multi-disciplinary Housing Delivery Team and additional capacity with Property, Planning, 
Highways and Legal. 
 
Released land. 
 

Provide targeted Affordable Housing Grant Funding. 

Working Closely with Homes England to ensure additional subsidy is secured. 

Identifying opportunities to acquire additional affordable homes off the shelf. 

De-risk the outstanding allocated sites in the City to prepare a pipeline of 
investable development opportunities for future delivery. 

Ensure affordable Housing is negotiated to policy requirement on all eligible 
housing sites.  Issuing up to date planning guidance on affordable housing to 
reflect national policy changes. 

New internal frameworks established for working collaboratively to resolve issues 
that exist on Residential planning applications and conditions discharge. 

Review & amendment of Affordable Housing Practice note in 2021/22. 

Preparing to dispose of a second tranche of sites for community-led housing, 

P
age 39



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

6 

Issued grants to Registered Providers (RPs). 
 
Established a Local Housing Company (Goram Homes). 
 
Secured funding from Homes England under HIF and Accelerated Construction and Community 
Development in order to release further housing land. 
 
Successful bid for OPE BFLR funding to support Community Led housing delivery by unlocking a site at 
Barton Hill. 
 
Improved our monitoring of affordable housing delivery and pipeline including identification of where 
HDT can unblock barriers to delivery 

including proposals to fund the support services of the WoE Community Housing 
hub who work with CLH groups in the City and bidding for LGA HAP funding to 
better support the disposals programme. 

Bidding for second round funding through OPE BFLR fund to unlock a second CLH 
site. 

Supporting other service areas of the Council to deliver specialist affordable 
housing solutions. 

Working with Planning Policy colleagues on the development of emerging local 
plan polices for affordable housing  

Developing the Housing Delivery Plan 2021-24 to identify the upscaling of delivery 
to meet the Mayoral target of delivering 1000 AH homes in 2023/23. 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director 
Development. 

Action Owners: Director Development of Place and Head of 
Housing Delivery. 

Portfolio Flag: Housing Strategic 
Theme: 

 Fair and Inclusive 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

7 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR9 - Safeguarding Vulnerable Children  

3 7 21 1 7 7 

The council fails to prevent increased risk of harm to children, resulting in harm or death to a vulnerable child. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Demand for services exceeds service capacity and capability.  
• Inadequate controls result in harm. 
• Increase in child protection, complex safeguarding risks, criminal exploitation, serious youth violence and 

gang affiliation. 
• Hidden harm resulting from periods of lockdown, increased stress in families and service disruption 

during COVID  
• Placement failure due to COVID infection across children’s home or fostering households. 
• An increase in demand of 6% evident across care population - specific pressures are clear for teenagers 

and unaccompanied children requiring our care 

What we have done What we are doing 

Quality Assurance and performance framework in place and reported on at regular intervals through to cabinet 
members and Scrutiny. 

DCS quarterly assurance report to Corporate Leadership Board and action taken to address areas for improvement. 

The Keeping Bristol Safe Board provides independent scrutiny of children’s safeguarding and safer communities' 
arrangements in the city and holds BCC and partner agencies to account.  

Services and structure aimed at ensuring delivery of a safe system of work for safeguarding children and 
communities. 

Recent inspection activity (Inspection of Local Authority Children's Services) and peer review indicates that 
progress has been made across services in ensuring children/adults are safeguarded. (Sep 2018 and Dec 2021) 

Reviewing areas of specific vulnerability and implementing improvements: 
 

• reviewing resource and performance for missing children 
• reviewing quality assurance practice to ensure consistent quality of audits and 

sufficient number 
• working with a strategic partner to review and redesign extrafamilial harm 

pathway and services 
• reviewing child sexual abuse pathway with partners 
• revising (as part of KBSP) Threshold document 
• implementing 'Safe and Together' approach to Domestic Abuse in families 

Risk Owners: Executive Director 
People, Director Children’s and 
Families Services. 

Action Owners: Director Children’s and Families Services. Portfolio Flag: Children and Young 
People 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Wellbeing. 

P
age 41



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

8 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR13 - Financial Framework and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

 
3 7 21 2 3 6 

Failure to be able to reasonably estimate and agree the financial ‘envelope' available, both annually and in the 
medium-term and the council is unable to set a balanced budget. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Failure to achieve Business Rates income- appeals/general economic growth/loss of major sites (in budget setting). • 
Economic uncertainty impact on locally generated revenues - business rates and housing growth, impacting on council 
tax, new homes bonus and business rate income. • Brexit - the general uncertainty affecting the financial markets, 
levels of trade & investment. • Governments spending review 2020. • Review of local Government funding through fair 
funding formula and business rates retention. • Impact of Covid-19 on key income sources. • Inadequate budgeting & 
budgetary control/Financial Settlements & wider fiscal policy changes:-  
• The potential for new funding formulas such as fair funding, business rates retention to significantly reduce the 
government funding available to the council alongside possible increase in demand for council services. • Embedding of 
the new national funding formula for schools and High Needs. • Political failure to facilitate the setting of a lawful 
budget. • Unable to agree a deliverable programme of propositions that enable the required savings to be achieved. • 
Insufficient reserves to mitigate risks and liabilities and provide resilience. • Rising inflation could lead to increased 
cost. • Judicial review.   

What we have done What we are doing 

BCC manages its financial risks through a range of controls including budget preparation, budget setting and a Budget 
Accountability Framework. Clear roles and responsibilities for managing, monitoring and forecasting income and 
expenditure against approved budgets are in place.  
2021 Budget presented and approved by Council February 2021.  
The council has developed a strong rolling Medium-term financial planning process to enable the strategic objectives 
and the statutory duties are met. We are working to ensure a rigorous structure exists to oversee the budgetary 
control process from budget setting through to monitoring, oversight and scrutiny including:  
·        The maintaining of the evolving financial model that reflects in a timely manner changes in national and local 
assumptions.  
·        The level of reserves and balances are regularly reviewed to ensure that account is taken of any 
financial/economic risk and the adequacy of general reserves is determined as part of this exercise.   
·        Financial Regulations and Financial Scheme of Delegation is in place.  
·        Regular in-year monitoring and reporting, review of future financial plans and assessment of financial risks and 
reserves are undertaken to ensure the financial plans are delivered.  
·        Changes to savings in year are monitored by delivery executive.  
·        Planned skills development remains a key priority which will include commercial and business acumen. This will be 
an ongoing and aligned with professional development.  

 The impact of Covid-19 has had a significant impact on the financial sustainability of the 
organisation in the short term and long term. There is a significant immediate reduction 
in some of the Council's key income streams and also significant costs associated with 
the response. The 2021/22 set an indicative balanced position for the medium term, 
however due to imminent changes in local government funding and also significant 
uncertainty about medium term impact on Covid-19 there remains significant risk to the 
on-going financial position.  
 
All underlying assumptions in the financial outlook will be reviewed as any economic 
downturn will significantly impact Council Tax growth and receipts as well as business 
rates retention.  
 
A review will be ongoing to identify a programme of propositions that exceed the 
forecasted budget gap to provide members with options and headroom for variations in 
financial estimates.  
 
CIPFA Financial Management Code for Local Authorities has been released for full 

P
age 42



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

9 

·        Ensuring that Bristol City Council is engaged with or receiving timely feedback from the range of Government 
working groups exploring future local funding.  
Refreshed of the MTFP and Capital Strategy and expanded our model to take in a longer-term view. 

implementation from April 2021.   

Risk Owners: Chief 
Executive and Director 
of Finance (S151 
Officer). 

Action Owners: Director of Finance (S151 Officer), Chief 
Accountant. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 43



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

10 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR35 - Organisational Resilience  

4 7 28 2 5 10 

Emerging risks, disruptions and disturbances can threaten the operations and 
reputation of the Council. Acute shocks and the impact of chronic stresses result in 
crises which are becoming an everyday occurrence. The landscape in which the council 
operates is rapidly and continually changing, often unpredictably. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Environmental hazards, Economic and social change, Geo-political change, Natural 
disasters, Climate change, Health/ disease risk (including emergence of new Covid-19 
variants), Terrorism, Cyber-crime 

What we have done What we are doing 

In the past quarter we have reviewed Recovery progress (including receiving an internal 
audit report on its governance) and also a wide evidence base as part of preparing for 
an update of the Council’s medium term Corporate Strategy and Medium-Term 
Financial Plan. We have added ‘Resilience’ as a key design principle for the council 
within the refreshed draft Corporate Strategy 2022-27, and planned sessions for 
engaging senior managers and staff in this. 

We have identified a need to review business continuity planning to gain assurance on 
its effectiveness, ensure lessons from Covid-19 response are built in, and that in key 
business areas these plans are actively rehearsed. This has been embedded within 
Service Planning for 2022/23. 

Plans to create a Strategic Crisis Management Plan are on hold whilst the Corporate 
Resilience Group is re-scoped and relaunched, enabling it to take on board Covid-19 
response learning as part of developing this Plan. 

We have continued to respond to emerging external threats and issues, including 
monitoring, horizon scanning and planning through several forums, including the Local 
Resilience Forum/ResCG multi-agency work, reconvening the council’s internal Business 
Continuity Group and holding a preparatory meeting of the internal Severe Weather 
Group ahead of winter 21/22. 
 

Work will continue to launch and embed a new Corporate Strategy which includes design principles for the organisation 
and what its priorities are for the coming 3-5 years, making it central to both resilience and recovery planning as they 
become part of 'business as usual' within the context of the so-called 'new normal'. 

We are reviewing energy prices and provision in light of national issues. 

Business continuity plans are being reviewed and more testing of these undertaken as part of a longer-term programme 
to provide assurance on continuity arrangements. Given the scale of services the Council provides, this will need to be 
undertaken in a prioritised and targeted way. 

We are continuing to prepare for emergency situations, including capturing learning from a counter-terror exercise in 
November 2021, and supporting an NHS mass casualty exercise and Bristol Airport exercise before Christmas 2021. 

Work is also being done to reinvigorate the Corporate Resilience Group and take on-board learning from the prolonged 
Covid-19 response in how we manage resilience and plan for the future. 

We are mapping and continually monitoring compound pressures affecting us and considering threats during winter 
21/22, including holding a discussion with city partner representatives to compare threats and issues facing us all. The 
ongoing Covid-19 crisis (including the emergence of the Omicron variant) alongside the seasonal flu and the mental and 
physical impacts of prolonged challenging circumstances continues to present health risks to citizens and staff. This 
alongside well publicised national issues affecting supply chains and fuel/energy prices, presents an ongoing critical level 
of risk to the organisation. 

P
age 44



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

11 

Risk Owners: Chief Executive Action Owners: Director Policy, Strategy & 
Partnerships 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance and 
Performance 

Strategic Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering and 
Caring, Fair and Inclusive, Well Connected, 
Wellbeing 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

P
age 45



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

12 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR10 - Safeguarding Adults at Risk with Care and support needs. 

 
3 7 21 1 7 7 

The council fails to ensure adequate safeguarding measures are in place, Adults at risk. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Adequacy of controls.  
• Management and operational practices.  
• Demand for services exceeds capacity and capability.  
• Poor information sharing.  
• Lack of capacity or resources to deliver safe practice.  
• Failure to commission safe care for adults at risk.  
• Failure to meet the requirements of the ‘Prevent Duty’ placed on Local Authorities.  
• Increased destitution in families, impacting on mental ill health, managing increased infection within the 
population. (COVID19)  
• Increased isolation. (COVID19)  
• Carer strain / resilience. (COVID19)  
• Absence of building based services whilst we have reduced community solutions. (COVID19)   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

Bristol has the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership (KBSP), which covers Adult Safeguarding, Children’s Safeguarding 
and Community Safety. The Board has senior executive representation and ensures a strong focus on matters of 
strategic concern. The Keeping Bristol Safe Board provides independent scrutiny of adult safeguarding in the city 
and holds BCC and partner agencies to account. The Keeping Adults Safe board reports into the KBSP and has 
oversight of adult safeguarding priorities.  KBSP business plan priorities are agreed and being actioned and 
regularly reviewed. 
 
The Adult Social Care Transformation programme has been established to implement policy objectives of delivering 
financial sustainability and ‘right positioning’ care delivery in the Bristol health, care, and wellbeing system. 
 
An active strategy is in place to attract, recruit and retain social workers through a variety of routes with particular 
emphasis on experienced social workers. Regular strategies and campaigns support the recruitment and retention 
of high calibre social workers and managers, with competent agency social workers and managers used on 
temporary basis to fill vacancies. 
 
All key staff working with people directly at risk are trained in the essentials of safeguarding and BCC has an 
ongoing awareness-raising ‘Prevent’ training programme. 

Social workers and other social care practitioners are working with multi-agency partners 
supporting adults and older people to live safely within their families and communities. 
 
Planning placed based approaches to include working with micro providers. 
 
The Adults Delivery Group is up and running and a new Transitions theme has also been 
instituted. Whilst the Covid-19 situation has changed the complexion of adult safeguarding, it 
is anticipated that the likelihood and impact of incidence will be similar This is being 
monitored through Power BI and reported to DMT by exception. 
 
Services operating within Covid guidance and are provision a near to normal to pre Covid.  
Business Continuity response enacted to manage increased demand, potential gaps in 
workforce or services. 
 
Development and delivery of an Adults Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub as a priority for the 
partnership 
. 

P
age 46



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

13 

 
Community Finance Support Scheme meets regularly to respond to provide financial protection to adults with Care 
and Support needs who are unable to protect themselves and have no one willing or unable to act on their behalf. 
 
Annual report shared with Elected Members to allow for scrutiny of progress of the KBSP. 
 
The quality assurance and performance visits to teams  
 
Corporate safeguarding policy in draft and going to Cabinet to be agreed and signed off. 
 
Regular attendance at Channel, MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) and Multi Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements are in place (MAPPA) with BCC contributors to support risk management. 
 
Safeguarding Discussion Forum set up to ensure complex or stuck cases are addressed in a timely manner. 
 
Improving Performance-Developed a new data collection with Power BI which is entering its testing phase. 
 
Focused work is being undertaken to address the backlog in safeguarding referrals due to reduced capacity and an 
action plan is in place. Agency staff agreed to increase capacity within the safeguarding adults team. Flow and 
capacity issues in the First teams have an action plan being constructed for sign off at Director level. 
 
 Commissioning capacity has increased this to lead on monitoring and assuring quality in the care sector with clear 
links to adult safeguarding. Provider failure process is enacted to support and manage whole service risks. 
 
Corporate safeguarding policy in draft and going to CLB to be agreed and signed off procedures being written to 
accompany this for publication on the Source. Strategic Safeguarding Leads Group Meeting set up. 
 
Improving Performance-Developed a new data collection with Power BI which tested and is live. 

Power BI data set being used to monitor performance, trends, timeliness alongside auditing. 
 
Review of Safeguarding Pathways and creation of Standard Operating Procedures and 
Performance Clinics. 
 
Highlight reporting of concerns and issues monthly. 
 

Risk Owners: Executive Director 
People, Director Adult Social Care. 

Action Owners: Director Adult Social Care. Portfolio Flag: Adult Social Care Strategic 
Theme: 

Strategy Theme: Our 
Organisation, Empowering 
others and Caring, Fair and 
Inclusive, Well connected, 
Wellbeing.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 47



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

14 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR39 - Adult and Social Care major provider/supplier failure 

 
3 7 21 2 7 14 

Failures or closures in the supply chain mean insufficient supply to source adequate appropriate support and meet 
Care Act needs. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Major national care home provider goes into liquidation or starts to sell care homes.  
• Major local provider/unable to meet demand due to recruitment / workforce/ or organisational issues.  
 
  

What we have done What we are doing 

As of 11/10/2021 ASC supply of key forms of care is in crisis due primarily to workforce shortages. Homecare, 
services to access the community and supported living are the key services at risk of not enough supply of care (in-
house or externally commissioned) to meet needs. Daily review of supply and sustainability issues and x3 week 
business continuity meetings across operations, commissioning and brokerage and wider system calls on hospital 
demand and OOH flow.  All document in an ASC business continuity risk log and plan and overall supply picture is 
documented in a weekly SITREP provided by commissioning. Strong contract and performance management 
including quarterly corporate reporting on quality. Cost pressures increasing and seeking investment from health to 
join up approaches and support supply and flow in all care pathways. Provider Financial sustainability process in 
place working alongside procurement colleagues. Work on managing market prices albeit this is challenging in 
current climate.    

1) sourced PH Covid money to support investment in supply of care for vulnerable people 2) 
funding VCSE organisations such as Age Uk Home Support service and other organisations to 
deliver care at home 3) continuing incentive schemes and block contracts to try to better 
ensure/ guarantee supply of care, mainly homecare and 4) provider crisis meetings to work 
through these wicked issues, mainly workforce related, and solutions as they see them.  
  
Timely distribution of Government funding (e.g., Infection Control Fund) and use of LA (Local 
Authorities) discretionary payments to support providers. Innovative use of Workforce 
Capacity fund to support bank staff project and wellbeing and resilience training for care 
workers, funding for Proud to Care projects.  
  
Continued and increased QA (Quality Assurance) team intervention and prevention work 
with providers. Fortnightly liaison meetings with CQC and CCG reps and closer working with 
neighbouring authorities.  Fortnightly meetings with Care Provider association and key city 
providers to assess and plan risks to the sector and wider monthly provider forum.  
  
Review of Provider Financial Sustainability process- updating of paperwork and process more 
transparent and collaborative with providers as new factors emerging (e.g. rising insurance 
costs, Brexit). Updating of continuity plan and Provider Failure policy to address impact of 
pandemic.  

Risk Owners: Executive Director People, 
Director Adult Social Care. 

Action Owners: Director Adult 
Social Care 

 Portfolio Flag: Adult Social Care. Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
others and Caring, Fair and 
Inclusive, Well connected, 
Wellbeing.  

P
age 48



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

15 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR41 - Long Term Major Capital Projects 

 
4 5 20 1 7 7 

BCC’S long-term major capital projects may require greater than anticipated investments. 

Key potential causes are: 

• The cost is higher than expected, The project is delivered later than planned, The operating and maintenance cost 
of the asset exceeds expectations, Strategic, geographic, social, financial and economic conditions changing over 
time, Oversight of Project Interdependencies not well managed, Insufficient in-house resources to progress major 
projects lead to missed opportunities to leverage third party investment, Failure to anticipate and secure 
investment and resources to deliver enabling works and infrastructure   

What we have done What we are doing 

Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) / Capital and Investment Board (CIB) meets on a monthly basis and has an 
oversight and stewardship role for the delivery of the Capital Programme and investments. 
The Growth and Regeneration (G&R) Board meets monthly and is a strategic forum for the review and monitoring 
of regeneration assets and growth programmes and projects – enabling effective decision-making and ensuring 
alignment with the wider objectives of the Council. 
 
The G&R Board has identified a number of Areas of Growth and Regeneration (AGR) across the City to enable place 
shaping and contribute to regeneration, affordable housing, community building and the financial sustainability of 
the Council and the AGR are regularly reviewed and re-prioritised by the G&R Board. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic continues to impact on the delivery of some major projects owing to restrictions placed on 
based working, supply chain partners furloughing staff, and building material suppliers only delivering to critical 
construction projects. 
 
Capital Strategic Partner, Arcadis, appointed in February 2021 and mobilisation phase concluded in May 2021.  A 
dedicated Programme Director from Arcadis attends the Growth and Regeneration Executive Director Meetings 
(EDM) and G&R Board; and the programme has started to deliver. 
 
The introduction of enhanced highlight and exception reporting at the G&R Board has had a positive impact on 
overall ‘grip’ of the portfolio.  Project officers now routinely come to G&R board to provide an overview of progress 
on an exception basis.  

We have done and we continue to review and prioritise / re-prioritise programmes and 
projects and other deliverables in the light of the on-going global Covid-19 pandemic, as well 
as assessing its impact on long-term commercial investments and major capital project 
delivery. 
 
The recent appointment of the Capital Strategic Partner is starting to have an impact on the 
performance culture across major capital programmes. There will be quarterly review 
meetings between BCC’s Senior Leadership and the Strategic Partner to review performance 
and progress with Capital Programme delivery. 
Workshops organised in July 2021 to review and refresh the Capital Programme. To be 
followed in August 2021 by a similar workshop to review Capital receipting/disposal. There 
will be a more comprehensive review/reset of the Capital Programme as part of the annual 
service planning process in the Autumn 2021. 
 
Work is on-going in conjunction with the Strategic Partner to enhance and improve 
Programme and Project reporting. This work feeds into the CIB process to create a stronger 
sense of joined up programme management across BCC. In addition, we are trialling a 
recommended approach to embedded assurance with some key Capital Projects. 
 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration. 

Action Owners: Executive Director Growth 
and Regeneration and Director Economy of 
Place. 

Portfolio Flag: Mayor and Finance, 
Governance and 
Performance. 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering and 
Caring, Fair and Inclusive, Well 
Connected, Wellbeing. 

P
age 49



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

16 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR7 - Cyber Security 

 
4 5 20 1 5 5 

The Council's risk level in regard to Cyber-security is higher than should be expected. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Lack of investment in appropriate technologies. 
• Reliance on in-house expertise, and self-assessments (PSN). 
• Lack of formal approach to risk management (ISO27001). 
• Historic lack of focus. 

What we have done What we are doing 

As well as technical controls, the Council continues to carry out regular Phishing attack exercises where we are 
sending emails to staff to see how users react to this type of Cyber Attack. Anyone clicking on links is directed 
towards targeted training. 
 
The Information Governance (IG) and ICT team will continue to work together to support the SIRO to develop 
appropriate targeted training for all Council staff relating to cyber security. 
 
The IG Team are continuing to work with ICT and Microsoft on the delivery of technical controls. 
 

Further technical controls are being implemented with support from ICT colleagues. 
 
External Audit has been undertaken to provide assurance and help with direction of travel 
for mitigating activities. These are being managed by InfoSec team and reported via the IG 
Board. 
 
Team continue to upskill via training and other means. 
 
Work with ICT colleagues continues and discussions around cementing roles and 
responsibilities is being undertaken 
 
Audit work by external partners has confirmed the direction of travel and mitigating actions 
required for this Risk. IG continue to work on implementing those actions, oversight being 
provided by the IG Board. 

Risk Owners: Chief Executive, Senior 
Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 

Action Owners: Head of Information Assurance, 
Information Governance. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance and 
Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

17 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR25 - Suitability of Line of Business (LOB) systems. 

 
4 5 20 2 5 10 

The Council has reliance on legacy software systems which cause a number of risks due to; 
1. Supportability from internal IT resource 2. The supportability of the hardware utilised 3. Lack of alignment to 
strategy and therefore a blocker to Digital Transformation 4. Within an appropriate support contract 5. Legacy data 
used for current work (GDPR) 6. Lack of Information (Cyber) Security controls 7. High cost where alternative core 
Council solutions exist 

Key potential causes are: 

• Sovereignty within service areas, and a lack of motivation to change.   
• Cost of transition.   
• Lack of knowledge of which systems are problematic and the impacts of these.  
• Lack of understanding of impact.     
• Lack of ownership from Information Asset Owners.     
• Lack of documentation pertaining to software systems and ownership of strategy.   
• Cost avoidance of replacing systems.  
• This is seen as an IT problem, not one for the software system owners.   

What we have done What we are doing 

Initiated audit of all council Line of Business (LoB) systems. Undertake comprehensive review of all software systems and identify potential risks (as 
per threat risk description).  Place all risks into an Operational Risk format.  Risks will be 
scored and any known mitigation noted.  This will be presented to CLB for further review 
and to agree action plan. 
 
IT Services continue to highlight risks and shortcomings with systems (in an informal 
manner) to Heads of Service and Senior Leadership whilst the on-going formal review 
continues. We continue to work with Information Assurance colleagues regarding those 
systems which may perpetuate a Cyber Security or Information Management risk. Ensure 
that Line of Business (LOB) systems that pose a Cyber Security, Procurement or 
Resilience/Recovery risk are identified and service areas understand the risks to their 
services. 
 
Where appropriate ensure that these risks are articulated to Risk, BCP and procurement 
colleagues, and to the SIRO, as appropriate.  

Risk Owners: Director, Digital Transformation, Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) for Cyber Security. Service Areas for BCP/DR. 

Action 
Owners: 

Director, Digital 
Transformation. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

P
age 51



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

18 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR37 - Homelessness 

 
4 5 20 3 5 15 

The risk that homelessness and the subsequent cost of providing emergency short term accommodation will 
continue to rise. 

Key potential causes are: 

• The ending of the eviction ban  
• Unemployment rising leading to an increase in evictions from private rented tenancies.  
• COVID 19 and lockdown leading to an increase in mental health issues, family relationship breakdown and 
domestic violence & abuse.   

What we have done What we are doing 

Continuing to progress the One City move on project, which is delivering additional move on accommodation for 
people that are homeless. This includes: 
Securing funding through the first two rounds of the rough sleeper accommodation programme and have 
submitted a bid for the third round 
Successfully moved on most households placed in Temporary Accommodation through our everyone in initiative. 
This has reduced the number of households from a peak of 1122 to 960. 
Initiated a project with the aim of reducing the net unit cost of Temporary Accommodation. Opportunities being 
explored and prioritised. 
Ongoing work with the wider homelessness sector, advice agencies and key partners identifying opportunities to 
work collaboratively around early intervention and the prevention of homelessness. 
Bristol has secured a £3.3 million grant from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s 
(MHCLG) three-year ‘Changing Futures’ scheme. Delivery starts now and runs until March 2024. 
We have been working closely with commissioners of domestic abuse services and providers to support move on 
from refuge accommodation. 

The number of households in Temporary Accommodation is 960 compared with 650 before 
COVID and is not reducing. 
Introduce longer term contracts for Temporary Accommodation that will reduce the net unit 
cost of TA to BCC. 
Ongoing work with the broader homelessness sector, advice agencies and key partners to 
develop proposals and opportunities to work collaboratively around early intervention and 
prevention of homelessness. 
We continue to progress the Move On Project. Bringing online additional supported move on 
accommodation funded from our successful bids. 
BCC is working with partners in developing and delivering its changing futures scheme. 
Prioritise the use of Discretionary Housing Payments for homelessness prevention/tenancy 
sustainment. 
We have been awarded £610k from DLUCH to support low income Private renting tenants 
who have been impacted by the pandemic and prevent homelessness. 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Housing. 

Action Owners: Director Housing. Portfolio Flag: Housing Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Fair and Inclusive, 
Well Connected, Wellbeing. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 52



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

19 

Threat Risk Title and Description 
Performanc

e 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR6 - Fraud and Corruption 

 
3 5 15 3 3 9 

Failure to prevent or detect acts of significant fraud or corruption against the council from either internal or external 
sources. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Heightened levels of fraud, including cyber fraud, as criminals attempt to exploit the COVID-19 pandemic.  
• Relaxation of controls in current emergency environment (Covid 19) as payments and support are being dispersed quickly 
in line with government requirement.  
• Failure of management to implement a sound system of internal control and/or to demonstrate commitment to it at all 
times.  
• Not keeping up to date with developments, in new areas of fraud.  
• Insufficient risk assessment of new emerging fraud issues.  
• Lack of clear management control of responsibility, authorities and / or delegation  
• Lack of resources to undertake the depth of work required to minimise the risks of fraud /avoidance. This potential cause 
is highlighted at this time given the potential impact of the current pandemic situation and with staff redeployed to 
support the emergency response.  
• Under investment in fraud prevention and detection technology and resource.  

What we have done What we are doing 

The Council's exposure to fraud remains so we continued to use analytic tools and additional resources to perform both 
prepayment and post payment assurance checks. 
 
We continued to work across the region in undertaking prepayment checks on government grants to minimise fraud losses 
in the region.  
 
An audit on Cyber Security was completed and the actions arising from this review enhance our fraud and cyber controls.   
 
We continued to participate in anti-fraud exercises including the National Fraud Initiative. 
 
We have procured as a short term measure the Cabinet Office Fraud Hub to enable more frequent and regular matching of 
the data. 
 
Work is ongoing through a project board chaired by the Council's Section 151 Officer to implement a longer-term solution 
for a fraud hub.  
 
We have implemented recommendations arising from the independent review of the Council's Whistleblowing 

We are continuing to undertake post-payment checking against Covid grants to 
identify and investigate potential fraudulent claims.  
 
Output from the National Fraud Initiative data matching exercise is being reviewed 
including new reports relating to Covid grants.  
 
Work continues to improve the Whistleblowing process and awareness of it.  
 
We are implementing the Cabinet Office Fraud Hub as a short-term solution to 
enable more frequent and regular matching of the data.  
 
Work continues through the Bristol Fraud Hub Project to develop an Outline Business 
Case for consideration by CLB by end of Quarter 2.  
 
We are reviewing the costing model for fraud related activities across the Council.   

P
age 53



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

20 

arrangements.      
 
We participated in the International Fraud Week in November where we completed a series of activities to raise the risk of 
fraud including a blog by the Chief Internal Auditor.   

Risk Owners: Chief Executive and Director of Finance (S151 
Officer). 

Action 
Owners: 

Director of Finance, Chief Internal Auditor.  Portfolio 
Flag: 

Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 54



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

21 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR12 - Failure to deliver suitable emergency planning measures and respond to and manage emergency events 
when they occur 

 
3 5 15 1 5 5 

If the City has a Major Incident, Contractor Failure or the council inadequately responds, then the impact of the 
event may be increased with a greater impact on people and businesses. 

Key potential causes are: 

•    Emergency risks not identified and prepared for.  
•    Lack of trained and available responding staff.  
•    Emergency roles and responsibilities not embedded.   

What we have done What we are doing 

CPU have supported the Covid response and responded effectively to concurrent incidents including fatal industrial 
accidents, residential fires, water and utility outages and protests. 

BCC has a leading role within the Local Resilience Forum. 

Severe weather incidents are monitored via the SWIMS system. 

Emergency planning training with multi-agency exercising in place. Duty director rota in place. 

24/7 Operations Centre provides effective monitoring for the city and a coordinator role in response and recovery. 

Recruitment of a fixed term Civil Protection Officer to support Covid response. 

Covid emergency has stretched BCC's emergency response capacity and created additional strains and pressures.  
Managed through BAU and business continuity planning and escalation. 

BCC took receipt of the South West's share of the National Emergency Mortuary Equipment in July 2018 and 
arrangements for establishing Flax Bourton Public Mortuary as a dedicated disaster mortuary are in place. 

Review of COMAH (Control of Major Accident Hazards) Plan complete 

Restarted the Corporate Resilience Group, directorate leads in place. 

Continuing to work closely with the LRF. 

Held our winter preparation weather meeting 

Horizon scanning internally and LRF on the overlapping risk this winter and the mitigations 
needed. 

Corporate exercise being planned for Autumn 2021. 

Introduction to Emergency Planning e-learning package will soon be available for all staff. 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and Regeneration, 
Director Management of Place. 

Action 
Owners: 

Director Management of Place, and 
Civil Protection Manager.  

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 

  

 
 
 

P
age 55



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

22 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR5 - Business Continuity and Council Resilience. 

 
3 5 15 1 5 5 

If the council has a Business Continuity disruption and is unable to ensure the resilience of key BCC operations and 
business activities, then the impact of the event maybe increased with a greater impact on people and council 
Services. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Strikes (People, Fuel).  
• Loss of key staff (communicable diseases (Covid - illness and self-isolation) and influenza.  
• Loss of suppliers / supply chain disruption.  
• Loss of accommodation to deliver key services.  
• Loss of equipment / infrastructure, including utilities.  
• Any event which may cause major disruption - e.g. severe weather  
• Unavailability of IT and/or Telecoms.  
• Knowledge loss.  
• Reduced chances of preventing/ responding to incidents due to a lack of forward planning or investment.   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

A number of Policies, procedures and arrangements are in place including duty rotas for key service areas and the 
Duty Director rota. 

The Covid Continuity Group has now been stood down.  However, it has been established as a successful model for 
managing business continuity challenges and is being written into plans to be reconvened when necessary in 
future. 

The review of Service Level Business Continuity Plans planned for January 2021 was delayed by the Covid second 
wave. Although some of this work will be addressed in the project outlined above, a wider review needs to be re-
scheduled.  

Business Continuity Awareness Week took place between 17th and 21st May and we are working with Internal 
Communications to ensure messages to managers encourage review of continuity arrangements. 

CPU continue to lead exercises to support service response and continuity (e.g. election resilience). 

We continue to work closely with partners through the LRF to understand Covid, EU Exit Risks and other risks and 
the impact they may have on continuity 

Due to risk due to cyber security and the ability of critical services to manage continuity in 
the event of a loss of IT services, a project is being developed across CPU, IT and Information 
Assurance to: review and finalise the list of critical services and the IT they depend on; 
increase services understanding of the resilience they can expect from IT; ensure that BC 
plans align with disaster recovery schedules; improve the quality of the BC arrangements 
services have in place to manage IT outages; place the review and maintenance of service BC 
plans on a ‘corporate governance programme’. 
 
BIA and BCPs are required to be submitted as part of the service planning process. 

P
age 56



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

23 

Risk Owner: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration Chief 
Executive, Director Management 
of Place. 

Action Owner: Director Management of Place and Civil 
Protection Manager. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

24 

Threat Risk Title and Description  Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR40 - Unplanned Investment in Subsidiary Companies 

 
3 5 15 1 7 7 

BCC’S investments in subsidiaries may require greater than anticipated capital investment. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Failure to have effective corporate governance arrangements in place in one or more of the companies.  
• Failure to ensure the right leadership with the right skills across the Companies.  
• Business Failure due to severe economic downturn caused by external factors (incl. Pandemic & Brexit).  
• Service delivery failure as a result of specific market changes (e.g., recyclate market, housing market, volatility in 
gas and electricity market prices, delays in timing of income from customer heat network connections), failure to 
secure planning etc.  
• Delivery of BE2020 wind up within financial envelope.  
• Legislation changes.  

What we have done What we are doing 

A Governance Review has been commissioned to consider the governance arrangements in respect of the 
companies and any potential amendments that may be required to the associated governance documents. 

The Terms of Reference for the Shareholding Group (SHG) have been updated. 

Audit & Risks Committee (ARC) established across the companies to review internal controls, governance and risks 
management and have along with the SHG overseen the establishment of a risk management framework.  

Annual business plans have been submitted for BHL, BWC and Goram Homes outlining their financial position, 
outlook and 21/22 investment requirements. 21/22 plans have been approved by Cabinet and delivery against plan 
reviewed by BHL and SHG. 

Shareholder support has been secured for key appointments and reserved matters published. 

Pandemic financial pressures are managed over the medium term for eligible response expenditure. 

Effective engagement is occurring with BHL re reserved matter decisions and wider engagement with BCC Client 
teams to review performance of the companies and set clear KPIs. 

Working capital facilitates (repayable loans) are in place as agreed within the relevant business plans and provision 
available to support the assumptions for winding up of BE2020. Cashflow are monitored in line with the agreement 
for requesting draw downs. 

Specialist advisors are working alongside BE2020 and BHL to finalising the windup of the company.  

Business plan for Bristol Heat Network BHN is in the process of being finalised for Cabinet 
approval - Q4 21/22. 

Business plans for other BHL subsidiaries are also in the process of being reviewed and 
presented to Cabinet for approval - Q4 21/22. 

BCC / BHL continue to monitor risks and improve the alignment of risk management 
arrangements  - ongoing at this time. 

BCC's latest Capital Strategy for 2022/23-2031/32 regarding loans to subsidiary organisations 
now limits BCC's maximum exposure to the lower of 10% of the Council’s general fund 
capital financing requirement or to £70m - November 2021 

 

P
age 58



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

25 

The governance review in respect of the Council’s companies has now been completed and an implementation 
plan agreed. 

The early engagement with the Council’s Holding Company and subsidiaries will continue as part of the 2022/23 
business planning process. 

SHG will regularly review delivery of agreed actions from the governance review. 

ARC will report annually to BCC Audit Committee on the effectiveness of internal controls, governance and risks – 
in line with BCC Audit Committee workplan. 

Board Effectiveness reviews to be part of BHL annual workforce planning – ongoing. 

Continued monitoring of the impact of Covid / Brexit on the business and adaptive approach being proposed for 
optimising emerging opportunities and mitigating pressures – ongoing. 

Effective engagement with BHL re reserved matter decisions and wider engagement with BCC Client teams to 
review performance, quality and set clear KPIs – ongoing. 

Weekly progress review provided and regular review of assumptions, cash flow and risks – ongoing. 

Risk Owners: Chief Executive and S151 Officer. Action Owners: Director Finance, Director Legal and 
Democratic Services. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Fair and Inclusive, 
Well Connected, Wellbeing.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

26 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR15 - In-Year Financial Deficit 

 
3 5 15 1 5 5 

The council’s financial position goes into significant deficit in the current year resulting in reserves (actual or 
projected) being less than the minimum specified by the council’s reserves policy. 

Key potential causes are: • A failure to appropriately plan and deliver savings. • Unscheduled loss of material 
income streams. • Increase in demography, demand and costs for key council services. • The inability to generate 
the minimum anticipated level of capital receipts. • Insufficient reserves to facilitate short term mitigations, risks 
and liabilities. • Interest rate volatility impacting on the council’s debt costs. • Impairments in our commercial 
Investments are realised. • Response to inadequate SEND inspection in 2019, Increased demand for EHCPs, Lack 
of specialist provision in Bristol, increased compliance to statutory requirements in relation to SEND. 

  

What we have done What we are doing 

BCC’s Financial framework ensures that we have in place sound arrangements for financial planning, management, 
monitoring and reporting through to Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet.  

The ongoing review and due diligence of all budget savings by Delivery Executive, Corporate Leadership Board and 
the Executive continues to be captured and monitored in the reports to Cabinet.  

The Policy and Budget Framework provides clear guidance in relation to the approval process for supplementary 
funding both capital and revenue.  

We have continual oversight and ongoing management of the council’s financial risks and deep dives in areas 
reported of non-containable pressures.  

Regular reviews have been undertaken on the level and appropriateness of the earmarked reserves and where 
redirections have been south reported to Cabinet.   

Dedicated Schools Grant 
• A detailed Management Plan is in development, using the DfE's recommended framework - The deficit 
and development of the plan was discussed with the DfE in Spring 21.  The DfE were not requesting a formal 
submission at this time. 
• Re-alignment of Education Transformation programmes to align with DSG management plan 
• A High Needs Block Task and Finish Group has been established - chaired by a member of Schools Forum 
• An Early Years Block Task and Finish Group has been established - chaired by a member of Schools Forum 
• The Management plan was discussed and noted at Schools Forum meeting in June and November 2021 
• DSG financial deep dive took place in November 2021 
• Self-assessment undertaken against DfE Safety Valve measures 

The latest budget monitoring indicates significant risks to achieving a balanced position in 
2021/22. The impact of Covid-19 has been offset in part by additional Government funding 
and there are corporate mitigations for the residual pressures, however this must be closely 
managed to ensure spend remains within approved resources.  
 
Any risks not related to Covid will require individual mitigations and recovery plans which are 
to be developed in the coming months to reduce the likelihood of unplanned drawdown 
from reserves at year end.  
 
Ensuring engagement at local, regional and national level in round table and working groups 
to keep abreast the spending review, Business Rates retention and new funding formulas for 
Local Government. To ensure funding for Bristol is maximised and impact of changes are fed 
into our long-term financial planning and strategic planning.  
 
Ensure that there are sufficient reserves available to provide the Council with some 
resilience to material variations in spend forecasting and economic shocks.  
 
We will carry out frequent re-assessment of service delivery risks and opportunities and risk 
and other reserves.  
 
Dedicated Schools Grant 

P
age 60



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

27 

 Continued analysis of demand data and management levers  

 Ongoing delivery of Phase 2 programmes  

 Identification and testing of further mitigations  

 Proposal for Phase 3 of Education Transformation programme - focus 

on gaps in Safety Valve actions along with sector-based early 

intervention and support  

 Continued analysis of mitigations and impact of Education 

Transformation to forecast long term spend and delivering best value  

Risk Owners: Director of Finance (S151 Officer). Action Owners: Director of Finance (S151 Officer), Chief 
Accountant. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 61



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

28 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR29 - Information Security Management System (ISMS) 

 
3 5 15 1 5 5 

There is a risk that if the council does not have an Information Security Management System then it 
will not be able to effectively manage Information Security risks. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Ineffective Information Security Management System, inadequate resources to create and 
maintain an ISMS, management buy in and support to operate an ISMS.   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

Information Assurance are continuing to work with ICT and IGB on implementing an Information 
Security Management System. Plans for implementation, supported by internal audit will be built in 
to the 21/22 service plan. 
 
A number of policies have already been rolled out, new policies continue to be developed. 
 

New and updated policies are being rolled out with oversight from IGB Information Governance Tool will 
support the roll out and wider awareness and communications. 
 
Gap analysis and roll out have been included as a workstream within GDPR Phase 2 project. 
 
Online tool is being used to roll out policies, alongside further guidance and awareness campaigns, 
supported by the regular phishing campaigns. 
 
Audit work by external partners has confirmed the direction of travel and mitigating actions required for this 
Risk. IG continue to work on implementing those actions, oversight being provided by the IG Board. 

Risk Owners: Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO). 

Action Owners: Senior Information Risk Owner 
(SIRO) and Statutory Data 
Protection Officer (SDPO). 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 62



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

29 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR4 - Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing 

 
3 5 15 3 5 15 

If the City Council does not meet its wide range of Health & Safety requirements then there could be a risk to 
the safety of employees, visitors, contractors, citizens and BCC corporate body. 

Key potential causes are: 

• If services do not have sufficient staff numbers to carry out work plans in a safe way.  
• If services are not able to order appropriate equipment required for staff safety.  
• Lack of appropriate equipment.  
• Lack of appropriate training.  
• Lack of oversight and control by local management.  
• Lack of information on the potential or known risks.  
• Inadequate contract management arrangements.  
• Lack of effective processes and systems consistently being applied Policies are not kept up to date.   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

The Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing Team continue to provide general, targeted and specialist health, 
safety and wellbeing advice, guidance and provide assurance to the Council on compliance.  This team is the 
owners of all policy and procedure and continue to undertake a programme of review and revision. The 5-
year health, safety and wellbeing strategy sets the direction of travel and the yearly work plan. This has just 
been revised. The new Fire Safety Management system has been developed and piloted and is currently 
being published (October 2021) and rolled out across the Council. The CHaSMs monitoring system has been 
reviewed and is currently being updated to ensure it provides better assurance.  This is in response to the 
Audit report and audit action plan.  
 
The new integrated OH, EAP and Physiotherapy contract is working well and provides a good service across 
the Council.   
 
Continue to ensure that buildings remain COVID secure.  
 
New Accident Incident Reporting System will go live October 2021 
 
CDM, Legionella and Asbestos procedures have been revised and will go out for consultation in November 
2021. 
 

Responding to the Actions required from the Health and Safety Audit.  
 
Set an audit programme for key areas of risk taken from MI (CHaSMs OH referrals, EAP, ) this 
includes stress and musculoskeletal. The programme of monitoring is underway and includes these 
areas of work. The monitoring programme runs until March 2022.  We will provide feedback to 
each manager and any required action from the monitoring visits.  
 
Developing a new training and development programme for health, safety and wellbeing. This 
includes online face to face and blended.  This is still underway and is planned for April 2022. 
Continuing to deliver mandatory training including stress risk assessment, fire safety, lone working, 
legionella and asbestos awareness. Delivering face to face refresher for MHFA and Team Teach.  
 
The health and wellbeing plan continues to support the workforce organisational strategy and key 
actions including reasonable adjustments training which is currently being revised with a plan to 
roll out to all managers during 2021/2022. 
 
A document plan has been developed to review all health and safety procedures to ensure they 
are user friendly and meet legal requirements.  
 
Reviewing arrangements for CDM across the Council including developing a robust policy and 

P
age 63



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

30 

procedure. 
 
Reorganising the Corporate Health Safety and Wellbeing Team to be able to respond effectively to 
the key priorities.  
 
There is a delay in the roll out of the new accident incident system.  The development work is 
taking longer than anticipated. 

Risk Owners: Chief Executive and Corporate 
Leadership Board (CLB), Director 
of Workforce Change. 

Action Owners: Director of Workforce Change, 
Head of Health Safety and 
Wellbeing. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 64



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

31 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR18 - Failure to deliver enough homes to meet the City’s needs. 

 
3 5 15 1 3 3 

Failure of the City to deliver to the Mayoral Target of 2000 new homes per year by 2024. 
Strategies and delivery models designed to further stimulate growth in the housing market and deliver diversity of 
the housing offer across the city prove to be ineffective and do not attract and retain economically active residents. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Not enough planning applications submitted  
• Not enough planning permissions granted  
• Insufficient housing land identified in strategic planning documents  
• Inability of the housebuilding industry to deliver at this level  
• Increased uncertainty in the market due to Brexit and Covid-19.   

What we have done What we are doing 

1. Granted planning permissions. 
2. Secured additional grant funding for infrastructure. 
3. Released land. 
4. Issued grants to Registered Providers (RPs). 
5. Established a Local Housing Company (Goram Homes). 
6. Secured funding from Homes England under HIF and Accelerated Construction and Community Development in 
order to release further housing land. 
7. Manage a targeted grant funding programme to subsidise the delivery of affordable homes. 
8. Introduced the Affordable Housing Practice Note. 
9. Worked collaboratively with Homes England to maximise subsidy in schemes to provide as much affordable 
housing as possible. 
10. Required a minimum of 30% affordable housing on land released by the Council. 
11. Created a single multi-disciplinary Housing Delivery Team and additional capacity with Property, Planning, 
Highways and Legal. 

1. We are addressing all areas of provision including: Community Led Housing (CLH), 
Registered Providers (RPs) and Direct Delivery, (New Council Homes). 
2. We are have completed a Service Review of Housing Delivery Team and have recruited to 
new posts.  
3. Significant land release programme to Registered Partners (RPs). 
4. External funding bids have secured infrastructure funding to accelerate delivery. 
5. Monitoring the impact of a coronavirus and Brexit on the Housing Market  
6. Revised the Affordable Housing Grant Funding Policy to ensure it is relevant and assist the 
delivery of new affordable homes. 
7. Working Closely with Homes England to ensure additional subsidy is secured 
8.Pipeline of site approved for Goram Homes to deliver around 1700 new homes   
9. New working arrangements between Housing Delivery Team and Development 
Management focussing on unlocking barriers to determination and accelerating permissions. 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Development of Place. 

Action 
Owners: 

Director Development of Place. Portfolio Flag: Housing Strategic 
Theme: 

 Fair and Inclusive 
  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

32 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR27 - Capital Transport Programme Delivery 

 
3 5 15 2 3 6 

Management of the overall transport capital programme is key to ensuring we deliver against 
mayoral priorities in the most cost and time efficient way possible. Failure to do so negatively 
impacts the council's reputation and finances and makes the council less likely to reduce 
congestion, air pollution and inequality. 

Key potential causes are: 

•  Overspend on individual schemes leading to uncontainable cost pressures  
• Underspend on annual profile  
• Lack of coordination and programme management across divisions  
• COVID - 19  
• Loss of resource and inability to recruit   

What we have done What we are doing 

Transport Programme Team and Delivery Board established. 
Shared paperwork and highlight reporting process initiated. 
Regular briefings and reporting to senior management and cabinet members. 
5-year capital programme mapping process underway. 
Regular reviews with directors taking place, workshop carried out to examine governance and 
further improvements to processes. 

COVID-19 lockdown has restricted progress of all non-essential capital programme schemes. This is in part 
due to the non-essential nature of schemes but also down to the inability to carry out site surveys, engage 
and consult appropriately and to process TROs. We have restarted processing TROs following revised 
government guidance. We are also reviewing the whole programme in light of the challenges posed by 
COVID-19. 
Working with Transport Planning Team (TPT) and other managers to develop systems further engaging with 
Directors of Economy of Place and Management of Place, to develop proposals for overall improved 
management of capital programme and recruitment of appropriate resource levels. 
We continue to develop Transport Planning Team (TPT), Transport Programme Delivery Board (TPDB) and 
highlight report processes which are governed by the Growth and Regeneration (G&R) Board (monthly 
meeting). 
5 Year mapping ongoing. 
The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) announced by the Department for Transport (DfT) has meant 
reprioritising resource to deliver cycle schemes and social distancing across the city. This has and will 
inevitably lead to some profiling and adjustment of the programme. This is ongoing, it is likely that funds can 
be carried forward to next year and that some funds will be allocated to supporting EATF schemes. 
All schemes restarted and works progressing well. 6-month review has highlighted schemes that are behind 
programme and re-profiling taking place currently. 
We have recently commissioned a piece of work through the strategic partner Arcadis to assess capital 
programme delivery working with the PMO and linked to CA work. This work will assess issues and set a 
base line to enable potential solutions to be bought forward and implemented 

P
age 66



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

33 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Economy of Place. 

Action 
Owners: 

Director Economy of 
Place. 

Portfolio Flag: Transport Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Wellbeing. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 67



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

34 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR36 - SEND 

 
2 5 10 1 5 5 

Delivery of the recovery plan with agreed priorities and actions and clear milestones forming the Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA) following the SEND local area OFSTED inspection in October 2019. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Covid-19 delaying ability to complete actions and creating increased pressure across the locality partnership.   
• Increasing demands for services outweighing current capacity to clear the backlog on statutory assessments.  
• Judicial Review or similar legal actions causing attention to be diverted from BAU.  
• Unprecedented national and local demand for Statutory assessment.  
• Recruitment and retention including national shortage of Educational Psychologists.    

What we have done What we are doing 

Independently chaired SEND improvement Board meets bi-monthly to oversee improvement progress. Multi 
agency delivery group ‘SEND Partnership Group’ (SPG) includes social care, health, and schools meets monthly 
and reports to the improvement Board. 
Delivered the 1st phase of the SEND improvement journey through the Written Statement of Action to its 
formal conclusion in July 2021. 89% of July milestones were achieved or on track for the autumn. The 11% not 
achieved are all underway and have new timeframes agreed through the Local Area SEND governance 
arrangements. DFE monitoring of WsoA concluded and overall impressed with achievements and how well the 
council and its partners are working together to address all areas of weakness. 
Implemented quality assurance activity, including routine service user feedback and improved data capture and 
quality, enabling the development of robust data sets that have enhanced operational and strategic 
performance management and enabled better service planning to meet demand. 
Investment in key priority areas such as additional staff in statutory SEND and EP team. Re-structured and re-
focused the work of the statutory SEND team. All EHCP systems and processes reviewed and remodelled with 
parent carers, including co-production of a new EHCP template and child centred model of assessment. 
Focused on early identification and intervention to reduce demand for statutory EHC Plans e.g. training and 
guidance for schools staff and leaders relating to their responsibilities for meeting the needs of children and 
young people with SEND. 
Committed to further follow up monitoring visits, beyond the life of the WSoA, with DfE and NHS advisers. 

Developing the next iteration of the SEND action plan taking account of: 
- other programmes of work / strategic developments and initiatives 
- the progress made and what still needs to be done to address the five significant areas of 
weakness identified in the SEND inspection 
- other areas for improvement identified through ongoing analysis of data and service user 
feedback. 
Ongoing work with stakeholders and partners across the local area to continue to improve 
services and the service user experience.   
Ongoing governance and monitoring activity including Scrutiny. Inviting the DFE and NHSE 
advisers to continue to act as critical friends regarding progress made against the inspection 
findings and the new SEND action plan. 
Developing a service user engagement and co-production framework to align partnership 
activity, reach seldom heard voices and embed a sustainable BAU model of engagement and co-
production at a strategic level. 
Creating a separate accelerated action plan to address the significant increase in demand for 
statutory needs assessments and impact on 20 week timeliness. 
Preparing for the re-inspection which is likely to take place between Autumn – Spring 2021/22. 

Risk Owners: Director Adult and Social Care, 
Service Director Education and Skills 

Action 
Owners: 

Service Director Education and Skills Portfolio Flag: Education and Skills Strategic Theme: Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Fair and Inclusive, 
Well Connected, Wellbeing 

 

 

P
age 68



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

35 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR26 - ICT Resilience.  

2 5 10 2 5 10 

The Councils ability to deliver critical and key services in the event of ICT outages and be able to recover in the 
event of system and/or data loss. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Poor Business Continuity (BCP) planning and understanding of key system architecture.  
• Untested Disaster Recovery (DR) arrangements including data recovery.  
• Untested network reconfiguration to alleviate key location outage.  
• Untested recovery schedules in terms of order and instructions.  
• Lack of resilience available for legacy systems (single points of failure - people and technology).  
• Services undertaking their own IT arrangements outside of the corporate approach.   

What we have done What we are doing 

Some DR/BCP actions are covered by Future State Assessment (FSA)/ IT Transformation Programme (ITTP). 
 
We have moved critical systems to the cloud with more effective DR. 
 
Application audit have commenced with a view to highlighting those systems with the highest risk. 

We are continuing to review Disaster Recovery (DR) options for any systems which will not be 
moved to the cloud. 
 
Highlighting to service areas where applications may be vulnerable and advising on likely 
timescales for disruption to enable appropriate BC planning. 
 

Risk Owners: Chief Executive, Director, Digital 
Transformation, Service Area 
Leads. 

Action Owners: Director, Digital Transformation. Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 69



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

36 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 
Likelihood Impact 

Risk 
Rating 

CRR23 - Adult and Social Care (ASC) Transformation Programme 2020/21-2021/22 

 
3 5 15 1 5 5 

Failure to deliver the required outcomes and savings from the new 2020/21 ASC Transformation Programme. 

Key potential causes are: 

Wider factors impacting on demand 
• Rapid increased demand and complexity due to COVID-19.  
• Increase of needs due to more health services being delivered in the community without appropriate funding 
following the patient.  
• Increased complex needs across our demographics that must be met under the Care Act  
 
Wider factors impacting on supply. 
• Financial pressures on an already vulnerable provider market during sustained changes forced on provider 
during COVID-19.  
•  Time to commission and embed alternative Tier 3 services as another option to traditional care homes, such 
as Extra Care Housing, supported Living, shared lives  
• Time to commission and develop genuine step up/ step down alternatives to Tier 3 long term care (Home 
first, VCSE, reablement for all).  
• Ability to joint fund this supply using the BCF with NHS (National Health Service) partners working in an 
Integrated Care System model.  
• Ability to prioritise the programme under one city plans and to have the corporate support and investment 
needed alongside ASC staff to deliver on the proposed solutions   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

Established Transformation programme board chaired by Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care with the Chief 
Executive and Executive Director and DASS meet monthly to keep the focus and impetus on the aims and 
objectives of the programme. 
 
A set of ASC POWERBI accelerators have been developed delivering a detailed understanding of activity and 
cost across the services delivered to support DMT in building the right solutions and having the evidence of the 
impact their decisions are having on service numbers and cost. 
 
Improving Pricing Control - Procured Care Cubed and written to providers to notify them that we will be 
negotiating rates based on the national care funding calculator. New processes are just being established for 
how care cubed will be used operationally. 
 

Following a Deep Dive review with corporate services as the Transformation team, the 
programme was taken out of exception and Delivery Executive approved a revised savings 
proposal and new approach to the ASC transformation work, which aims to increase delivery 
confidence  
The revised programme is made up of three key workstreams: 
• In-house service review (Rehab Centres)  
• Developing the Strengths based model of care  
• Knowledge Function  
 
Other priorities will be service-led BAU workstreams which include 
• Commissioning & Market Management  
• Strengths based practice  

P
age 70



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

37 

Improving Business Intelligence - ASC are leading the corporate objective to move our performance 
management onto PowerBI. Working with the Intelligent-I team the transformation team are creating a 
number of sophisticated ASC dashboards which will open ASC data to staff. Giving staff the tools, they need for 
proactive performance management to become everybody's business. Work is planned to be ongoing with 
intelligent-I until August. 
 
Improving ASC process issues - To drive the right behaviour, we are working on a new Standard Operating 
Process (SOP) which can start to increase strengths based practice, greater use of community assets and avoid 
use of Tier 3 services. 
 
Making change everybody’s business - New ‘change Agent’ roles have been established across the business to 
champion change. 
 
Realignment of operations - Care management have now completed a consultation with staff about the 
realignment of teams into the wider system ‘Integrated Care Partnerships’ (ICP) model for community health 
and care delivery.  This will go live in November. This will help ASC align closer to community health partners 
such as Sirona and Primary care Networks but also start to develop a more robust locality model offering a 
greater range of Tier 1 and 2 services working closely with the VCS. 
 
Inhouse services reviewed - ASC commissioned Mutual Ventures to review our £15m of in-house service 
provision. Each service is unique and brings different benefits. This created ‘road maps’ for each service to be 
taken through the key decision pathway to get authority to proceed with the modernisation of these services.  
The first of which is a recommendation for the re-provision of Rehab centres going to cabinet in December. 
 
Dashboards created - The team have worked with commissioning and care management to pull out the top 
priorities for transformation work over the next 12 months. These will be shared with staff and be the golden 
thread for ASC that link the more detailed business cases to a clear set of actions. 
 
We took the programme into Exception in August due to non-delivery of agreed savings caused by additional 
COVID pressures, increased demand, business continuity and care supply and workforce challenges.  In October 
Delivery Exec agreed a re-modelled savings plan and re-prioritised set of programme workstreams/ priorities 
and associated capacity/ support required to deliver.    

• Knowledge Function  
 
In addition, we are developing future service priorities: 
• Care Providers Strategic Partnerships  
• Housing access to General Needs Housing (delivered through Better Lives at Home programme 
and in partnership with G&R Directorate)  
• Fair price of care  
• In-house Services phase 2  
 
In the interim a number of immediate actions have been taken to address the budget pressures 
on ASC: 
•         All new cases to be referred to Reablement before a longer-term package of care is 
agreed, increasing the amount of cost avoidance as a result of delaying or avoiding the need for 
more long-term care  
•         Brokerage to take up to 5 days to secure best value care packages (for non-urgent needs)  
•         Authorisation of high-cost packages:  
•   Additional scrutiny from Deputy Directors for Commissioning and Operations for all 
placements over £1000  
•   SM to sign off and quality control of cases to be booked into Case Discussion Forum (including 
ensuring that practitioners have explored all alternative care options before referral to CDF)  
•         Prioritise reviews of all relevant packages that have been set up during COVID, with 
additional COVID related spend  
•         Increase referrals to the TEC team (based on specific targeted cohorts e.g. night time care 
in Supported Living)  
•         Single point of coordination for all CHC joint funded and single funded packages  
•         Ensuring that brokerage and commissioning staff work closely with Care Management 
when agreeing care packages, which will be further embedded when locality model is introduced 
(from September)  

Risk Owners: Director Adult Social Care Action Owners: Director Adult Social Care Portfolio Flag: Adult Social Care Strategic 
Theme: 

Our Organisation, Empowering others and 
Caring, Fair and Inclusive, Well connected, 
Wellbeing. 

 
 
 

P
age 71



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

38 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR45 - Failure to deliver statutory duty in respect of the safeguarding of Children 
 
Failure to deliver statutory duty in respect of the safeguarding of children resulting in harm or death to a child or 
other unmitigated risk to the local authority. 

NEW 3 3 9 2 3 6 

 

Key potential causes are: 

 Staffing failure: recruitment and retention 

 COVID failure: business continuity plans fail due to higher infection/isolation 

 Management failure: failure to oversee and respond in a timely way to child protection concerns, leaving 
children at risk 

 

What we have done What we are doing 

 Recruitment and retention strategy implemented including SW apprentices 

 Systemic unit model and integrated locality arrangements ensures management oversight and swift 
decision making 

 Skilled and stable workforce with low use of agency workers 

 Strong multiagency children's safeguarding partnership under Keeping Bristol Safe arrangements 

 Revising the recruitment and retention strategy in response to evidence of 
turnover and vacancies in areas of particular pressure (front door, experienced 
social workers and frontline managers) 

 Benchmarking salaries with regional levels 

 Over-recruiting where required 

 Investing in training and development 

 Proposed business case to increase apprenticeships 

 Reviewing system pressures and taking action on a weekly basis 

Risk Owners: Executive Director 
People, Director Children’s and 
Families Services. 

Action Owners: Director Children’s and Families Services. Portfolio Flag: Children and Young 
People 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Wellbeing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 72



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

39 

Threat Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

CRR34 - Corporate Equalities 

 
1 5 5 1 5 5 

The Council does not meet its ambitions or legally required standards for good practice on equality and inclusion. The 
Council fails to meet its statutory duties under the Equality Act 2010. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Lack of consistent council-wide knowledge on the Public Sector Equality Duty and how to take equalities into 
consideration.  
• Gaps in available data and analysis to understand potential impacts of decision making.  
• Compliance driven rather than understanding based on good analysis.  
• High turnover of staff resulting in loss of knowledge/institutional memory.  
• Institutional racism and structural inequality in the council, city, and society as a whole.  
• Under-representation of key demographics in the workforce, particularly within senior roles.   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

The work of mainstreaming and embedding equality & inclusion is well underway. Good teamwork across Bristol City 
Council. The two teams with an equality & inclusion focus within Policy, Strategy and Partnerships and Human Resources 
have now been aligned and are working closely together. 

However, there is still more to do corporately to tackle institutional racism and improve equality and inclusion practice, 
an issue brought into even sharper focus by Covid-19, the global Black Lives Matter movement and the findings of DWC 
Consulting from their work supporting the council with various HR cases and Staff Led Group relations. The 
disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups has been recognised and is managed by a 
focused race equality group within the council’s governance structure for managing the impacts of the pandemic. 

We are: 

1. Implementing various new initiatives in Equality and Inclusion proposals approved by CLB in June 2020, 

including strengthening leadership, policy reviews, updates in HR practice and more. Progress is being 

tracked and has been audited in Q4 20/21. 

2. Having on-going city conversations on race equality. 

3. Reviewed the E&I learning and development offer for employees at BCC to ensure that their E&I 

awareness is improving throughout their employee journey 

4. A steering group are developing a new approach to positive action for under-represented groups. 

5. We received the report and recommendations from the LGA Equality Framework for Local Government. 

• Continuing to implement the recommendations from the LGA Equality Framework 
for Local Government, including mapping out an E&I programme in line with Corporate 
Strategy.  
• Completing the Positive Action Toolkit.  
• Holding Race Equality Gatherings.  
• Holding meetings of the Strategic E&I Governance Group.  
• Recruitment of the Commissioners for the Disability Equality Commission.  
• Embed the Equality and Inclusion calendar and link to ongoing engagement from the 
Mayor's Office.   
• Further develop the Champions Network  
  
 
 

P
age 73



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

40 

6. Taken the Annual Report for the E&I Strategy to Full Council and published it in July- along with a 

completion report in the Advancing Equality and Inclusion action plan. 

7. Recruited the first Chair and the support organisation for the Disability Equality Commission and a new 

Chair for the Commission on Race Equality.  

8. Rolled out updated training on Rights and Responsibilities. 

9. Launched a reverse mentoring programme.  

10. Developed an Equality & Inclusion calendar for the whole organisation. 

11. Created a network of Champions and Director Sponsors. 

12. Recruited a temporary consultant to support with strategic migration issues. 

Risk Owners: Director Policy, Strategy & 
Partnerships. 

Action Owners: Director Policy, Strategy & Partnership, Head 
of Equality and Inclusion. 

Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 74



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

41 

Corporate external and civil contingency risks 
 

External and Civil Contingency Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 
Likelihoo

d 
Impact 

Risk 
Rating 

BCCC4 - COVID-19 – Population Health 

NEW 3 5 15 2 7 14 

Covid 19 poses multiple risks to population health.  Directly from infection; indirectly through social and 
economic impacts; and through pressures on the health and care system. 

Key potential causes are: 

Infection from Covid, proportion of severe illness, long Covid and deaths.   Disruption to work, school, 
university.  Emotional and mental health impacts, for all ages including loneliness. Food poverty. 

What we have done What we are doing 

Well established local Outbreak Management and Response Plan.   Strong surveillance.    

Established Protecting Health function which is mainstreamed and not dependant on COMF. 

Fostering alliances to tackle health inequality and race and health (causes of the causes). 

Priority programmes focussed on mental health and wellbeing and food poverty jointly with city 
partners 

 

Daily situation reports. 

Weekly death management and vaccine reports. 

Focussed coms and engagement. 

Active prevention and control measures, including Investment in IPC which protects 
and reduces demand n Care and ASC. 

Ongoing community engagement and mental health work. 

Delivery of LOMP. 

Risk Owners: Executive Director People, 
Service Director Public Health 
 

Action 
Owners: 

Service Director Public Health Portfolio Flag: Mayor Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, 
Empowering and 
Caring, Fair and Inclusive, 
Well Connected, Wellbeing 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 75



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

42 

External/Civil Contingency Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

BCCC1 - Flooding 

 
3 5 15 3 3 9 

There could be a risk of damage to properties and infrastructure as well as risk to public safety from flooding which 
may be caused by a tidal surge, heavy rainfall and river flood events. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Tidal surge, heavy rainfall, and river flood events  
• Impact of climate change  
• Lack of effective flood defences and preparedness for major incidents  
• Failure of existing flood defences   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

Bristol has in place a local Flood Risk Management Strategy which comprises of 5 key themes and 43 separate 
actions in line with Environment Agency's national strategy. The Strategy has used outputs from a number of key 
studies (which identify the risk of flooding to the city) to structure our response to flood risk management, from 
emergency management to flood mitigation schemes, summarised below. 
The Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (LRF) is a partnership of all the organisations needed to prepare for 
an emergency in the LRF area. It includes the emergency services, health services, Maritime and Coastal Agency, 
Environment Agency, volunteer agencies, utility companies, transport providers and the five councils of Bath and 
North East Somerset, Bristol, North Somerset, Somerset, and South Gloucestershire. 
Working with emergency services, local authorities, and other agencies to develop flood response plans and 
procedures, investigating instances of flooding, training specialist staff in swift water rescue techniques, 
communicating with housing and business developers to incorporate flood protection into new developments. It 
provides guidance to members of the public about flooding, including flood warnings and what people can do to 
help themselves. We undertake regular and emergency maintenance and clearing programs of gullies and culverts, 
especially in advance of storm warnings. 
Work is ongoing with the Environment Agency and South Gloucestershire Council to construct new sea defences in 
Avonmouth and Severnside, which take account of climate change and sea level rise. 
A Strategic Outline Case for managing the risk of flooding from the river Avon to the city centre over the next 
century was approved by Cabinet in June 2021. The approved strategic approach is to construct new defences and 
/ or raise the level of existing defences along the banks of the river Avon. The Environment Agency approved the 
SOC and the scheme has been given a £2m approval for further work to develop the Outline Business Case. 
We have been successful in our expression of interest to participate in the DEFRA Innovation and Resilience 
programme. This programme allocates approximately £6m to 25 areas to undertake innovative actions to increase 
resilience to flooding from 2021 – 2027. 

There is sustained resourcing and delivery of all actions in Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy (LFRMS) over life of strategy. Strategy includes the following key projects and 
objectives: 
Working in partnership with the Environment Agency to complete and deliver the Bristol 
Avon Flood Strategy to protect the city centre and support sustainable development, 
including allowances for climate change. 
Working in partnership with South Gloucestershire and the Environment Agency to deliver a 
flood scheme to help protect Avonmouth Village and the Enterprise Area from tidal flooding, 
including allowances for climate change. 
Promote minor sized schemes and green infrastructure to reduce local flood risks. 
Actively managing flood risk infrastructure. 
Ensuring development is sustainable, seeks to reduce flood risk and includes consideration to 
climate change. 
Working with South Gloucestershire and the Environment Agency to deliver a programme of 
innovation to increase communities resilience to flooding. 
 

P
age 76



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

43 

Risk Owners: Executive Director Growth and 
Regeneration, Director Economy 
of Place. 

Action Owners: Director Economy of Place, Flood Risk 
Engineer. 

Portfolio Flag: Energy, Waste and 
Regulatory Services 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation, Empowering 
and Caring, Fair and Inclusive, 
Well Connected, Wellbeing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 77



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

44 

Corporate Opportunity Risks 
 

Opportunity Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

OPP2 - Corporate Strategy 

 
2 7 14 4 7 28 

The approved Corporate Strategy presents an opportunity to fundamentally refresh and strengthen our business 
planning, leadership and performance frameworks. 

Key potential causes are: 

• Approved Corporate Strategy provides the foundation and direction for the organisation.   
 

What we have done What we are doing 

We have approved and adopted the Corporate Strategy, Business Plan 2021/22 and associated Performance 
Frameworks through appropriate Decision Pathways. 
 
Commenced work on reviewing the corporate strategy for approval of refreshed strategy during the year. 
 
Reviewed organisational design principles and ways of working as part of thinking ahead to a 2021/22 update to 
the Corporate Strategy. 
 
Drafted a refreshed Corporate Strategy 2022-27 and briefed Heads of Service; also beginning staff engagement 
sessions and embedding within annual Service Planning for 22/23. 

The current Corporate Strategy is well embedded and whilst capacity to deliver all outcomes 
is limited, there is a much greater focus on project prioritisation against the Strategy and 
commensurate improvements in public satisfaction year-on-year since its inception. 
 
In light of performance outturn reporting of 2020/21, the likelihood of this opportunity has 
been downgraded to reflect the results – which were clearly impacted by Covid-19 and 
pivoting our organisational focus towards managing the pandemic response and recovery. 
 
Overall, our level of preparedness for this opportunity is reduced due to many external 
factors – including the pandemic, EU Exit and national policy – having changed the 
environment in which we work. This is a key driver for updating the overall Corporate 
Strategy and looking ahead to our needs over the next five years, which will help strengthen 
our level of preparedness and the likelihood of this opportunity manifesting. Work is well 
progressed on this and embedding of it has begun in anticipation of formal approval – 
including Service Planning for 2022/23. Once it is formally approved and our planning cycle 
complete, this opportunity will be re-scored and is likely to increase significantly in 
likelihood. 

Risk Owners: Director Policy, Strategy and 
Partnerships. 

Action Owners: Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships. Portfolio Flag: Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 78



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

45 

Opportunity Risk Title and Description Performance 

Current Risk Level Tolerance Risk Level 

Likelihood Impact Risk Rating Likelihood Impact 
Risk 

Rating 

OPP1 - One City Approach 

 
3 7 21 4 7 28 

The One City Approach will offer a new way to plan strategically with partners as part of a wider city system. 

Key potential causes are: 

1. Mayoral aspiration and widespread partner sign-up to principles 
2. Work to date has produced outline plan and engaged partners in the long-term vision and necessary work to 
complete the plan 

What we have done What we are doing 

As part of the response to Covid-19, a One City Approach has been used to coordinate a 'One City' response, 
helping to bring together leaders from key city institutions around shared priorities, using relationships developed 
through the work of the City Office to improve stakeholder engagement and communications. 
 
We have worked closely with all Boards to update the One City Plan timelines ahead of a v3 Plan launch in June 
2021, and also continue to collaborate on a city-wide approach to Covid-19 Recovery. We have reviewed longer 
term funding and governance options and are taking forward conversations with partners in January 2021 about 
this. 
 
We have produced v3 of the One City Plan and produced our second annual report available on the One City 
Website from 12 June 2021. A new culture board and Children and Young People's Board have been established. 
Conversations have been had with all anchor institutions over funding. More formalised working arrangements 
with City Funds have been established. City Office continues to support the Covid 19 response and Recovery. 

We are working on sustainable long-term funding models and a more ambitious 'core' City 
Office offer and resource to maximise benefits of the One City Approach. 
 
We continue to: 
•     Set up a Partnership Board to oversee the work of the City Office and developing MOUs 
with wider range of partners to further formalised working arrangements.  
•     Negotiate with partners on funding arrangements.  
•     Create a One City Digital Board.  
•     Produce a City Office team mandate to outline the functions of the team for partners.  
 
Develop more detailed metrics for impacting tracking of activity. 

Risk Owners: Director Policy, Strategy and 
Partnerships. 

Action Owners: Director Policy, Strategy and Partnerships. Portfolio Flag: Mayor Strategic 
Theme: 

 Our Organisation 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 79



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

46 

Risk Scoring Matrix 
 

  
  
  
 
 
 

P
age 80



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

47 

LIKELIHOOD AND IMPACT RISK RATING SCORING 
Likelihood Guidance 

   Likelihood Likelihood Ratings 1 to 4 

1 2 3 4 

Description Might happen on rare occasions. Will possibly happen, possibly on several occasions. Will probably happen, possibly at regular intervals. Likely to happen, possibly frequently. 

Numerical Likelihood Less than 10%  Less than 50%  50% or more  75% or more 

Severity of Impact Guidance (Risk to be assessed against all of the Categories, and the highest score used in the matrix). 
 

Impact Category Impact Levels 1 to 7 

1 3 5 7 

Service provision Very limited effect (positive or 
negative) on service provision. 
Impact can be managed within 
normal working arrangements. 

Noticeable and significant effect (positive or 
negative) on service provision. 
 

Effect may require some additional resource, but 
manageable in a reasonable time frame. 

Severe effect on service provision or a Corporate 
Strategic Plan priority area.  

Extremely severe service disruption. Significant customer 
opposition. Legal action. 

Effect may require considerable /additional 
resource but will not require a major strategy 
change. 

Effect could not be managed within a reasonable time frame 
or by a short-term allocation of resources and may require 
major strategy changes. The Council risks ‘special measures’. 

  Officer / Member forced to resign. 

Communities Minimal impact on community. Noticeable (positive or negative) impact on the 
community or a more manageable impact on a 
smaller number of vulnerable groups / individuals 
which is not likely to last more than six months. 

 A more severe but manageable impact (positive or 
negative) on a significant number of vulnerable 
groups / individuals which is not likely to last more 
than twelve months. 

A lasting and noticeable impact on a significant number of 
vulnerable groups / individuals. 

Environmental No effect (positive or negative) on 
the natural and built environment. 

Short term effect (positive or negative) on the 
natural and or built environment. 

Serious local discharge of pollutant or source of 
community annoyance that requires remedial 
action. 

Lasting effect on the natural and or built environment. 

Financial Loss / Gain Under £0.5m Between £0.5m - £3m Between £3m  - £5m More than £5m 

Fraud & Corruption Loss Under £50k Between £50k - £100k Between £100k - £1m   More than £1m 

Legal No significant legal implications or 
action is anticipated. 

Tribunal / BCC legal team involvement required 
(potential for claim). 

Criminal prosecution anticipated and / or civil 
litigation. 

Criminal prosecution anticipated and or civil litigation (> 1 
person). 

Personal Safety Minor injury to citizens or 
colleagues.  

Significant injury or ill health of citizens or 
colleagues causing short-term disability / absence 
from work. 

Major injury or ill health of citizens or colleagues 
may result in. long term disability / absence from 
work. 

Death of citizen(s) or colleague(s). 

Significant long-term disability / absence from work. 

Programme / Project 
Management  
(Including developing 
commercial enterprises)  

Minor delays and/or budget 
overspend but can be brought back 
on schedule with this project stage. 

Slippage causes significant delay to delivery of key 
project milestones, and/or budget overspends. 
 

Slippage causes significant delay to delivery of key 
project milestones; and/or major budget 
overspends. 
 

Major threat to delivery of the project on time and 
to budget, and achievement of one or more 
benefits / outcomes. 

Significant issues threaten delivery of the entire project. 
 

Could lead to project being cancelled or put on hold. 

No threat to delivery of the project 
on time and to budget and no 
threat to identified benefits / 
outcomes. 

No threat to overall delivery of the project and the 
identified benefits / outcomes. 

Reputation Minimal and transient loss of public 
or partner trust. Contained within 
the individual service. 

Significant public or partner interest although 
limited potential for enhancement of, or damage 
to, reputation. 

Serious potential for enhancement of, or damage 
to, reputation and the willingness of other parties 
to collaborate or do business with the council. 
Dissatisfaction regularly reported through council 
complaints procedure. 
 

Higher levels of local or national interest. 
 

Higher levels of local media / social media interest. 

Highly significant potential for enhancement of, or damage 
to, reputation and the willingness of other parties to 
collaborate or do business with the council. 
Intense local, national and potentially international media 
attention. 
 

Viral social media or online pick-up. 
 

Public enquiry or poor external assessor report. 

Dissatisfaction reported through council complaints 
procedure but contained within the council. 

Local MP involvement. 

Some local media/social media interest. 

P
age 81



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register as at December 2021  

48 

 

P
age 82



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Commission – Report 

 
 Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Board 
29th March 2022 

 
Report of:  The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 
Title:  Scrutiny Annual Report 21/22 

 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board approve the report, before it’s taken to Full Council on 24th May 22. 
 
Summary 
 
It is considered best practice for Members to submit an annual report to Full Council to highlight 
work completed during the municipal year and make suggestions for the future approach to 
Scrutiny, including any work programme topics. 
 
The attached report has been prepared by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 
 
As set out in the report.  
 
 
Appendix A – Scrutiny Annual Report 21/22 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Scrutiny Annual Report – 2021/2022 

 

1. Foreword from the Chair, Councillor Tony Dyer 

Scrutiny has continued to face challenges brought about by the effects of the pandemic which 

are likely to have an ongoing impact on how we deliver scrutiny meetings in future. This has led 

to us exploring the potential for hybrid meetings – a format which could allow us to continue to 

hold face to face meetings for Members whilst also allowing officers and members of the public 

to choose to interact with the scrutiny process remotely.  We have already held a pilot, with a 

Communities Scrutiny Committee session run using technology that allows for hybrid meetings, 

and we will continue to explore how we can make such meetings as effective as possible. 

Another challenge for scrutiny, but also an opportunity, is the considerable change in the make-

up of the Council following the May 2021 local elections. We now have a mix of experienced 

Councillors with an institutional memory of what has gone before, combined with an influx of 

new Members often eager and keen to learn and ask questions, whilst also bringing new 

insights and experience into the Council.  The Member Development Programme that has been 

created to help new Councillors understand their role in the scrutiny process has been well 

received. Even some of the longer serving Councillors have found them useful too. 

The report following this foreword provides details of the work that has been performed by 

scrutiny so far this civic year, but I would like to take this opportunity to thank some people and 

to briefly comment on the future. 

Since taking on the role of Chair of the Overview Scrutiny and Management Board (OSMB), I 

have become acutely aware of the importance of the scrutiny role and how it can help and 

support good decision making within the Council.   

However, for that to work most effectively there needs to be mutual respect between both 

those scrutinising and those being scrutinised. When this report was presented last year, the 

then Chair of OSMB, Councillor Geoff Gollop highlighted that “one of the most fundamental 

components of successful scrutiny lies in partnership working and, as demonstrated by the Task 

Groups, there’s great strength in enabling cross party members, and the public, to feed into 

early stage policy development.”  I agree with that statement and hope that there will be 

increased opportunities for scrutiny to work co-operatively to aid in the development of policy 

at an early stage. I believe there is willingness at all levels to make this happen. 

Furthermore, the operations of the Council are becoming increasingly complex, and often, it can 

be difficult to try to get the balance right between ensuring that as much as possible is 

scrutinised whilst also not overloading agendas so that we do the concept of scrutiny justice. 

In such circumstances, the ability to set up sub-groups to look more deeply into specific areas 

can add much to our understanding – but it is important that there is a clear understanding by 

all involved of the standing and remit of such groups, and where they fit into the overall scrutiny 

process. 

Page 84



 

As a newly elected Councillor, I had not intended to take on the role of Chair of OSMB, and I 

have thus been very grateful for the support of several individuals.  I would like to express my 

sincere thanks to my predecessor, Councillor Carla Denyer, for her great help and advice when I 

first took up the role. In a similar vein, I would also like to express my thanks to Councillor Geoff 

Gollop and Councillor Tim Kent for their ongoing advice and support and especially to my Vice 

Chair Councillor Mark Bradshaw for his considerable assistance, insight, and his words of 

reassurance.  In fact, I have been very lucky to have access to a very broad and committed group 

of Councillors from all parties who have thus made my job relatively easy despite my 

inexperience.  

I would also like to add my personal thanks to the Mayor of Bristol, Marvin Rees, and to Mike 

Jackson, Chief Executive of Bristol City Council for their willingness to engage with, and support, 

the scrutiny function both now and as we continue to look forward to how we can improve it. In 

a similar vein I would also like to thank Ben Mosley, Andrea Dell, Helen Davis, Sophie Bland, and 

Tim O’Gara for their help and support.Above all, I have also been lucky to be able to turn to a 

highly effective and dedicated Scrutiny team, led by Lucy Fleming, Head of Democratic 

Engagement alongside Johanna Holmes, Dan Berlin and Amy Rodwell.   

Looking towards the future, I do not pretend to have a crystal ball, but I nevertheless fully 

expect that the scrutiny function will continue to play a vitally important role regardless of how 

the Council is organised. Better informed decision making will almost always be the outcome of 

a well set up scrutiny process, and better-informed decision making will, in turn, almost 

inevitably lead to improved outcomes for Bristol and its residents. I therefore look forward to 

working with all those who wish to help ensure scrutiny in Bristol is as effective as possible. 

 

2. Key Figures  

 

 Number of formal scrutiny meetings – 22 

 Meetings of the OSMB Lead Members - 12 

 Task and Finish Groups - 5 

 Reports and Statements to Cabinet – 9 

 Reports and Statements to Full Council – 1 (Budget Statement) 

 

3. Scrutiny Successes in 2021/22 – Summary   

The main achievements of scrutiny during 21/22 are set out below: 

 Many new Members were appointed to scrutiny for the 21/22 municipal year following 

the ‘all out’ elections in May 21.  In order to prepare for this, we undertook a 

comprehensive programme of training, in conjunction with the Centre for Governance 

and Scrutiny, which involved separate sessions on the fundamentals of scrutiny; 

performance; health; and topic selection.  This ensured Members were fully briefed on 

best practice approaches to scrutiny and led to the creation of an effective and engaging 

work programme. 

Page 85



 

 The preferred approach to scrutiny this year has been to continue with a blend of both 

formal Commission meetings and other ways of working, such as Task Groups.  We 

believe this has enabled us to continue to make an effective contribution to policy 

development, as well as make best use of the available resources.  

 In recent years, we have taken a best practice approach to scrutiny of the budget, and 

this has continued during 21/22 with a robust process via a series of meetings leading to 

carefully considered comments being presented to the Full Council budget meeting on 

15th February 21.  This is an example of how scrutiny, the executive and officers can work 

well together when there is a good degree of information sharing and transparency. 

 Scrutiny should always be a Member-led process, and we have continued to operate 

regular meetings of the cross party OSMB ‘Lead’ Members (consisting of the Chairs of 

each Commission and OSMB Vice Chair) in order to plan the strategic approach to 

scrutiny, and this process is working well.  

 

4. Scrutiny Work Programme 2021/22 – Key Highlights  

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (OSMB) 

OSMB’s main functions are to conduct oversight of the Scrutiny Work Programme and review 

matters that are cross cutting and/or of significant interest city wide. Main areas of focus this 

year have included: 

 Continuing to receive regular, in-depth updates on progress around implementation of 

the Council’s Clean Air Zone. 

 Carrying out the annual review of the Council’s Companies’ Business Plans, which 

ensures good governance.   

 Keeping a watching brief on all items going to Cabinet for decision, raising queries as 
appropriate and providing comments.  OSMB routinely submit cross party comments to 
Cabinet on forthcoming reports which helps to ensure that a broad range of views feed 
into decision making.  

 Taking a strategic review of the Council’s performance and risk reports. 

 Monitoring progress around all scrutiny activities to ensure resources are being used 
effectively and concentrate on the areas where Members can add the most value.   

 Providing a vital interface for the public to raise issues of concern relating to work across 
the whole Council.   
 

We also have plans to review Bristol City Council’s Business Plans at our meeting on 29th March, 
and this has been proceeded by a workshop to ensure Members have the maximum 
opportunity to consider the reports in detail.  At the same meeting, we expect to receive an 
update on the Council’s City Leap project.  OSMB will continue to keep its Work Programme 
under review to ensure it can respond to any other emerging issues. 
 
 
Communities Scrutiny Commission  
 
The role of the Communities Scrutiny Commission is the overview and scrutiny of matters that 
affect Bristol’s neighbourhoods. Unlike other Scrutiny Commissions, it is not assigned to a single 

Page 86



 

directorate and examines cross cutting issues.  Key points of interest from the 2021/22 year 
include: 
 

 In setting the 2021/22 Work Programme the Commission undertook a prioritisation 
exercise and survey with Members to ensure a focus on the most significant topics.  The 
Commission has received reports relating to Waste; Parks and Open Spaces Leisure 
Services; and the Community Safety Partnership.  The Commission will also receive 
reports on homelessness; temporary housing options and initiatives; community 
buildings usage; community asset transfers; and community facilities this year. 

 Trees Working Group: the Commission convened a Working Group to consider plans to 
increase Bristol’s tree canopy by 25% by 2035 and to double it by 2046. The Group 
examined the issues surrounding the tree canopy target and matters relating to tree 
management and protection.  It received submissions from external witnesses including 
the West of England Nature Partnership, Bristol Tree Forum and The Woodland Trust. A 
report of findings and recommendations was taken to the February Commission meeting 
to be approved by the Commission and to be discussed with the relevant Cabinet 
Members.  

 Ecological Emergency Action Plan Member Engagement Session: prior to it being 
launched in September, the Commission convened a scrutiny engagement session to 
review the four-year plan which will ensure nature it’s embedded into all Council 
decisions.  The Commission will review progress on the actions contained within the Plan 
in April 2022.  

 
 

People Scrutiny Commission 

The Council’s adult care provision, child and family support, safeguarding and education and 
skills fall under the remit of this Commission.  The Health Sub-Committee of the People Scrutiny 
Commission carries out the statutory health scrutiny role.  The highlights from the 21/22 Work 
Programme include: 

 The Commission began 21/22 with a focus on education, which included a report on 

school places and the response to the Bristol Alternative Learning Provision review taken 

to the first meeting on the 19 July 21.  Members submitted their comments about these 

items to Cabinet in September.  At the first meeting, the Commission also formally co-

opted and welcomed its new statutory co-optee for education matters.  

 A report on recruitment and retention across the adult social care sector was brought to 

the second meeting on 13 December 21.   Members thanked care workers for their hard 

work and skill, and welcomed external expertise from the Older People’s Forum, Care & 

Support West, and Barnardo’s.  Members also scrutinised the Council’s approach to 

contextual safeguarding and the sufficiency of placements for children’s homes and 

foster carers.    

 After scrutiny of Bristol’s response to Sir Stephen Bubb’s report (Independent Review of 

Bristol’s Policies and Actions for People with Learning Disabilities and Autism) on the 19 

July 21, Members commended the report and requested an appraisal of progress later in 

the year.   The update was brought to the Commission on the 7 March 22, when there 

was also scrutiny of the Adult Social Care Transformation Programme, and the SEND 

Written Statement of Action. 

Page 87



 

 

 The Commission has convened a Working Group to investigate the Council and its 

partners’ approach to inclusive mainstream education.  Members intend to work with 

the administration and city-wide partners to gather evidence to help inform policy 

development and good practice.  The scope and objectives were agreed by the 

Commission on the 7 March 22. 

 

Health Scrutiny Committee (Sub-Committee of the People Scrutiny Commission) 

The role of the Health Scrutiny Committee is to undertake scrutiny of local Health Service 
provision in accordance with Section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001, the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  Key areas of focus in 21/22 include: 
 

 The Committee began the municipal year with a review of NHS Trusts’ and health 

providers’ Quality Accounts for 2020-21, submitting appropriate comments on the 

quality of services offered, which are published in the NHS providers final reports.   

 Members received a programme of briefings delivered by NHS England, the Centre for 

Governance & Scrutiny, the Bristol, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group, and the Council Administration on topics including the health 

system and the role of scrutiny; access to primary care with a focus on dentistry; 

addressing health inequalities in the South West COVID 19 vaccine rollout; and suicide 

prevention work. 

 The Committee, at its meeting in-public on the 6 December, received a report on Child 

and Adolescent Mental Health Services from Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 

Partnership and also examined the developing Community Mental Health Framework 

and Integrated Care.   

 The Council’s approach to improve healthy weight in Bristol came to the second meeting 

in-public on the 14 March.  At this meeting the Committee also examined NHS system 

pressures and plans for recovery; Urgent and Emergency Care (Minors Programme); and 

AWP Patient Reconfiguration.   

 

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 

JHOSC, comprised of Members from Bristol City, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

Councils, was established to review and scrutinise the work of the BNSSG Integrated Care 

System (ICS) and any proposals within the ICS that constitute a substantial development of the 

health service or the substantial variation of such service where more than one local authority is 

consulted by the relevant NHS body.  Seven Members of the Bristol Health Scrutiny Committee 

sit on JHOSC. 

JHOSC considered proposals for a substantial variation of stroke services, and, following a 

thorough scrutiny process, which included a number of briefings, a meeting in-public on the 15 

November, and a final engagement session on the 21 February, Members commended the 

consultation process and supported the preferred options. 

Page 88



 

 
Growth & Regeneration Scrutiny Commission 

The role of the Commission is the overview and scrutiny of matters relating to the Growth and 

Regeneration Directorate including planning; strategic city planning, development management, 

and city design, innovation and sustainability.  The Commission set a comprehensive Work 

Programme for the 21/22 municipal year and key highlights include: 

 The Commission undertook a series of scrutiny Member briefings at the beginning of the 

municipal year to help inform the Work Programme setting for 21/22. Key themes for 

these briefings were transport, regeneration, and housing where Members were able to 

develop an in-depth understanding of the Council’s current schemes and projects in 

these areas by exploring each topic in detail. 

 The Commission received a scrutiny briefing on the Temple Island plans where property 

consultants working with the council on the project were invited to discuss the 

proposals. 

 The Commission’s formal scrutiny meetings were themed where possible to ensure a 

focussed and thorough approach. The Commission received reports relating to; the City 

Centre & High Streets Recovery & Renewal Programme; Liveable Neighbourhoods 

Strategy; Housing Delivery Plan; Temple Quarter/Temple Island; and Western Harbour. 

Members also scrutinised the River Avon Flood Strategy and received an annual update 

on the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. 

 The Commission is scheduled to receive reports in March 2022 relating to transport 

matters including the Council’s strategic transport plans; management of highways 

maintenance issues. 

 

Resources Scrutiny Commission 

The role of the Commission is overview and scrutiny in respect of policies, decisions and 

performance relating to the Resources Directorate, including legal, finance, HR, ICT, policy & 

strategy, and procurement and commercialisation.  The Resources Scrutiny Commission has 

chosen to hold a combination of informal and formal public meetings this year. 

 Budget scrutiny – OSMB have delegated responsibility for budget scrutiny to the 

Resources Scrutiny Commission and The Finance Task Group.  A robust process, that 

included nine informal meetings, has ensured that scrutiny Members had access to 

comprehensive information in the run up to the budget setting process, which was 

delivered via the Finance Task Group.  This culminated in two formal public budget 

specific meetings of the Resources Scrutiny Commission where detailed comments were 

agreed and submitted to Members in advance of the budget setting Full Council meeting 

on 15th February 2022.  The Commission’s approach to budget scrutiny is generally 

thought to reflect best practice.  

 Another key piece of work for the Commission has been the Ethical and Equitable 

Investment Policy Working Group.  The Working Group held three sessions, which 

included external organisations including, Wellspring Settlement, Great Western Credit 

Union and representatives of the Black Caribbean, Bangladeshi and Pakistani 

Page 89



 

Communities.  All those involved felt this was a very constructive process that produced 

a set of clear proposals to further develop the policy and associated outcomes.  The 

refreshed Ethical and Equitable Investment Policy was approved at a Cabinet meeting in 

January 22.   

 A Member of the Commission also Chaired a short multi-sector scrutiny focus group 

which co-designed the ‘Sustainable Procurement Policy Statement’ 'and built on the 

commitments made in the Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategies. 

 

5. Opportunities for Scrutiny in 2021/22 and beyond 

 

 We believe that public engagement is an essential cornerstone of an effective scrutiny 

process. Residents that already engage tell us they welcome the facility to submit 

statements, questions and petitions to scrutiny because their views can be considered by 

Members who have a particular interest in the relevant subject matter.  We are very 

positive about the opportunities that can be achieved by making better use of 

technology to support additional democratic engagement and we are looking forward to 

rolling out more extensive webcasting and hybrid meetings to assist with this.  We are 

aware of plans in place to promote the equality of access to information about public 

participation with a wide demographic.  It is hoped this will lead to more diverse 

representation at our meetings.   

 The scrutiny function must continually evolve to ensure the structure provides the right 

framework to deliver the best value and outcomes.  Members will consider whether any 

changes are required to the structure for 22/23 with a view to making recommendations 

to Full Council.  Of particular note, is the need to ensure that scrutiny of matters in 

relation to climate change are given appropriate consideration.  

 Whilst we welcome and support the introduction of different ways in which we as 

scrutiny are invited to work alongside the Executive, there may be some benefit in 

considering the arrangements of any new bodies (for example Focus Groups) that are 

established to ensure the decision pathway for outcomes remains clear.  

 The role of Local Authorities and associated systems of governance have evolved in 

recent years, for example with the inclusion of Arms-Length Companies and devolution.  

Scrutiny must continue to review its Work Programme to ensure all key areas are 

incorporated as we enter ever more challenging times.   

 

 

Page 90



Bristol City Council - Scrutiny Work Programme 2021 / 2022  (Formal Public Meetings)  

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

July  2021 
19th July, 5pm    12th July, 5pm 
Annual Business Report    City Leap 

COVID-19 Update    Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy  

Response to the Stephen 
Bubb review, Building Rights: 
Review of Bristol’s Policies 
and Actions for People with 
Learning Difficulties and 
Autism 

   Clean Air Zone 

Response to the Bristol 
Alternative Learning 
Provision review report 
 

   Performance Report Quarter 
4 2020/21  

School Places Provision 
 

    

Performance 20-21 Q4     

August 2021 
     

September 2021 
    20th Sept, 1pm  
    Scrutiny Work Programme  

October 2021 
    18th October, 2pm 
    Corporate Strategy 

    Corporate Performance 
Report Q1 (substantive 
discussion) 

    Corporate Risk Report Q1 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 10



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

  
 

 Work Programme (including 
decarbonisation) 

November 2021 
 23rd November, 5.30pm  16th November, 5pm  1st November, 4pm  18th November, 5pm 
 Annual Business Report Annual Business Report Annual Business Report  Clean Air Zone 

 Q1 Performance Report Liveable Neighbourhoods 
(Joint item with CSC) 

Finance Task Group - Update 

 MTFP  

 Capital Strategy   

 

 Q1 Risk Report High Streets Recovery Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) (Cabinet 
Report) 

 

 Waste Strategy Action Plan – 
short update paper  
 

Affordable Housing Delivery 

Plan 

 

Procurement – discussion 
item only 

 

 Parks and Open Spaces Item: 
A) Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy  
B) Future Parks 

Q1 Performance Report  Finance Monitoring Report 
(Standing Item) 
 

 

 Bristol Leisure Services Q1 Risk Report Q1 Performance Report 
 

 

  Heat decarbonisation of the 

Welsman building (OED) 

Q1 Risk Report   

   Budget Timeline 
(Summary of dates) 
 

 

   Scrutiny Work Programme    

December 2021 
13th December, 5pm     
Recruitment and retention – 
Adult Social Care  

    

P
age 92



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Sufficiency of placements – 
children’s homes, foster 
carers.   

    

Contextual Safeguarding     

Performance (Q2)     

January 2022 
   25th January, 5pm   

   Budget Scrutiny Meeting 
(Part 1 of 2) 

 

February 2022 
 21st Feb, 3pm 28th Feb, 5:30pm 1st February, 3.30pm  9th February 22 

 Keeping Bristol Safe 

Partnership (Keeping 

Communities Safe) 

Temple Quarter/Temple 
Island 

Budget Scrutiny Meeting 
(Part 2 of 2) 
 

Companies Business Plans  

 Trees Working Group Report Western Harbour   

 Waste Report  River Avon Flood Strategy   

 Citizens Services Bristol Flood Risk Strategy 

(Statutory) 
 

 

 Q2 Performance Report Q3 Performance Report   

  Q2 Risk Report   

March 2022 

7th March, 10am  28th March, 2pm   March 29th, 5pm 
Written Statement of Action 
(SEND) – Progress 

 Highways Maintenance  Q3 Performance Report  

Transition between child and 
adult social care 

 Strategic Transport Plans 
 

Q3 Risk Report 

Sir Stephen Bubb Review, 
Building Rights: Independent 
Review of Services for 
Autistic People and People 

  

 

Scrutiny Annual Report 

P
age 93



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

with Learning Difficulties - 
Review and Further response 

Adult Social Care  
Transformation Programme 

  
 

BCC Business Plans  

Performance (Q3) 
Risk (Q3) 

  
 

City Leap 

April 2022 
 26th April, 4.30pm  

 
Meeting Date TBC 

 Homelessness, temporary 
housing options and 
initiatives  

 
 

 

 
 
 

Community Buildings Usage, 
Community Asset Transfers, 
Community Facilities (part-
exempt) 

 

 

 

 Ecological Emergency Action 
Plan  

 
 

 

 Q3 Performance Report 
 

 
 

 

Provisional items / to be scheduled 
 

 LGA Peer Review – Child 
protection and children in 
need.  Outcome and 
response (briefing to be 
scheduled) 

Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) (Possible Joint with 
G&RSC) 

Spatial Development 
Strategy  

Finance Monitoring Reports 
(Standing Item) 

Gender Identity and 
Transition Policy (move to 
22/23) 

 Area Committees  Bristol Beacon Capital Spend against the 
Budget (end of year) 

One City Plan (move to 
22/23) 

 
 

 Carbon Reduction Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) – potential 
further scrutiny March and 
May 2022 

Standing Items:  
• Forward Plan 
• Work programme 
• WECA - Scrutiny Minutes 

P
age 94



People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Communities Scrutiny 
Commission 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission 

Resources Scrutiny 
Commission 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board 

  Property Strategy and 

Community Buildings Usage 

(possible joint item with CSC) 

 

Digital Transformation 
Programme (DTP) March TBC 

 

  Parking strategy and 
management of parking 

Commercialisation & Income 
Generation 

 

 

Health Scrutiny 
 

Topic 
 

Date 

Health Scrutiny Committee (Sub-Committee of the People Scrutiny Commission) 
 

Children's Mental Health and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 6th December 2021, 10am  

Community Mental Health Framework 

 

Healthy Weight 14th March 2022, 10am 

Urgent and Emergency Care – Minors Programme 

System working and pressures - Status update  

AWP Patient reconfiguration – For Information   

To be Scheduled  

 

 

Quality Accounts 21/22  

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 
 

Stroke Programme – substantial variation Monday, 15th November 
2021, 10.30am  Integrated Care System  

 

 

 

P
age 95



Ongoing Scrutiny  
 

 Scrutiny Commission  Description  Timescale  

People Scrutiny Commission  
 

Inclusive Mainstream Education in Bristol Working Group  
March / April 2022 
 

Growth & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Commission   
 
(Communities Scrutiny 
Commission invited to 
attend) 

Local Flood Risk Management & Frome Catchment Innovation Project - 
Scrutiny Member Briefing 

 
 
21st March 2022 

Health Scrutiny Committee 
(Sub-Committee of the 
People Scrutiny Commission) 

Quality Accounts 21/22 Review  May 2022 

 

 

P
age 96



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
  Overview & Scrutiny 

Management Board 
 

29 March 2022 

Report of: Mike Jackson, Executive Director (Resources) and Head of Paid Service (CEO) 
 
Title: 2022/23 Corporate Business Plan and Performance Framework 
Ward: All 
Officer Presenting Report:   Guy Collings, Head of Insight, Performance and Intelligence and Jean Candler, 

Head of Policy and Public Affairs  

 
Contact Telephone Number: 07384 243795 

    
 
 Recommendations: 
For OSMB to note the final Business Plan and Performance Framework ahead of Cabinet on 5th April 2022/23 . 
 
 
The significant issues in the report are: 

• The Business Plan sets out the activities carried out by the Council to bring benefits across the city and 
helps ensure its resources are focused on delivering the benefits outlined in its Corporate Strategy.  
 
• Many of the high-level actions are focussed on improving the efficiency and value for money of council 
services. Such improvements will mitigate against the budget savings being undertaken for 2022/23. 
 
• All seven key themes stemming from the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027– and relating actions – within the 
Business Plan have a focus on improving services, infrastructure, and communities for citizens across the city. 
 
• The Business Plan helps us understanding whether Bristol City Council is delivering outcomes for the 
citizens and the city ensures transparency, drives better value for citizens and helps focus organisational effort 
where it is required.    
 
• The Business Plan has been reviewed by Cabinet, the Mayor’s Office, scrutiny members and Executive 
Directors. The Business Plan is formulated from Service Plans and is informed by the services’ Equality Action 
Plans.  

 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
1. Summary 

For OSMB to note the 2022-23 Bristol City Council Business Plan and associated Performance Framework 
ahead of Cabinet on 5th April. The Business Plan sets out how the Council will make progress on its key 
commitments (as set out in the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027) within the financial year 2022-23 and the 
performance framework sets out the Key Performance Indicators (KPI) and demonstrates the impact on 
citizens. 

2. Context 
 

1. This year's Business Plan and Performance Framework is the first to set out how the Council will make 

progress on the themes set out in its updated Corporate Strategy 2022-2027.  

2. The annual Business Plan is a summary of the anticipated key and notable actions and activities within 

the financial year 2022/23. It does not describe everything the council does. 

3. Actions are drawn from the detailed contents of departmental Service Plans and divisional Director 

Summaries, selected by relevant Executive Directors, Directors and the council’s centralised Policy, 

Strategy and Partnerships division.   

4. The priorities of the Business Plan have also been informed by the recommendations of the first 
Citizens’ Assembly, the One City Plan, the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the council’s 
Change and Transformation project pipeline, its approved savings proposals, Capital Programme  and 
the Mayor’s Forward Plan. 

5. Individual Service Plans, from which the high-level actions are drawn, have been approved by Directors 
and Cabinet Members. Director Summaries have been approved by Executive Directors and Cabinet 
Members.   

6. Service Plans also incorporated Equality Action Plans, and the final Business Plan includes specific 
actions informed by these Equality Action Plans.  

7. The principles upon which the new Performance Framework 2022/23 is based are as follows:  

- Monitor progress through a blend of specific actions and performance metrics, incorporating 
output and outcome measures as well as narrative progress.  

- All measures are structured to show progress against the Corporate Strategy themes and 
priorities. 

- Officers, Cabinet Members and Scrutiny Commissions see the same sets of indicators relevant 
to their roles to ensure transparency and appropriate support and challenge, with quarterly 
reporting to officer meetings, Scrutiny commissions and Cabinet briefings.  

- See the Performance Framework 2022/23 (Appendix A) for further details. 
 

8. Together, the Business Plan and Performance Framework help to link the council’s high-level Corporate 
Strategy and the specific activity of its services and alignment of its budgets. This golden thread 
continues through to individual objective setting for all members of staff, which should focus on 
fulfilling these plans. The products also play a vital role in enabling the administration and senior 
leaders to prioritise resources, including spending and staff time, throughout the year.  

 

3.  Policy 
 
Actions from the Business Plan are designed to deliver the key strategic themes within the Corporate Strategy, 
meanwhile the Performance Framework 2022/23 maps out key performance indicators for each action. In 
creating a council-wide Business Plan we are helping deliver Corporate Strategy commitments to work as One 
Council (Priority EDO2) and to ensure good governance (Priority EDO5). 

 
4.   Consultation 
 

Page 98

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Corporate_Strategy_2022-27.pdf/64775487-6d75-004b-2f79-cc4037cf2010?t=1642610835516
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/T2H0LYNZ/BD13941__BCA_Report_V4_PRINT.pdf


Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
a) Internal 

The Business Plan has been reviewed by Cabinet, the Mayor’s Office and Executive Directors.  There has 
been extensive engagement with all Directors and Service Managers. All service areas were required to 
submit Service Plans which have been approved by Executive Directors. The Business Plan is formulated 
from these Service Plans and is informed by the services’ Equality Action Plans.  

  

A Scrutiny members’ workshop took place on 3 March 2022 and members suggested various text and 
presentational updates based on discussions around specific actions. As a result of the input, a number 
of changes were made to the draft Business Plan.  
  

 
b) External 

Externally, the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027 was publicly consulted during its development in 2021. 
Every year the council publicly consults on its Budget. For the 2022-23 Budget, this consultation took 
place in the Q4 of 2022/23.  The Budget was approved by Full Council on 2 March 2022 and will provide 
a financial envelope linked to the Service Plans underpinning this Business Plan. The Business Plan and 
Performance Framework themselves have not been subject to public consultation. 

 
 
5.  Public Sector Equality Duties 
 
5a) Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker 

considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected 
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 

the Equality Act 2010. 
 
ii)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, 
to the need to -- 
 
- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic; 
 
- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled 
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons' 
disabilities); 

 
- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in 

any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low. 
 

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to – 

Page 99

https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=3188


Overview & Scrutiny Management Board – Report 

 
- tackle prejudice; and 
- promote understanding. 

 
5b)  The Business Plan is formulated from Service Plans and is informed by the services’ Equality Action 

Plans. A Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for the Business Plan 2022-2023.   
 
Appendices: 
Performance Framework 2022/23 
Scrutiny workshop report, 3/3/2022 
Risk Assessment 
Ecological Impact Assessment  
Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
Background Papers: 
 
Corporate Strategy 2022-27 

Bristol One City Plan  
Citizen Assembly Report (June 2021) 
Bridging the Gap savings proposals 2022-2027 
 
 

  

Page 100

https://www.bristolonecity.com/about-the-one-city-plan/
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/T2H0LYNZ/BD13941__BCA_Report_V4_PRINT.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s68755/Appendix%208%20-%20Budget%20Savings%20and%20Efficiences.pdf


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

1

Business Plan
2022–2023

Page 101



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

2

Contents

Introduction 3

2021/22 a Year in review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Sustainable Development Goals  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6

More about this Business Plan  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7

Our Approach  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7

Our Obligations  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8

Measures of success .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8

Theme 1: Children and young people 9

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9

CYP1 – Child friendly city  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10

CYP2 – Supported to thrive  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12

CYP3 – Equity in education  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 14

CYP4 – Intergenerational equality .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 16

Theme 2: Economy and skills 18

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18

ES1 – Regeneration .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 19

ES2 – Access to employment .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 21

ES3 – Good growth  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 23

ES4 – Childcare .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 24

ES5 – Digital inclusion  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 25

Theme 3: Environment and  
sustainability 27

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 27

ENV1 – Carbon neutral  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 28

ENV2 – Ecological recovery  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 30

ENV3 – A cleaner, low-waste city  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 32

ENV4 – Climate resilience  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 34

ENV5 – Global leadership .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 35

Theme 4: Health, care and wellbeing 37

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 38

HCW1 – Transforming care  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 39

HCW2 – Mental health and wellbeing  .  .  .  .  .  . 41

HCW3 – Poverty .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 43

Theme 5: Homes and communities 45

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 45

HC1 – Housing Supply  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 46

HC2 – Low and zero carbon homes .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 48

HC3 – Homelessness  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 50

HC4 – Disability  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 52

HC5 – Community participation  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 54

Theme 6: Transport and connectivity 56

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 56

TC1 – Connectivity  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 57

TC2 – Improved bus services  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 59

TC3 – Safe and active travel .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 60

TC4 – Physical infrastructure  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 62

Theme 7: Effective development 
organisation 64

City Outcome indicators  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 64

EDO1 – One City  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 65

EDO2 – One Council  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 67

EDO3 – Employer of choice  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 68

EDO4 – Data driven  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 69

EDO5 – Good governance .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 70

EDO6 – Estate review .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 71

Bibliography 72

Glossary 74

Page 102



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

3

Introduction
Welcome to Bristol City Council’s Business Plan for 
the financial year April 2022 – March 2023.

We have a new Corporate Strategy this year which 
will run from 2022–2027. It identifies our overall 
vision and the seven strategic themes we’ll follow 
to achieve it. This Business Plan sets out our 
priority actions for the year ahead based around 
these themes. They are:  

1. Children and young people 

2. Economy and skills 

3. Environment and sustainability 

4. Health, care, and wellbeing 

5. Homes and communities 

6. Transport and connectivity 

7. Effective development organisation

Please refer to the Corporate Strategy to find out 
more about the background to the vision, building 
blocks, and themes.

This Business Plan sets out our main planned 
activities for April 2022 – March 2023 to achieve 
the vision and priorities we have set ourselves and 
our city. This is the first annual plan that responds 
to our new Corporate Strategy 2022–2027. 

We play a leading role in 
driving an inclusive, sustainable 

and healthy city of hope and 
aspiration, one where everyone 

can share in its success .

The approach the council is taking is to play more 
of an enabling role in the city and work with 
partners to build a better Bristol that includes 
everyone in the city’s success. We are here to 
empower citizens and work with communities to 
help identify solutions together, enhance our joint 
work and reduce demand for traditional council 
services. We will steward the city by working in 
partnership with local, regional, and national 
organisations to support the health, economic, 
social, and environmental wellbeing of Bristol. 

Our One City approach underpins this work. It 
allows us to collaborate with partners to tackle 
the largest problems we face as a city and embed 
a new model of city leadership. The One City 
approach is a key component of this annual plan, 
with different city boards being identified for each 
action we have put forward in this annual plan. 

Our leadership, values, and behaviours will 
empower the city and its citizens to overcome the 
lasting effects of COVID-19, the continuing effects 
of leaving the European Union and other global 
uncertainty.

Page 103

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/corporate-strategy


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

4

2021/22 a Year in review
	● At the start of the last financial year we were 

still in lockdown and at the early stages of the 
government’s roadmap out of lockdown. Since 
then, COVID-19 regulations have been removed 
and from February 2022 we have entered the 
next stage of living with COVID-19 and our Local 
Outbreak Management Plan has been replaced 
by a Living Safely with COVID-19 Framework.  
The future in terms of COVID-19 remains 
uncertain and this framework is based on four 
pillars of prevent, protect, treat, and respond. 
Bristol’s path to economic recovery is set out in 
One City’s Economic Recovery and Renewal 
Strategy and Citizens’ assembly 
recommendations. 

	● 2021/2022 was the first year where the UK had 
fully left the European Union. There is a lot that 
remains uncertain in the face of our post-Brexit 
relationship with the world, however, we will 
continue to monitor the impact of Brexit on 
business, social care, communities, our supply 
chain, and the council’s workforce. We’ll also 
proactively work on post-Brexit policies areas 
such as immigration and post-Brexit funding.

	● COVID-19, goods shortages, trade barriers, and 
rising energy and fuel prices have led to a rising 
cost of living crisis across the city. The cost of 
living is expected to rise further during 2022/23 
and we will support communities and citizens to 
navigate and overcome the worst impacts of 
this crisis by providing support and guidance. 
We will ensure the most deprived and 
vulnerable citizens will be safeguarded.

	● Community participation has been 
strengthened throughout the last two years, 
through community engagement, consultation, 
and co-designing key programmes of work. 
Initiatives like the citizens’ assembly were a 
successful exploration in deliberative 
democracy. We randomly selected 60 people 
from across the city with diverse experiences 
and perspectives, to discuss the question “How 
do we recover from COVID-19 and create a better 
future for all in Bristol?”. Three topics were 
chosen: climate change and housing, transport 
and health and social care. The assembly made 
16 recommendations that the council will 
assess and take forward.

Page 104



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

5

	● The We Are Bristol History Commission 
consulted with over 14,00 people about the 
future of the Colston statue and the Colston 
plinth. The final report was published in 
February and recommended that the statue 
should remain in a museum where people can 
see it and learn about history  of both the statue 
and Bristol itself.

	● The 26th UN Climate Change Conference of the 
Parties (COP26) was held in 2021. On the third 
anniversary of Bristol City Council becoming the 
first UK local authority to declare a Climate 
Emergency,  Marvin Rees, Mayor of Bristol, 
attended the event where global leaders, key 
decision-makers and experts from around the 
world met for international negotiations over 
climate change agreements and actions. Mayor 
Rees raised the issue that cities and their mayors 
should be put front and centre of any COP26 
commitments, and that national governments, 
international organisations, and private finance 
must work together to enable the scale of 
investment needed for decarbonisation.

	● In October we launched our new Belonging 
Strategy 2021–2024 for children and families. 
This new strategy sets out how we will continue 
to work together to ensure that this is a city for 
all children and young people, one which young 
people can be proud of and a place where they 
and their families can thrive.

	● Providing someone with a safe, warm, and 
secure home is one of the biggest interventions 
we can make in terms of improving life chances 
for Bristol residents.  2021 saw us launch Project 
1000, a project board whose sole aim is to 
deliver 1,000 affordable homes a year by 2024. 

The range of actions within this Business Plan 
represents an overview of the activity that 
colleagues across the council deliver daily. 
At the end of December 2021, 40 percent of the 
measures tracked were on or above the target set. 
Many indicators have continued to be impacted by 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Page 105



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

6

Sustainable Development Goals
The United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) are a framework for the key global 
challenges of economic, environmental, and social 
sustainability, which every country in the world 
agreed to deliver by 2030. They are a set of 17 
interconnected goals underpinned by 169 targets.

Bristol is committed to delivering the SDGs 
locally and is the only UK city to have conducted a 
Voluntary Local Review to map Bristol’s progress 

against the goals. In this year’s Business Plan, 
we have highlighted which actions will be 
contributing to achieving the SDGs. This mapping 
was undertaken at the target level with the specific 
SDG(s) identified. We have agreed with the West of 
England Combined Authority that the SDGs inform 
planning at a regional level. 

For more information about the specific targets 
under each goal, please visit the UN website. 

SDG 1 – No poverty: End poverty in all 

its forms, everywhere.

SD2 – Zero hunger: End hunger, achieve 
food security and improved nutrition and 
promote sustainable procurement.

SD3 – Good health and wellbeing: 
Ensure healthy lives and promote 
wellbeing for all, at all ages.

SDG 4 – Quality education: Ensure 
inclusive and equitable quality 
education and promote lifelong learning 
opportunities for all.

SDG 5 – Gender equality: Achieve 
gender equality and empower all women 
and girls.

SDG 6 – Clean water and sanitation: 
Ensure availability and sustainable 
management of water and sanitation for 
all.

SDG 7 – Affordable and clean energy: 
Ensure access to affordable, reliable, 
sustainable and modern energy for all.

SDG 8 – Decent work and economic 
growth: Promote sustained, inclusive 
and sustainable economic growth, full 
and productive employment and decent 
work for all.

SDG 9 – Industry, innovation 
and infrastructure: Build resilient 
infrastructure, promote inclusive and 
sustainable industrialisation and foster 
innovation.

SDG 10 – Reduced inequalities: Reduce 
inequality within and among countries.

SDG 11 – Sustainable cities and 
communities: Make cities and human 
settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and 
sustainable.

SDG 12 – Responsible consumption: 
Ensure sustainable consumption and 
production patterns.

SDG 13 – Climate action: Take urgent 
action to combat climate change and its 
impacts.

SDG 14 – Life below water: Conserve 
and sustainably use the oceans, seas 
and marine resources for sustainable 
development.

SDG 15 – Life on land: Protect, 
restore and promote sustainable use 
of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably 
manage forests, combat desertification, 
and halt and reverse land degradation 
and halt biodiversity loss.

SDG 16 – Peace, justice and strong 
institutions: Promote peaceful and 
inclusive societies for sustainable 
development, provide access to justice 
for all and build effective, accountable 
and inclusive institutions at all levels.

SDG 17 – Partnership for the 
goals: Strengthen the means of 
implementation and revitalise the global 
partnership for sustainable development.

Page 106

http://sdgs.un.org/goals


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

7

More about this Business Plan
The aim of our Business Plan is to show what 
actions we will deliver in 2022/23 to make 
progress against these actions. 

In this plan we set out: 

	● priority actions that the council will deliver in 
2022/2023, organised by theme and priority 
areas 

	● which part of the council (or One City Plan 
activities) and cabinet member is responsible for 
each action 

	● links to the strategies or policies mentioned 

	● a bibliography of all Bristol City Council, One City 
and national government strategies referenced

	● a glossary defining key terms used within each 
theme throughout the Business Plan 

	● how we are monitoring progress and making a 
difference 

Each theme in the Corporate Strategy has specific 
priority areas. In this plan, each priority has a 
maximum of three priority actions allocated to it. 

Within each action, we’ll set out:

	● the part of the council that is responsible for its 
delivery 

	● which cabinet portfolio it sits in

	● SDGs linked to the action 

	● which One City Board the action is related to

Our Approach
Strategic actions and priority measures of our  
success underpin this plan. Some actions may 
relate to more than one commitment but are 
listed next to the most relevant one. Some actions 
are anticipated subject to full consideration and 
a decision being made by the council’s cabinet 
further into the year.

To ensure there is ownership of the priority 
actions set out in the Business Plan and how these 
actions interlink, each theme in the Business 
Plan will have a nominated owner. This will be a 
member of the council’s senior leadership team. 
This approach will enable us to respond to the 
city’s priority actions as One Council and ensure 
cross cutting issues are effectively governed across 
multiple service areas.

For this Business Plan, COVID-19 renewal and 
recovery, inclusion and pro-actively tackling 
inequality and our Corporate Strategy building 
blocks has been embedded into the themes 
and commitments that underpin our Corporate 
Strategy. Our ongoing response and approach to 
renewal is being delivered across all areas of the 
council. The ongoing impact of the pandemic and 
its long-term effects have become an integral 
part of how all our services operate and how the 
organisation plans for the foreseeable future. 

This plan covers a significant amount of work 
carried out by council colleagues but a range of 
partners will also contribute to its success. We still 
face uncertainty with COVID-19, even if we’re in a 
very different position to where we’ve been in the 
past. This plan outlines our key priorities that will 
continue to transform the city so that it meets our 
short and long-term needs. 

Page 107



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

8

Our Obligations 
Part of the council’s role is to meet statutory and 
regulatory obligations and other requirements set 
through national legislation or policy. 

Examples include highways maintenance, waste 
collection or providing sufficient school places. To 
keep this plan brief, the actions only refer to these 
where they are relevant to a key commitment. 

We will always comply with our legally required 
obligations as well.

We also now have a legal obligation, after a full 
council vote, to hold a referendum on Thursday 
5 May to determine how Bristol City Council is run. 

 

Measures of success:  
a new performance framework 
The council has carried out a review of how 
corporate performance is measured, reported and 
managed. 

Through this review we have sought to increase 
the use of technology, data and new digital 
tools to improve how we monitor and manage 
performance. This new way of monitoring 
performance reflects the new Corporate Strategy 
2022–27 and provides us the opportunity to create 
a new approach to performance.

The new performance framework, which will 
be published alongside the Business Plan, will 
monitor progress through a blend of actions and 
performance metrics that will report quarterly and 
annually and will look at a range of performance 
measures as well as progress updates. 

Performance metrics will be in two key categories: 
City Outcomes and Business Plan priority metrics. 
In addition, Business Plan actions will now also be 
reported against each quarter as follows: 

	● City Outcomes – These are annual indicators 
centred on the new Corporate Strategy themes.  
They are primarily outcome focused measures 
that are longer term in nature and slower 
moving, reporting annually (often in arrears) 
and look to assess the overall ‘health of the city’.

	● Business Plan priority metrics– These will mainly 
be quarterly measures, centred on the new 
Corporate Strategy priorities, with direct data 
available to measure progress throughout the 
year. Often these are also metrics the council 
has more direct responsibility over, and so will 
be used to measure council performance.

	● Business Plan priority actions – Progress 
updates for each of the priority actions will 
be reported on quarterly. This will provide 
consistent reporting on all priorities, including 
those without specific quantitative metrics, and 
will give a more rounded view of the council’s 
performance.

Targets for 2022/23 will be published in July 
2022, once we have seen and considered the final 
results of our performance in 2021/22. These 
measures and targets will be published on the 
Performance page on our website, along with 
quarterly performance reports.

Page 108

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/corporate-strategy
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/corporate-strategy
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/council-spending-performance/performance


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

9

Theme 1: Children and young people
A city where every child belongs and every child gets the best start in life, whatever 
circumstances they were born in to. 

We have made a commitment to our children, set out in our 2018 Children’s Charter, which is aligned 

with the principles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. 

Our ambitions for the city’s children include having a healthy and happy life, being safe, having access 

to an education that develops their potential, having the opportunity to influence decisions in the city 

and growing up with a sense of belonging and pride. Children are the future of the city, and we must 

help them thrive and become actively engaged citizens who will take on the city’s future vision and 

direction. Bristol is vibrant and thriving. However, not all children have equal experiences of living in and 

growing up in Bristol. We know that some communities and age groups have been impacted more by 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Inequalities have been amplified and if we are to mitigate the adverse impact 

of this across our communities and build back better within a generation, we must put children and 

young people at the heart of our recovery and invest in them and their families. 

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, many children and young people have proven to be resilient, 

flexible and dynamic. However, a report by the Education Endowment Foundation, indicated that a 

decade of progress to reduce the gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged children was 

wiped out by the first national lockdown. We cannot afford to fail our city’s greatest and most creative 

resource. In 2021 we launched our Belonging Strategy, aimed at reducing inequality and building 

inclusion so that all of our children and young people can grow up in a city where they can be nurtured, 

develop a confident sense of self and identity, and equitably benefit from all that Bristol has to offer.

City Outcome indicators for Children and Young People theme 

	● KPI 1: Improve the percentage of 17–18 year old care leavers in employment, education or training

	● KPI 2: Reduce percentage of children with excess weight (10–11 year olds)

	● KPI 3:  Improve the percentage of 16–17 year olds (academic age) in employment, education or 
training

	● KPI 4:  Key stage 2: Increase percentage of disadvantaged pupils achieving the expected standard in 
reading, writing and maths

	● KPI 5:  Key stage 4: Attainment 8 – Reduce the gap between disadvantaged and non-
disadvantaged pupils

	● KPI 6: Reduce percentage of children living in poverty (low-income families)

	● KPI 7: Increase the number of new specialist school places available

	● KPI 8: Reduce incidents of domestic abuse involving children

Page 109

https://dmscdn.vuelio.co.uk/publicitem/2111e8b7-07be-47c4-a0f9-af7abbcd3743
https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

10

CYP1 

Child friendly city
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Children and young people are 
supported by the city, their community, and the council to have the 
best possible start in life. They can reach their full potential and are 
kept safe from and supported to overcome violence, abuse and other 
adverse childhood experiences, whatever the circumstances of their 
birth.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Actions for CYP1 – Child Friendly City: 

Action: 

Keep children and young people safe in all settings and promote their wellbeing by working closely 
with the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership. We will do this by rolling out Trauma-Informed Practice, 
working with City Partners to reduce violence and building on our knowledge of what works by 
learning from best practice and peers.

Building blocks:   Resilience 

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 3, 16

One City Board: Children and Young People

Action: 

Support and welcome newly arrived children, including refugees and unaccompanied asylum 
seekers to our city. We will find suitable accommodation, or foster carers within the city and develop 
clear processes and pathways to ensure every child is safe, nurtured and has timely access to 
education provision.

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion    Development and Delivery  

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement 

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 4, 10, 16

One City Board: Children and Young People

Page 110



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

11

Action: 

Increase apprenticeships across the city and within the council targeted towards children and young 
people in care and care leavers.

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion    Development and Delivery  

Lead area: People (Children and Families Services, Education, Learning and Skills Improvement)

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 1, 4, 8, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People, Economy and Skills

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1:  Percentage of audited children’s social work records rated good or better

	● KPI 2:  Reduce incidents of serious violence involving children and young people

	● KPI 3:  Increase percentage of workforce trained to be trauma and adversity champions (or trained 
in trauma and adversity awareness)

Page 111



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

12

CYP2 

Supported to thrive
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Children, young people, parents, and 
carers have access to and benefit from lifelong services – such as 
family hubs, parenting and community learning courses and youth 
zones – that support them to thrive. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Actions for CYP2 – Supported to thrive:

Action: 

Deliver a youth zone in the south of the city which will offer access to more than 20 activities per 
night for children and young people, including football, boxing and climbing, creative arts, music, 
drama and employability training.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 3, 4, 8, 10, 16

One City Board: Children and Young People

Action: 

Provide early help to families through newly formed family hubs, which will be physical and virtual 
spaces in our communities where children (aged 0–19, up to 25 years old with special educational 
needs and disabilities) and families can access early help from a variety of agencies.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 1, 3, 4, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Page 112



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

13

Action: 

Target support to children and young people in need by reviewing and delivering bespoke youth 
services, short breaks for disabled children,  home to school travel and alternative learning provision.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 1, 2, 3, 4, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

Performance metrics for this priority

	● KPI 1:  Increase percentage  of Family Outcomes achieved through the Supporting 
Families programme 

	● KPI 2:  Reduce incidents of domestic abuse involving children

Page 113



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

14

CYP3 

Equity in education
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Help improve educational outcomes, 
value diversity, and reduce educational inequality at all stages of 
education. Work with education providers to become an inclusive, 
zero-exclusion city, making sure high-quality specialist provision is 
effectively targeted. Ensure that the education system can meet the 
needs of COVID-19 recovery and provides children and young people 
with the academic, social, and emotional development they need. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Actions for CYP3 – Equity in education:

Action: 

Work with partners across the city to ensure that every child benefits from high quality education. 
Raise standards across Bristol schools, ensure that we meet or exceed the national average for 
Ofsted ratings that at least 86 percent* of Bristol schools attain ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ ratings, 
by examining performance data for schools and  creating improvement plans to improvements to 
education outcomes.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 4, 17

One City Board: Children and Young People

Action: 

Tackle high levels of absence and suspensions through the delivery of the Belonging Strategy and 
improved provision for special educational needs. This will improve outcomes and inclusion across 
the city’s schools and reduce inequality amongst pupils.

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 4, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

* This is the national average at the time of publication

Page 114



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

15

Action:

Deliver improvements for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) and care leavers; by working with schools and settings to become more inclusive and 
increasing the amount and range of specialist provision across Bristol to reduce the number of 
children with SEND using alternative provision.

Building blocks: 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 4, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1:  Increase percentage of schools and settings rated ‘Good’ or ‘Better’ by Ofsted

	● KPI 2:  Reduce the number of suspensions from primary schools

	● KPI 3:  Reduce the number of suspensions from secondary schools

Page 115



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

16

CYP4 

Intergenerational equality
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Lead city-wide approaches to 
tackling the root causes of structural inequality, breaking cycles of 
disadvantage, poverty, and trauma across generations to improve 
health and life opportunities.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion 

Actions for CYP4 – Intergenerational equality

Action: 

Work with partners to join up activity and offer employment support and work experience for 
young people not in education, employment or training (NEET), migrants, refugees, asylum seekers 
and others experiencing poverty. Including actively supporting individuals to transition into quality 
post-16 destinations. 

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 1, 4, 8, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People, Economy and Skills

Action: 

Pilot the use of supported group living for young people at risk of exploitation and address isolation 
and loneliness.

Building blocks:  Resilience 

Lead area: People - Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 3, 5, 10, 16

One City Board: Children and Young People

Page 116



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

17

Action: 

Invest in our social workers by providing new evidence-based training programmes to ensure that we 
offer families the best support so children can thrive.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services 

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

Sustainable Development Goal(s): 1, 3, 4, 8, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People, Economy and Skills

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 117



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

18

Theme 2: Economy and skills 
Economic growth that builds inclusive and resilient communities, decarbonises the 
city, and offers equity of opportunity. 

Bristol has created one of the most vibrant and 
successful economies in the UK, but one that has 
not distributed its wealth equally and may face 
medium to long-term harm from the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. An inclusive economy with 
equal access to employment, skills and progression 
for all is a foundation for a healthy population.

Nationally, among the Core Cities, Bristol has 
experienced sustained growth in both population 
and economic scale and has the highest 
productivity levels per capita, employment and 
qualification rates of the major cities. Within the 
West of England, Bristol is the primary economic 
centre with nearly half of all the jobs (44.8 percent) 
and enterprises (40.1 percent). 

However, our city is also constrained by historic deficiencies such as public transport capacity, a housing 
crisis that risks shutting out many of our essential and key workers, and persistent inequalities that mean 
15 percent of our residents live in some of the most deprived areas in England. The number of young 
people in Bristol attending university is low and this can affect their income and career progression later 
in life. People from deprived parts of the city and some demographic groups, including black, asian and 
minority ethnic communities, and women, have faced inequalities at work and in education.

The COVID-19 crisis has had an effect on local businesses and sectors, and it has also drawn attention 
to the economic and social importance of key social infrastructure including the voluntary, community, 
childcare and adult social care sectors. The recovery process is an opportunity to protect those areas 
of the economy vital to the future development of the city. However, we are not aiming to take our 
economy back to where it was. Instead, we aim for a more sustainable, carbon neutral, ecologically 
positive approach, and a fair, inclusive and competitive economy that supports growth across all our 
communities for the benefit of local people.

City Outcome indicators for Economy and Skills theme 

	● KPI 1: Increase percentage of procurement spend with ‘small and medium sized enterprises’ (SME’s) 

	● KPI 2: Improve the overall employment rate of the working age population 

	● KPI 3: Increase the take-up of free early educational entitlement by eligible two-year-olds

	● KPI 4:  Increase the percentage of people living in deprived areas who have access to the 
internet at home

	● KPI 5:  Increase the number of adults aged 19+ who progress from all employment support activities 
into employment or better

	● KPI 6: Increase take-up of out-of-work benefitsPage 118



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

19

Our Economy and Skills Priorities for 2022–2027 are: 

ES1 

Regeneration  
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Enable the growth, development 
and regeneration of the city in an inclusive, sustainable, healthy and 
resilient way. Attract investment, develop growth sectors to create 
and retain decent jobs, and improve access to opportunities afforded 
by regeneration for disadvantaged areas and groups of people. Work 
to future-proof the city through sound spatial planning and progress 
the Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone as one of the UK’s largest 
regeneration projects.

Building blocks:   Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion   

 Resilience    World Class Employment 

Actions for ES1: Regeneration

Action:

Deliver large-scale investment regeneration projects – to  deliver new jobs, homes and improvement 
in places such as Temple Quarter, Western Harbour, Frome Gateway and Whitehouse Street. To 
do this we will work with local communities, city partners, developers and government and utilise 
a range of design methods and products which will create sustainable, inclusive and healthy 
communities.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   World Class Employment 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees

SDGs: 3, 8, 9, 11, 13, 17

One City Board: Economy and Skills 

Action:

Support the renewal and recovery of the high streets and the city centre by providing advice and 
guidance, promotions and communications campaigns, landscaping, events and cultural programmes 
and deliver the city-wide vacant property grants scheme.

Building blocks:   Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability   Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees

SDGs: 3, 8, 9, 11, 13, 17

One City Board: Environment, Health and WellbeingPage 119



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

20

Action: 

Create more jobs and skills training in construction through the new Building Bristol initiative, which 
ensures all new large developments create green and sustainable opportunities.

Building blocks:   Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion   

 Resilience    World Class Employment  

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 4, 8, 9, 13

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed

Page 120



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

21

ES2 

Access to employment  
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Lead partners in developing skills and 
routes into employment that tackle structural inequality. Plan for how 
the economy will change in the future and support people to access 
good jobs whatever their formal level of qualification. This applies 
whether people are starting out, re-entering or migrating into the job 
market, or changing roles and needing new skills. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Actions for ES2: Access to Employment

Action: 

Commission a new Employment Land Strategy to shape the Strategic Development Strategy and 
Local Plan. This will involve working with property, planning and regeneration teams to ensure that 
the city has the employment space it needs to meet new demands following the impact of COVID-19, 
changes in the economy, climate and ecological emergencies and competing pressures for land use, 
such as housing.

Building blocks:   Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion Resilience    World Class Employment  

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees

SDGs: 8, 9, 11, 13

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action:

Support businesses, social enterprises and cultural organisations to become more resilient, 
sustainable and better placed to win contracts and investment; through provision of advice, guidance, 
local support, communications and signposting.

Building blocks:  Resilience    World Class Employment  

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees, Finance, Governance and Performance – 
Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 8, 9

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Page 121



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

22

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1:  Reduce the percentage of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years-old who are not in 
employment, education or training and destination unknown

	● KPI 2:  Increase the percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care who are in paid 
employment

	● KPI 3:  Increase the number of adults in low pay work and receiving benefits accessing in-work support

	● KPI 4: Increase experience of work opportunities for priority groups

	● KPI 5: Increase the amount of Bristol City Council apprenticeship levy spent

Page 122



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

23

ES3 

Good growth 
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Help create inclusive, sustainable, and 
resilient economic growth, positively influencing wider economic 
systems. Work towards making Bristol a real living wage city with 
access to decent jobs for all. Secure social value and community 
benefits from growth and development, while using our direct power 
as a funder and buyer to embed social value and tackle inequality. This 
includes co-developing the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector, cultural sector, and community capacity. 

Building blocks:   Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion  

Resilience    World Class Employment 

Actions for ES3: Good Growth

Action:

Drive sustainability through the council’s procurement and commissioning supply chain and processes 
to help the council promote the voluntary, community and social enterprise sectors and  achieve its 
carbon neutral, climate and ecologically resilient and wildlife rich city by 2030. Deliver training and 
market awareness to ensure these processes are fully embedded in existing and new contracts.

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resources – Finance

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 8, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Drive inclusive growth and deliver social value through maximising opportunities for local skills, 
training and job creation arising from new development through the planning process.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Environmental Sustainability    World Class Employment 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees, Finance, Governance and Performance – 
Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 8, 9, 10

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority:
	● KPI 1: Increase the number of organisations in Bristol that are living wage accredited

	● KPI 2:  Increase the level of social value generated (quantified notional value) from procurement and 
other council expenditure.

	● KPI 3: Increase the number of black, asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported
Page 123



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

24

ES4 

Childcare  
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Help parents and carers to 
access and stay in employment and/or education by developing 
a city-wide approach to increasing the availability of quality 
affordable community and workplace-based childcare. 

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Actions for ES4: Childcare

Action:

Secure free early education entitlement provision for all eligible children (eligible two-year-olds and 
all three and four-year olds1).

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 4, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

Action:

Secure sufficient childcare for working parents, or parents in education and training by reviewing 
latest census data to ensure sufficient places available in each ward and promoting childcare to 
eligible families for 2,3 and 4 year old provision.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement 

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 4, 5, 8, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Increase the percentage of childcare (non-domestic) settings rated ‘Good’ or ‘Better’ by Ofsted

1: Eligibility based on qualifying benefits and allowances, which is determined by Department for Work and PensionsPage 124



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

25

ES5 

Digital Inclusion
Our Corporate Strategy vision: Work with partners to tackle digital 
poverty, helping make sure citizens and voluntary, community and 
social enterprise (VCSE) organisations have the equipment, internet 
access, skills, and knowledge they need to access online opportunities 
effectively and safely.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion 

Actions for ES5:

Action:

Establish IT hubs and mini-IT suites in deprived communities as part of our digital inclusion plan, 
where residents can have access to digital hardware, data, skills and training.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 4, 8, 9, 10

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action:

Increase access to technology enabled care and maximise the use of digital technology to support 
people to live independently at home (e.g. use of technology such as falls monitors, medication 
prompts or digital systems).

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Adult Social Care

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care – Cllr Helen Holland

SDGs: 3, 9, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Page 125



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

26

Action:

By 2024, deliver a digital service for Bristol City Council housing residents. Reviewing residents’ 
access to information and services to identify areas for improvement and ensure we have the right IT 
systems and tools in place to deliver effective services.

Building blocks:   Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing and Landlord Services

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 1, 3, 9, 10

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1:  Increase the number of people able to access care and support using technology enabled care

Page 126



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

27

Theme 3: Environment and sustainability 
Decarbonise the city, support the recovery of nature and lead a just transition to 
a low‑carbon future.

Bristol is committed to become carbon neutral, 

climate resilient and better for nature by 2030. To 

achieve this, over the 2020s we need to radically 

rethink how we live, work and invest in the city. 

We also need to prepare for the changing climate, 

which is having impacts on health, livelihoods, 

food security, raw materials, water supply and 

economic growth.

As we work with partners to decarbonise Bristol 

and create a more circular economy, we must 

recognise that we cannot uniformly pass costs on to citizens. The transition to a low-carbon city 

needs meaningful national investment and support from the government and investors. The whole 

city system needs to take on the challenge and responsibility to act, from making the big changes in 

industries to providing decent employment that enables more people to do their bit.

We need similar urgency and collaboration when tackling the ecological emergency facing the 

city. Working alongside partners, we must radically transform the way we manage our city and the 

surrounding countryside if we’re to halt and reverse declines in wildlife and restore a healthy natural 

environment for people and wildlife. We are working together as a city to ensure that 30 percent of 

Bristol’s land is managed for the benefit of wildlife by 2030. 

As we plan for the future and update old infrastructure, we will balance environmental and ecological 

needs with social and economic ones. These are not necessarily in competition with each other. By 

working together with partners and citizens, we can create places that are fit for a low-carbon, nature-

friendly future while offering a better quality of life.

City Outcome indicators for Environment and Sustainability theme

	● KPI 1: Reduce the total CO
2
 emissions within Bristol (in kg tonnes)

	● KPI 2: Reduce percentage of people who feel that street litter is a problem in their neighbourhood 

	● KPI 3:  Increase the city’s tree canopy cover

	● KPI 4: Increase the percentage of citizens who have created space for nature

	● KPI 5:  Increase the percentage of Bristol’s waterways that have water quality that supports 
healthy wildlife

Page 127



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

28

ENV1 

Carbon neutral 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Drive delivery of the One 
City Climate Strategy aim for the city to be carbon neutral 
for all emissions by 2030. Work to secure major external 
investment, including £1 billion through the City Leap 
programme. Bring everyone with us in our just transition 
to a low-carbon future. 

Building blocks:   Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Actions for ENV1:

Action:

Launch the City Leap energy partnership joint venture. City Leap is an ambitious new approach to 
partnership between the public and private sector designed to attract £1 billion of new investment 
into Bristol’s energy projects and support the creation of a zero-carbon, smart energy city by 2030.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech  

SDGs: 7, 9, 11, 13, 17

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Deliver our Climate and Ecological Emergency Programme that will contribute to Bristol City Council’s 
2025 climate and ecological goals. This will include delivering projects promoting sustainable food, 
the pesticide amnesty and supporting community action by offering small financial grants.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 2 ,3, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15

One City Board: Environment

Page 128



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

29

Action:

Monitor and report on the delivery of the One City Climate Strategy with partners and support the 
One City Environment Board, key city networks and initiatives such as the Climate Leaders Group.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Reduce the council’s direct carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (in tonnes)

Page 129



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

30

ENV2 

Ecological recovery  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Drive delivery of the One City 
Ecological Emergency Strategy and the council’s own action 
plan. Increase space for nature, reduce the use of pesticides, 
make waterways cleaner and reduce everyone’s use of 
products that undermine the health of wildlife and wider 
ecosystems. Double the city’s tree canopy by 2045. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Resilience  

Actions for ENV2:

Action:

As part of our response to the ecological emergency, develop planning policies that protect and 
improve biodiversity within the forthcoming local plan, including delivery of a 10 percent increase in 
biodiversity on development sites.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 14, 15

One City Board: Homes and Communities 

Action:

Create a Bristol Blue-Green Infrastructure Strategy to ensure that enhancing the natural environment 
is embedded into planning policy, council projects and new developments. Blue-Green infrastructure 
refers to the use of blue elements, including rivers, canals, ponds, wetlands, floodplains, water 
treatment facilities, and green elements, such as trees, forests, fields and parks, in urban and 
land-use planning.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 9, 11, 14, 15

One City Board: Environment

Page 130



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

31

Action:

Monitor and report on the delivery of the One City Ecological Emergency Strategy with partners and 
support the One City Environment Board, key networks and initiatives.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 14, 15, 17

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Reduce Bristol City Council’s use of pesticides

	● KPI 2: Increase the percentage of the council’s land managed for the benefit of wildlife

Page 131



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

32

ENV3 

A cleaner, low‑waste city

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Create a cleaner city and become 
a national leader in reducing waste. Help the city reduce its 
consumption of products and transform its relationship with waste, 
increasing recycling, repair, reuse and sharing of goods. Use waste to 
create energy. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Actions for ENV3:

Action:

Trial a new way of working with Bristol Waste which will adopt a neighbourhood approach to street 
cleaning and will provide a focus on local communities. This approach has been successful in the 
Big Tidy initiative.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 12, 13

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Work with businesses and commercial waste companies to deliver a cleaner, more sustainable 
approach to commercial waste across the whole of the city. This approach is being trialled in the Old 
City where commercial bins will be removed from the streets. Discussions are also being held with 
waste contractors and businesses to see how we can collectively improve the look of the streets.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 12, 13

One City Board: Environment

Page 132



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

33

Action:

Improve the ways citizens can report fly-tipping, graffiti and other waste and street cleaning issues.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resources – Digital Transformation 

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 11, 12, 13, 16

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Reduce the residual untreated waste sent to landfill (per household)

	● KPI 2: Increase the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting

	● KPI 3: Reduce fly-tipping in Bristol

Page 133



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

34

ENV4 

Climate resilience 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Minimise our contribution to future 
shocks and stresses, and invest in infrastructure and systems that cool 
the city and help us adapt to the effects of climate change. Do this in 
ways that provide inclusive, sustainable economic growth. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Resilience   

Actions for ENV4:

Action:

Improve the resilience of the city to the impacts of climate change, for example hotter summers 
through development of the Local Plan and any related policies. 

Building blocks: Development and Delivery, Environmental Sustainability

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration - Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 1, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Homes and Communities 

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 134



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

35

ENV5 

Global leadership 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Show global leadership in 
delivering the UN Sustainable Development Goals at a local level 
and developing best practice across international networks. Work 
with partners to advocate for a greater voice for cities within 
national and international decision-making, including the UN, 
UK100, and C40. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   

Actions for ENV5:

Action:

Work with partners and experts from Harvard University to explore how Bristol can reduce food 
waste and make the best use of excess food, such as tackling poverty or producing energy.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resource – Policy and Strategic Partnership

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 10, 12, 13

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Raise the voices of cities at a local, national and international level on climate change and the 
ecological emergency.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resource – Policy and Strategic Partnership

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees and Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 
– Cllr Nicola Beech 

SDGs: 10, 11, 16, 17

One City Board: Environment

Page 135



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

36

Action:

Secure investment to support the climate and ecological emergency, and key regeneration sites 
across the city.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resource – Policy and Strategic Partnership

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees and Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 
– Cllr Nicola Beech 

SDGs: 10, 11, 16, 17

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority: 

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 136



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

37

Theme 4: Health, care and wellbeing 
Tackling health inequalities to help people stay healthier and happier throughout 
their lives. 

There is clear evidence that social and economic inequalities lead to health inequalities. Inequality 

of income, in housing conditions, education and schooling, and workplace conditions can all lead to 

persistent stress and poverty that result in lower levels of wellbeing and more ill-health along with 

challenges for carers.

 We will take a public health approach to tackling health inequalities, focusing on preventative and 

early intervention approaches that are person-centred and rooted in communities. This will include 

working across the whole system to find opportunities to improve health and wellbeing, focusing on 

the factors that contribute to good health and helping people maximise their wellbeing, rather than 

only responding to ill health. As part of this we will continue to take a Health in All Policies approach, 

meaning that whenever we develop a new policy we consider how we can pro-actively benefit people’s 

health and wellbeing.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on health, care, and wellbeing in Bristol, both directly 

from the virus and indirectly from the government restrictions and the effects on the economy and care 

sector. It has reinforced existing health inequalities in Bristol, with a much greater impact being seen on 

older people, citizens living in more deprived areas, individual carers and people from Black, Asian and 

other minority ethnic backgrounds. The urgency of dealing with COVID-19 has also helped strengthen 

partnership working across the city, and we want to continue to build on this to raise living standards 

and health outcomes for all, ensuring equity for the most deprived in the city.

Page 137



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

38

City Outcome indicators for Health, Care and Wellbeing theme

	● KPI 1:  Reduce the percentage of people in the 10 percent most deprived areas of Bristol who report 
below national average mental wellbeing 

	● KPI 2:  Reduce the percentage of households which have experienced moderate or worse food 
insecurity

	● KPI 3:  Reduce the percentage of households in the most deprived areas using a food bank or charity 
in the last year

	● KPI 4:  Increase the percentage of adult social care service users who feel that they have control over 
their daily life

	● KPI 5: Reduce the suicide rate per 100,000 population

	● KPI 6: Improve healthy life expectancy for men

	● KPI 7: Improve healthy life expectancy for women

	● KPI 8:  Reduce the life expectancy gap between men living in the most and least deprived areas of 
Bristol

	● KPI 9:  Reduce the life expectancy gap between women living in the most and least deprived areas 
of Bristol

Page 138



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

39

HCW1 

Transforming care

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Work with partners to implement an 
Integrated Care System, transforming adult social care and joining 
up health, care, education, skills and community activities. Support 
people to be as resilient and independent as possible, developing their 
assets to live fulfilling lives. When more support is needed, this will be 
person-centred, offering people choice and control. Co-create a system 
that takes a public health approach to achieve health and wellbeing 
equality for local people of all ages and backgrounds. Work together to 
attract and retain a suitable health and care workforce.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   World Class Employment 

Actions for HCW1:

Action:

Support people to live independently at home through commissioning a transformative model of 
home care support that is responsive to the needs of citizens. The focus will be on creating more 
flexible, community based, local home care that will promote wellbeing and independence.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Adult Social Care

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Action:

Through co-design with service users, families and care providers; develop and recommission 
extra-care housing, and supported living services that help people to live independently within 
their communities.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People - Adult Social Care

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Page 139



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

40

Action:

Drive new partnerships with the NHS, Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise sector 
organisations and local authorities to develop and implement the Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System which aims to foster partnership, collaboration and joined up 
working across health, care and wellbeing systems.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Adult Social Care and Communities and Public Health

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10, 11, 17

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Reduce the number of service users (aged 18-64-years-old) in Tier 3 (long term care)

	● KPI 2: Reduce the number of service users (aged 65+) in Tier 3 (long term care)

	● KPI 3:  Increase the percentage Of service users (aged 18–64 years old) who receive Tier 3 (long term 
care), increase the percentage receiving care at home or tenancy 

	● KPI 4:  Increase the percentage of service users (aged 65+) who receive Tier 3 (long term care), 
increase the percentage receiving care at home or tenancy

	● KPI 5: Reduce the percentage of contacts to Adult Social Care (aged 18–64) starting Tier 3 services

	● KPI 6: Reduce the percentage of contacts to Adult Social Care (aged 65+) starting Tier 3 services

	● KPI 7:  Increase the percentage of Bristol City Council regulated Care Quality Commission care 
service providers where provision is rated ‘Good’ or ‘Better’

Page 140



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

41

HCW2 

Mental health and wellbeing  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Alongside partners, increase mental 
health support and training to help tackle the causes of poor mental 
health and wellbeing such as adverse childhood experiences and 
trauma. Co-develop community and cultural assets that reduce 
inequalities and help build resilience. Make sure there is better 
integration across local mental health systems, with improved services 
and outcomes. 

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Action:

Improve outcomes for adults experiencing multiple disadvantages by testing a more joined-up, 
person-centred approach with a range of organisations in local areas through the Changing Futures 
programme.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People - Adult Social Care 

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Action:

Improve outcomes for adults with mental health needs by developing the Community Mental Health 
Framework. This will provide more joined up and easier to access support within local communities 
that are flexible to the needs of individuals and help prevent as well as support people with mental 
health needs.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Resilience  

Lead area: People – Adult Social Care  

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Page 141



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

42

Action:

Better mental health and wellbeing through the delivery of Thrive Bristol which is a ten-year 
programme focusing on how different parts of our city – such as our communities, our places of 
education and work, and our homes – can keep us mentally healthy.

Building blocks: Resilience 

Lead area: People – Communities and Public Health 

Cabinet lead: Cllr Ellie King – Cabinet member for Communities and Public Health 

SDGs: 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Performance metrics for this priority

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 142



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

43

HCW3 

Poverty  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Tackle the root causes 
of poverty, reducing the impact of social and economic 
disadvantage on the health of different groups of people. 
Take action to help 10,000 households in Bristol suffering 
from food insecurity, including access to culturally diverse, 
nutritional food and building on the success of being a Gold 
Sustainable Food City. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   World Class Employment 

Actions for HCW3:

Action: 

Deliver the Fuel Poverty Action Plan and provide guidance and advice through a food and fuel poverty 
resource and information hub.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Communities and Public Health

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 1, 3, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Through adopting the One City Food Equality strategy we will invest in solutions that create fair 
and affordable access to food, create a system for monitoring food inequality and implement a 
communications strategy which will provide information about services which can support people 
experiencing food or financial hardship.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Communities and Public Health

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 1, 2, 3, 10

One City Board: Environment

Page 143



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

44

Action:

Provide emergency payments to reduce food and fuel poverty and housing costs through the Local 
Crisis and Prevention fund and other schemes such as Free School Meals holiday vouchers and 
Discretionary Housing Payments.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: Resources – Finance 

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 1, 2, 3, 7

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 144



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

45

Theme 5: Homes and communities 
Healthy, resilient, and inclusive neighbourhoods with fair access to decent, affordable homes. 

Having a stable home and community to belong to are key to feeling positively connected to others 
and the city. We want everyone to be able to experience a community that is safe and healthy, helps 
them be an engaged citizen, and lead a meaningful collective social and cultural life. However, Bristol’s 
appeal as a desirable place to live and work has meant high house prices and high rents, making the 
city unaffordable for many. 

 This means there are large and growing disparities and inequalities in fair access to a decent home 
for many people in Bristol. The COVID-19 pandemic has further highlighted and reinforced existing 
inequalities. Areas of high deprivation may be more polluted, have less green and healthy space, 
or reduced access to other areas of the city for work opportunities and social activities. One of the 
recommendations from the recent Citizens’ Assembly was that we fundamentally need to ‘re-imagine 
the places we live so that they are people centred’.

The city is rebuilding its thriving cultural and creative sector, so everyone has an equal chance to 
participate, to enjoy cultural assets, and to understand the history that has shaped Bristol to become 
the city it is today, ensuring a fair distribution of cultural capital. We will build on Bristol’s cultural offer 
to continue its reputation for inclusivity, sustainability, safety, vibrancy and sense of uniqueness. We 
will also invest in grassroots and professional sports clubs to increase the level of resident participation 
in sport and physical activity in their everyday lives. Our ambitious Future Parks Programme will 
help shape the future of Bristol’s parks and green spaces by providing healthy outdoor spaces for all 
residents to enjoy across the city.

We know from our annual Quality of Life survey that residents want to feel safe in their communities. 
Over the past 24 months the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership has taken a city-wide approach to 
tackling harassment, hate crime, and discrimination. The partnership has worked collaboratively with 
the relevant agencies to provide a person-centred approach to safeguarding and promoting people’s 
welfare. We will continue to take a zero-tolerance approach to abuse, or crime based on sex, disability, 
gender reassignment, race, age, religion, or sexuality.

City Outcome indicators for Homes and Communities theme

	● KPI 1:  Increase the percentage of respondents who volunteer or help out in their community at 
least three times a year

	● KPI 2: Increase the percentage of people who take part in cultural activities at least once a month

	● KPI 3:  Reduce anti-social behaviour incidents reported

	● KPI 4: Increase the number of new homes delivered in Bristol

	● KPI 5: Reduce the percentage of people whose day to day life is affected by fear of crime

Page 145



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

46

HC1 

Housing supply  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Ensure the affordability, availability, 
diversity and sustainability of housing for all. This includes 
accelerating home-building in the city to at least 2,000 homes each 
year, with at least 1,000 affordable, by 2024. Build and retain new 
social housing; review the system for allocating social housing; 
provide more supported and extra-care housing for those who need 
it; pursue a ‘living rent’ in the city; and ensure there are strong long-
term plans for the council’s own housing stock and the use of land in 
the city.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Actions for HC1:

Action:

Review access to housing for people with social care needs to live independently in their communities 
by improving the lettings process and enabling them to be eligible for band one priority on housing 
waiting lists. Continue to deliver outcomes of the Better Lives at Home programme which is a 
partnership between adult social care and housing to develop more accessible housing for people 
with care and social care needs in the community.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People - Adult Social Care 

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System – Cllr Helen Holland 

SDGs: 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Support the delivery of 1,000 low and zero carbon, affordable homes by 2024 by investing £12 million 
this year and providing development expertise to partners.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing Delivery , Homes and Landlord Services – Housing 
Delivery

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 7, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Page 146



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

47

Action:

Improve how council and social housing is allocated and let in Bristol to make the process more user 
friendly, and also makes best use of housing supply from our existing stock to ensure priority is given 
to those most in need in the city.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Homes and Landlord Services – Housing Options

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 10, 11

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority

	● KPI 1: Reduce the number of empty council properties

	● KPI 2: Increase the number of private sector dwellings returned into occupation

	● KPI 3: Increase the number of affordable homes delivered in Bristol

	● KPI 4: Reduce average re-let times (all properties)

Page 147



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

48

HC2 

Low and zero carbon homes  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Work to decarbonise housing 
while improving warmth and benefitting people’s health. 
This includes building innovative, low or zero carbon homes, 
retrofitting existing housing stock, promoting schemes for 
private homeowners, and exploring innovative financing and 
modern methods of construction. 

 Environmental Sustainability   Resilience  

Actions for HC2:

Action:

Develop the Local Plan and related planning policies to create requirement for zero carbon housing, to 
help meet our goal of Bristol being carbon neutral by 2030.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Development of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees, Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom 
Renhard, Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 7, 11, 13

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Invest £97million between 2022–2030 into council-owned homes for energy efficiency and carbon 
retrofitting measures. The funds will be spent on measures such as wall insulation schemes and a 
programme of solar panel installations. This will ensure all homes reach a minimum EPC (energy 
performance certificate) of C by 2030.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing Delivery 

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard, Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – 
Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 7, 11, 12, 13

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Page 148



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

49

Action:

Increase the use of modern method of construction (MMC) and other innovative technologies to 
deliver new, sustainable and low carbon homes on council owned land. Working with Goram Homes, 
modern methods of construction will be used to help to transform Hengrove Park into a high-quality, 
sustainable neighbourhood and public park.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing Delivery 

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard, Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – 
Cllr Nicola Beech

SDGs: 7, 11, 12, 13

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1:  Reduce the number of Council homes with an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating 
of D or lower

	● KPI 2: Increase  the number of energy efficient home installations

Page 149



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

50

HC3 

Homelessness  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Reduce and prevent homelessness 
and rough sleeping, tackling the underlying causes . Reduce the 
number of households in temporary accommodation . Where 
people have high or complex needs, take a ‘Housing First’ approach 
to provide stable accommodation at the start of providing wider 
support . Help prevent homelessness by building and retaining 
social housing, supporting good mental and physical health, 
developing employment and skills opportunities, taking ethical 
approaches to debt collection, and responding to the diverse needs 
of different people . 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion    World Class Employment 

Actions for HC3:

Action:

Develop new, as well as retaining existing successful, employment and skills programmes for rough 
sleepers and those at risk of becoming homeless.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 1, 8, 10, 11

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action:

With partners, we will increase the number of flats or bedrooms in shared houses for homeless 
people to move into when they are ready to live independently.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing and landlord services

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 1, 10, 11

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Page 150



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

51

Action:

Review the current needs of the homeless population and conduct an audit of homeless deaths in the 
city. By working with key partner agencies such as Golden Key, we will be better able to target services 
to meet needs.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Housing and Landlord Services

Cabinet lead: Housing Delivery and Homes – Cllr Tom Renhard

SDGs: 1, 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority: 

	● KPI 1: Increase the number of households where homelessness is prevented

	● KPI 2: Increase the number of households moved on into settled accommodation

	● KPI 3: Reduce the number of people sleeping rough on a single night in Bristol 

	● KPI 4: Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation

Page 151



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

52

HC4 

Disability

Our Corporate Strategy vision: : Create improved approaches, founded 
upon disability equality, to enable and support disabled people 
throughout their lives. These will be co-produced with disabled people, 
including children and young people with special educational needs, 
and city partners. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Actions for HC4:

Action:

Increase the recruitment and progression for people with disabilities through a range of specialist and 
targeted activities such as accelerated learning centres and increasing the recruitment of inclusive 
apprenticeships.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion     World Class Employment  

Lead area: People – Education, Learning and Skills Improvement

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 4, 8, 10

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Improve transition between childhood and adulthood for children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 3, 4, 8, 10

One City Board: Children and Young People

Page 152



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

53

Action:

Review the existing adult social care services that Bristol City Council currently deliver in-house to 
ensure they are delivered in the most efficient way to meet the needs of citizens. This includes either 
developing services to be more efficient or transferring the delivery to other provider partners who 
have greater expertise and can deliver better outcomes.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Lead area: People – Adult Social Care 

Cabinet lead: Adult Social Care – Cllr Helen Holland

SDGs: 3, 10, 11

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Performance metrics for this priority: 

	● KPI 1:  Increase the percentage of Final Education and Health Care Plans (EHCP) issued within 
20 weeks excluding exception cases

	● KPI 2: Increase the number of people enabled to live independently through home adaptations

	● KPI 3:  Reduce the percentage of contacts each quarter that results in a Tier 3 (long term) 
care service 

Page 153



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

54

HC5 

Community participation   

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Make sure that more people can 
actively participate in their community and in the life of the city. 
Work to make neighbourhoods safer and more accessible, with good 
local amenities and strong cultural and social networks. Build the 
power of individuals, communities and partners to play a greater 
role in managing social, cultural and community assets. Enable and 
encourage civic, political and democratic participation. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   Resilience 

Actions for HC5:

Action:

Look to transfer some sports facilities to community organisations where there is appetite for the 
community to run and manage them.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 3, 11

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Improve equality of access to information about the council’s decision-making processes, voter 
registration and standing for public office by delivering a research project on the barriers preventing 
citizens from engaging in the democratic process.

Building blocks:  Equality and Inclusion    Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Resources – Legal and Democratic Services 

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 5, 10, 16

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Page 154



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

55

Action:

Maintain a responsive, accessible, and sustainable network of libraries working with communities 
and partners for the good of local neighbourhoods and the city as a whole.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place 

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 3, 4, 10

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Increase the number of visitors to Bristol Museums Galleries and Archives

	● KPI 2:  Improve the ratio of consultation response rate for the most and least deprived 20 percent of 
Bristol citizens

	● KPI 3: Increase the levels of engagement with community development work

	● KPI 4: Increase the number of citizens participating in community clear-ups per quarter

Page 155



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

56

Theme 6: Transport and connectivity 
A more efficient, sustainable, and inclusive connection of people to people, people to 
jobs and people to opportunity.

We know that congestion, and its effect on air 
quality, is a major issue in Bristol and has an 
adverse impact on our inclusive economic growth. 
Inequality across the city exists in part due to the 
historic lack of good quality transport options 
available to connect citizens reliably and affordably 
to services, jobs, and each other. People living in 
more deprived areas often encounter worse air 
pollution, a higher proportion of traffic injuries, and 
live closer to major roads which cut across their 
communities. We have made progress in recent 
years. We have seen rising levels of public transport 
use in Bristol when other cities across the UK have 
been experiencing a decline. 

We have worked with partners to keep delivering and improving the city’s bus rapid transit scheme 
– MetroBus – which has included improved bus prioritisation measures that boosts reliability and 
prevents MetroBus and other buses getting caught up in general congestion to improve reliability. 
Bristol was also the first Cycling City in the UK, which brought in high levels of investment in cycling 
infrastructure and promotion. Bristol now has the highest proportion of people walking and cycling to 
work of any large city. 

Our ambition is for Bristol to be a city of sustainable communities that combines housing, employment, 
retail, education, training and leisure functions, all linked by a strong public transport network. We 
know that both major infrastructure and changes in behaviour take time, but over the next year we 
will make progress towards becoming a better-connected city that enables people to move around 
efficiently, with increased transport options that are accessible to and inclusive of all. We will deliver an 
improved sustainable and resilient transport network that supports Bristol’s vibrant independent local 
centres and neighbourhoods, connecting people to an attractive and thriving city centre

City Outcome indicators for Transport and Connectivity theme

	● KPI 1: Increase the percentage of people who see friends and family as much as they want to 

	● KPI 2: Reduce the proportion of deaths attributed to particulate air pollution

	● KPI 3: Reduce the percentage of people saying that traffic congestion is a problem in their area

	● KPI 4: Increase the percentage of monitoring sites that meet the annual air quality target for 

nitrogen dioxide

	● KPI 5: Increase the percentage of people travelling actively to work by walking and cycling

	● KPI 6: Satisfaction with the local bus service

Page 156



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

57

TC1 

Connectivity 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Improve physical and geographical 
connectivity to help include more people socially, educationally 
and economically. Drive progress on delivery of mass transit, 
tackle congestion and expand active travel infrastructure. Work in 
close partnership with the West of England Combined Authority 
to ensure progress on accessible public transport infrastructure, 
including additional Park and Ride facilities and pressing for mainline 
electrification. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability     Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Actions for TC1:

Action:

Progress our ambitions to develop a mass transit system by working with regional authorities to 
deliver a consultation on mass transit.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Transport

Action:

Improve connectivity across the city through a variety of projects which strengthen transport 
links. This will include Bristol’s involvement in the government’s City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement. These projects will address transport needs across the city in relation to strategic 
corridors and active travel.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Transport

Page 157



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

58

Action:

Maximise regional and national funding streams including the City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement to deliver significant transport and connectivity improvements. Priority projects for this 
year include improvements to the number 2 bus route and city centre.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Transport

Performance metrics for this priority

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 158



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

59

TC2 

Improved bus services 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Enable inclusion through better bus 
services. Work with partners to double frequency, improve safety 
and reliability,  move to a zero-emission bus fleet, and increase the 
number of routes so more places are served. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Equality and Inclusion   Resilience   

Actions for TC2:

Action:

Establish the new Portway Park and Ride, with an improved bus service, increased car park capacity, 
and a new railway station. 

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Transport

Action:

Work with the West of England Combined Authority and neighbouring local authorities to create an 
enhanced partnership with bus operators as part of the Bus Service Improvement Plan.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 17

One City Board: Transport

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Increase the number of journeys on park and ride services into Bristol

	● KPI 2: Increase the number of passenger journeys on buses

Page 159



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

60

TC3 

Safe and active travel 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Support people to make positive 
changes in their travel behaviour so they can reduce car journeys, use 
cleaner vehicles and safely enjoy the health benefits of more active 
travel (such as walking and cycling) and cleaner air. Adapt transport 
infrastructure – such as increasing electric vehicle charging points – to 
support this change. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Equality and Inclusion  

Actions for TC3:

Action:

Introduce the Clean Air Zone for Bristol to improve air quality

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech, Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 3,11,13

One City Board: Transport

Action:

Establish a regional cycling centre to replace the existing Bristol Family Cycling Centre currently at 
Hengrove Park. The new facility will combine a range of cycling services, including teaching people 
to cycle, rehabilitation and inclusive cycling for people with disabilities and an extensive sports 
cycling facility.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 3, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Transport

Page 160



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

61

Action:

Improve air quality and promote the use of low carbon transport by only issuing licences for 
replacement hackney carriage and private hire vehicles that comply with the Euro 6 emissions 
standard or, if new hackney carriage licences, vehicles that have ultra low emissions.

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech, Transport – Cllr Don Alexander

SDGs: 3,11,13

One City Board: Transport

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Increase the number of public electric vehicle charging points

Page 161



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

62

TC4 

Physical infrastructure  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Plan, prioritise and begin a refreshed 
and long-term (25-year+) programme of maintenance, repair, and 
renewal of the city’s infrastructure, such as roads and bridges. This 
will help make sure that the city is safer, more climate-resilient, 
nature-friendly, and able to grow its economy in an inclusive and 
sustainable way. 

Building blocks:  Environmental Sustainability    Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Actions for TC4:

Action: 

Reduce the risk of flooding and damage to Bristol’s Floating Harbour by upgrading Underfall Yard 
sluices and the surrounding infrastructure.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees and Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 
– Cllr Nicola Beech 

SDGs: 1, 9, 11, 13

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Work with regional partners and the Environment Agency to develop the business case to secure 
funding for major flood mitigation through the River Avon Flood Strategy. This will protect thousands 
of existing homes, businesses, key transport routes, unlock land for up to 13,000 homes and generate 
billions of pounds in local benefits. It will also help future-proof the city and avoid business and 
community disruption.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability    Resilience 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Economy of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees and Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 
– Cllr Nicola Beech 

SDGs: 1, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13

One City Board: Environment

Page 162



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

63

Action:

Invest in public lights by replacing existing streetlights with LED lighting (light-emitting diodes) and 
a central management system (CMS). This will save around £1 million a year when the project is 
completed and will reduce our carbon footprint.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Growth and Regeneration – Management of Place

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees 

SDGs: 7, 9, 11, 13

One City Board: Environment

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Percentage of principal roads where maintenance should be considered

	● KPI 2: Satisfaction with the condition of road surfaces

Page 163



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

64

Theme 7: Effective development organisation
From city government to city governance: creating a focused council that empowers 
individuals, communities and partners to flourish and lead.

Being an effective development organisation means making substantial changes to our ways of 

working. In recent years, we have worked hard to get a stronger grip on our governance and to improve 

our approach to equality and inclusion. We have made good progress, but several challenges remain. 

The council is larger than most of its counterparts and it is not always more efficient or effective. We 

need to consider what the right size, shape and scale is for the city’s future needs, streamline processes 

and target our limited resources to those most in need given the financial pressure we face.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we learned many lessons we can build on going forward. We 

demonstrated our ability to be adaptable, respond quickly and work in a joined-up, cohesive way for the 

benefit of citizens. We have strengthened our partnerships in the city and have become united more 

closely around common goals. We have worked more closely and inclusively with our communities 

and more effectively with the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector (VCSE). We have 

changed our ways of working and embraced innovative technology at a pace we have never achieved 

before. We have been better able to identify non-essential activities and red-tape, and can now make 

thoughtful decisions about if and why any of this needs to return.

City Outcome indicators for A Development Organisation theme:

	● KPI 1: Increase the satisfaction of citizens with our services 

	● KPI 2:  Increase the percentage of colleagues who would recommend the council as a good place 
to work

	● KPI 3: Increase the percentage of people who think that the council provides value for money

Page 164



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

65

EDO1

One City

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Use a One City Approach to take a 
collective, partnership-focused approach to city leadership. Enable 
strong civic participation and the joining-up of activities by partners 
towards our common goals. Work to convene, build and exert 
regional, national, and international influence to advocate for the 
city and attract appropriate investment.

Building blocks:   Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability   Equality and Inclusion  

 Resilience   World Class Employment 

Actions for EDO1:

Action:

Work with the universities in Bristol and the further education sector to create a written Civic 
University Agreement. This would set out how we work together and enable our major higher and 
further education institutions to contribute to the civic life of the city.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: Resource – Policy and Strategic Partnership

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 10, 11, 13, 16, 17

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Work with relevant partners across the council and city to help embed the ‘Health in All Policies’ 
approach to tackling the wider factors which determine good health and maximise positive health 
outcomes.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion 

Lead area: People – Communities and Public Health 

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 3, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Page 165



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

66

Action:

To keep Bristol safe and manage COVID-19 infection through the implementation of Bristol Living 
Safely with COVID-19 Framework.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    Equality and Inclusion    Resilience 

Lead area: People – Communities and Public Health 

Cabinet lead: Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City – Cllr Ellie King

SDGs: 3, 10

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Performance metrics for this priority: 

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 166



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

67

EDO2

One Council

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Make it easier to get things done as 
‘One Council’ by adopting more consistent standardised and well-
communicated procedures and processes, with corporate support 
services that are the right size for the needs of the organisation.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery 

Actions for EDO2:

Action:

The council will identify where colleagues do similar work in different departments, bringing some 
professional functions more closely together. This will help make sure we are efficient, joined-up and 
best able to direct our limited resources at our highest priorities.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Improvement and Performance 

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 16 

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action: 

Improve council digital services to drive down costs and increase efficiency, by delivering a digital 
transformation programme.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Workforce and Change 

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 16

One City Board: Economy and Skills

KPIs to measure this Priority: 

	● KPI 1:  Increase the percentage of all equality action plan actions reporting expected progress (or 
better)

	● KPI 2: Maintain appropriate staff turnover (10 percent – 15 percent)

	● KPI 3: Increase the percentage channel shift achieved for Citizens Services overall

Page 167



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

68

EDO3 

 Employer of choice  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Live our organisational values 
and show leadership on equality, diversity and inclusion across 
the council and city, becoming a recognised employer of choice. 
Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, and motivated 
workforce that is representative of the city we serve. Support people 
to learn, develop in their careers and maximise their wellbeing.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion   World Class Employment 

Actions for EDO3:

Action:

Review and refresh the Workforce Strategy to reflect the needs of the new Bristol City Council 
Corporate Strategy. This will help us proactively meet the future challenges and requirements of the 
organisation by ensuring we have the right skills in the right places when we need them.

Building blocks:  World Class Employment  

Lead area: Resources – Workforce and Change

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 8, 16

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action:

Engage with central government to create a healthier working environment for social workers to 
operate in. We will implement a new recruitment and retention approach across children’s services 
and education to address workforce challenges and reduce our use of agency staff.

Building blocks:   World Class Employment  

Lead area: People – Children and Families Services, Resources – Workforce and Change

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney,  
Adult Social Care – Cllr Helen Holland, Children Services, Education and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 1, 3, 8, 16, 17

One City Board: Health and Wellbeing

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Reduce the gender pay gap in Bristol City Council

	● KPI 2: Reduce the race pay gap in Bristol City Council

	● KPI 3: Increase the percentage of young people (16–29) in the council’s workforce

	● KPI 4: Reduce the average number of council working days lost to sickness 

	● KPI 5:  Increase the percentage of employment offers made to people living in the 10 percent most 
deprived areas

Page 168



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

69

EDO4 

Data driven 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Improve our ethical and inclusive use 
of research, data, insights and information to become more data-
driven and evidence-led when making decisions.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Equality and Inclusion  

Actions for EDO4:

Action:

Give service areas access to better insights and data tools to support evidence-led decision making 
through the Data and Insights Programme. The focus for this year is children’s social care, housing 
and education.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Policy and Strategic Partnership, Resources – Improvement and Performance 
and Resources – Finance 

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 4, 11, 16

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Action:

Develop the Think Family database to share improved information with partners, such as the police, 
about risks and vulnerability of children and families in the city. This will enable us to identify and 
respond at the earliest possible point.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Policy and Strategic Partnership and People – Children and Families Services

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney, Children Services, Education 
and Equalities – Cllr Asher Craig

SDGs: 1, 3, 10, 16, 17

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● There are no additional performance metrics this year for this particular priority – progress tracking 
will be via the actions listed.

Page 169



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

70

EDO5

Good governance  

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Make sure that we are financially 
competent and resilient, offering good value for money. Take safe but 
proportionate approaches to risk, performance, project, and contract 
management. Enable effective democratic decision-making and 
scrutiny.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Resilience 

Actions for EDO5:

Action:

Hold a referendum in May 2022 to determine how Bristol City Council is run.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Legal and Democratic Services 

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 16

One City Board: Homes and Communities

Action:

Take a new approach to corporate performance management, including a new corporate scorecard 
and city dashboard to monitor different performance measures. This will give managers, political 
leaders, Scrutiny members and the public a more joined-up overview of performance, both of the 
council and the wider city.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery    World Class Employment  

Lead area: Resources – Policy and Strategic Partnership 

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney

SDGs: 16

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Performance metrics for this priority:

	● KPI 1: Increase the percentage of council invoices paid on time

	● KPI 2:  Reduce the percentage of complaints escalated from Stage one to Stage two

	● KPI 3:  Increase the percentage of corporate Freedom of Information (FOI) requests responded to 
within 20 working days

	● KPI 4:  Increase the percentage of agreed management actions implemented within 
agreed timelines Page 170



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

71

EDO6 

Estate review 

Our Corporate Strategy vision: Review our operational estate 
to ensure we have the right amount and right quality of 
workspaces. Make sure they are carbon neutral by 2025, as well 
as climate resilient. Explore the potential for a greater presence in 
neighbourhoods alongside partners.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability 

Actions for EDO6:

Action:

Review all council-owned buildings, grounds maintenance services and land management to reduce 
our carbon footprint, and also take into consideration new ways of working following COVID-19 and 
the quality of office space.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery   Environmental Sustainability 

Lead area: Resources – Workforce and Change

Cabinet lead: Finance, Governance and Performance – Cllr Craig Cheney, Climate, Ecology, Waste and 
Energy – Cllr Nicola Beech  

SDGs: 9, 11, 13, 16

One City Board: Environment

Action:

Commercialise our assets where it is profitable and viable to maximise value for money and generate 
extra funds which can be used to pay for other services. For this year, an example is installing a bar on 
the roof of the MShed museum and improving the museum’s event suite for outdoor functions.

Building blocks:  Development and Delivery  

Lead area: Resources – Housing Delivery 

Cabinet lead: Planning and City Design – Mayor Marvin Rees

SDGs: 8, 9

One City Board: Economy and Skills

Performance metrics for this priority: 

	● KPI 1:  Reduce the council’s direct carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from buildings (in tonnes)

	● KPI 2:  Reduce the council’s direct carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from council fleet vehicles 
(in tonnes)

Page 171



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

72

Bibliography 
Corporate Strategy 2022–2027  

Bristol City Council (2021)

One City Plan 2021 

Bristol One City (2021)

Children and Young People 

Alternative Learning Provision Improvement Plan 

Bristol City Council (2022)

Bristol Corporate Parenting Strategy  

Bristol City Council (2021)

Bristol Local Area Written Statement of Action: 

for children and young people with special 

educational needs and disability aged 0–25  

Bristol City Council (2020)

Ordinarily Available Provision 

Bristol City Council (2021)

Bristol Belonging Strategy for Children and Young 

People 2021–2024 

Bristol One City (2021)

Family Hubs Evaluation Innovation Fund 

Department of Education (2021) 

Child Safeguarding Practise Reviews  

Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership

Safer Options, Contextual Safeguarding and 

Extrafamilial Harm  

Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership

Safeguarding Children and Young People in Our 

Communities Strategy 2020–2022 

Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership (2020)

Economy and Skills 

Bristol Avon Flood Strategy: Better protecting 

people and property from flooding 

Bristol City Council (2020)  

Inclusive and Sustainable Economic Growth 

Strategy 

Bristol City Council (2019) 

Bristol Local Development Scheme 2020–2024 

Bristol City Council (2020) 

Environment and Sustainability  

Climate and Ecological Emergency Programme  

Bristol City Council (2020) 

Changes to Your Waste Arrangements 

Bristol City Council

Bristol and the UN Sustainable 

Development Goals 

Bristol One City

One City Climate Strategy: A strategy for a carbon 

neutral, climate resilient Bristol by 2030 

Bristol One City (2020)

One City Ecological Emergency Strategy: 

A strategy for an ecologically resilient, wildlife-rich 

Bristol by 2030 

Bristol One City (2021)

City Leap Prospectus 

Energy Service Bristol (2018)

Health, Care and Wellbeing 

Changing Futures Programme: Delivery Plan 

Template 

Bristol City Council (2021) 

A One City Food Equality Strategy for Bristol 2022–

2032 (DRAFT) 

Bristol One City (2021)

Overview of BNSSG’s Community Mental Health 

Target Operating Model and Implementation 

Process 

Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 

(2021)Page 172

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/corporatestrategy
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Bristol-One-City-Plan-2021-2050-1.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3990065/ALP+Improvement+Plan+Jan+22+FINAL.pdf/b54c6f70-d57b-b8e9-5c32-d5a0cc6f79da?t=1642409745177
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34768/Bristol+Corporate+Parenting+Strategy
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/4223365/Bristol+Local+Area+SEND+WSOA+approved+by+Ofsted.pdf/56fc619d-d886-7cac-6f37-9ad4bd749e35
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/4223365/Bristol+Local+Area+SEND+WSOA+approved+by+Ofsted.pdf/56fc619d-d886-7cac-6f37-9ad4bd749e35
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/4223365/Bristol+Local+Area+SEND+WSOA+approved+by+Ofsted.pdf/56fc619d-d886-7cac-6f37-9ad4bd749e35
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/2193095/3538119/BCC+Ordinarily+Available+Provision.pdf/c74bc437-aff3-b867-02fe-835da1c65a46?t=1616418298516 
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/1-Belonging-Strategy-Vision-Statement_weba_v2.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/1-Belonging-Strategy-Vision-Statement_weba_v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1030301/Family_Hubs_Evaluation_Innovation_Fund_scoping_report.pdf
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/children/child-safeguarding-practice-reviews/
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/policies-and-guidance/safer-options-contextual-safeguarding-and-extrafamilial-harm/
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/policies-and-guidance/safer-options-contextual-safeguarding-and-extrafamilial-harm/
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/media/mrujzgsd/kbsp-keeping-children-safe-in-our-communities-strategy-approved-august-2020.pdf
https://bristolsafeguarding.org/media/mrujzgsd/kbsp-keeping-children-safe-in-our-communities-strategy-approved-august-2020.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s57930/Appendix A Strategic Outline Case.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s57930/Appendix A Strategic Outline Case.pdf
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/36LRRBEC/ISEGS_Final_Draft_v3_CLEAN.pdf
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/36LRRBEC/ISEGS_Final_Draft_v3_CLEAN.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34540/Bristol+Local+Development+Scheme+October+2020.pdf/dfd511f9-cdc5-133f-7e42-4d473cb4edbf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s53617/CEEP Appendix A2 - Programme Summary Final.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/5655908/Changes_to_business_waste_leaflet_Aug21.pdf/27dec65e-a321-c93e-ccfa-d148f3099e60?t=1632127544327
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/One-City-Ecological-Emergency-Strategy-28.09.20.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/One-City-Ecological-Emergency-Strategy-28.09.20.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/one-city-climate-strategy.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/one-city-climate-strategy.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/One-City-Ecological-Emergency-Strategy-28.09.20.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/One-City-Ecological-Emergency-Strategy-28.09.20.pdf
https://www.bristolonecity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/One-City-Ecological-Emergency-Strategy-28.09.20.pdf
https://www.energyservicebristol.co.uk/wp-content/pdf/City_Leap_Prospectus 4-5-18.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s61917/Bristol Delivery Plan Template.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s61917/Bristol Delivery Plan Template.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s70254/Appendix%20A2%20-%20Draft%20Food%20Strategy.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s70254/Appendix%20A2%20-%20Draft%20Food%20Strategy.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s62442/03 - Overview of BNSSGs CMH Target Operating Model.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s62442/03 - Overview of BNSSGs CMH Target Operating Model.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s62442/03 - Overview of BNSSGs CMH Target Operating Model.pdf


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

73

Homes and Communities 

Working with us for Better Lives: Market Position 

Statement for the provision of Care and Support 

for Adults in Bristol 

Bristol City Council (2018)

Transport and Connectivity  

Bristol to Bath Strategic Corridor 

Bath and North East Somerset Council (2021)

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

WECA (2021)

An Effective Development 
Organisation 

Data, Insight and Information Strategy 

Bristol City Council

Bristol Living Safely with COVID-19 Framework

Sets out the council’s plans to prevent, protect, 
treat and respond to the virus over the coming 

year. 

Page 173

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2678414/Market+Position+Statement/bdd21e05-0a76-94ae-4094-246ad9eb5739
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2678414/Market+Position+Statement/bdd21e05-0a76-94ae-4094-246ad9eb5739
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/2678414/Market+Position+Statement/bdd21e05-0a76-94ae-4094-246ad9eb5739
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s69560/Bath to Bristol Strategic Corridoor Report.pdf
https://www.westofengland-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/West-of-England-Combined-Authority-CRSTS.pdf
https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s64321/DII Strategy Final.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/coronavirus/living-safely-with-covid-19-framework


Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

74

Glossary 
Introduction

Key Performance Indicator: A way of clearly 
measuring how successful an organisation is in 
reaching a specific target 

Building Blocks: We have chosen five principles 
that we call our ‘building blocks’. These affect 
all our priorities and influence everything we do. 
They are what is most important to us and they 
are chosen based on evidenced needs and our 
organisational values. We reflect these building 
blocks across our Corporate Strategy and Business 
Plan.

Children and Young People

Alternative Learning Provision: An education 
setting provided for pupils who cannot access 
mainstream schooling for reasons including 
exclusion or behavioural issues

Attainment 8: The total score obtained by a pupil 
for their 8 GCSE results

Family hubs: A model of providing a range of 
family support services in one place. Services cover 
families with children and young people aged 
0–19 (0–25 for SEND children and young people).

Family Outcomes: A set of shared outcomes for 
vulnerable families created locally by a range of 
different organisations and agencies

Home to School Travel: Financial support for 
pupils who face barriers getting to and from 
school

Migrants: A person who moves from one place to 
another, especially in order to find work or better 
living conditions

Refugees: A person who has fled war, violence, 
conflict or persecution and have crossed an 
international border to find safety in another 
country

Supporting Families: A national programme 
supporting vulnerable families address multiple, 
complex problems

Trauma and adversity champions: Professionals 
from across a range of organisations and lived 
experience experts who are working together 
to develop and promote a trauma informed and 
responsive approach to health and social care in 
the region

Trauma Informed Practice: Recognising the 
impact of trauma upon a patient whilst working 
to develop trust, safety and collaboration to avoid 
re-traumatisation

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers: Children 
who have fled their country of origin without a 
responsible adult 

Youth Zone: A dedicated facility offering a range 
of activities and services for children and young 
people

Economy and Skills

Apprenticeship Levy: A UK tax on employers with 
a total pay bill of more than £3 million a year 
which is used to fund apprenticeship training

Destination unknown: A young person where it is 
unknown if they are in education, employment or 
training

Core Cities: A body of representatives from nine 
of the UK’s largest cities which produces research 
and policy ideas on issues such as productivity, 
housing and climate change

Inclusive growth: Is economic growth that is 
distributed fairly across society and creates 
opportunities for all

Pay gap: Is the difference in the average of salary 
between different socio-economic groups. The pay 
gap is most often reported in relation to gender 
and race and can be explained by factors such as 
occupational difference and historic inequality

Page 174



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

75

Priority groups: Refers to people from groups 
who have traditionally been excluded from the 
jobs market or experienced significant barriers to 
finding work. Priority groups include: children in 
care or care leavers, disabled people, older people 
and Black, Asian and minority ethnic people

Real Living Wage: The only wage rate 
independently calculated based on rising living 
costs, which is paid by employers on a voluntary 
basis

Social Value: Refers to wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits that businesses can offer 
an area when offering their services to a local 
authority

Technology Enabled Care: The use of technology 
to provide care for patients with long term 
conditions that is convenient, accessible and cost-
effective

Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone: A major 
redevelopment of 130 hectares of unused land 
around Temple Quarter and St Philip’s Marsh 
which aims to provide 10,000 new homes and 
22,000 new jobs

Environment and Sustainability

Bio-diversity: The variety and variability of plant 
and animal species within a particular habitat

C40: A global network of mayors (representing 97 
cities) taking action to confront the climate crisis

Carbon footprint: The amount of carbon dioxide 
released into the atmosphere as a result of the 
activities of a particular individual, organisation, or 
community

Carbon neutral: The process of achieving net-
zero carbon emissions through changes such as 
investment in sustainable energy and increasing 
tree canopies

City Leap Energy Partnership: A partnership 
between Bristol City Council and private 
enterprises to finance a range of renewable and 
sustainable energy projects across the city

Direct emissions: Direct emissions refers to 
Scope 1 and 2 emissions in the Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions protocol and include the use of 
electricity and gas and local transport emissions

Harvard University Bloomberg programme: A 
programme that aims to advance leadership, 
management, and innovation in cities by 
equipping mayors and senior city officials 
with skills, tools, and techniques to tackle local 
challenges

Neighbourhood approach: The process of utilising 
the strengths and abilities of local communities to 
deliver change 

UK100: A network of local government leaders 
committed to tackling the major challenges 
associated with climate change

UN Sustainable Development Goals: 
17 overarching targets adopted by countries 
within the United Nations which focus on 
sustainable development

Untreated waste: Any waste which has not been 
adequately processed via some form of waste 
management such as recycling or composting

Health, Care and Wellbeing

Health in all Policies: Considering the wider 
impact on health when shaping public policy in all 
areas (e.g. transport, housing) 

Care Quality Commission: The independent 
regulator of all health and social care services in 
England

Integrated Care System: A collaboration of 
NHS, local authorities and other partners which 
organises health and social care in a joined-up way 
across a region

Tier 3 Care: Refers to longer term adult social care 
interventions such as supported accommodation 
or residential care

Changing Futures Programme: A programme 
testing new ways to improve outcomes for adults 
experiencing multiple disadvantages such as 
homelessness, substance misuse or mental health 
issuesPage 175



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

76

Community Mental Health Framework: 
A framework for modernising community mental 
health services to ensure patients are given more 
control over the mental health support they 
receive

Gold Sustainable Food City: An independent 
award recognising a place’s commitment 
to addressing food inequality, waste and 
sustainability 

Discretionary Housing Payment: The provision of 
financial support for people finding it difficult to 
pay rent

Homes and Communities

Accelerated Learning Centres: Facilities dedicated 
to supporting disabled children and young with 
improved learning progression

Band 1 Priority Housing: Housing earmarked for 
people who have the highest levels of housing 
need

Better Lives at Home: Bristol’s strategy for 
providing a full supply for adults who require 
social care

Citizen’s Assembly: A cross-section of the public 
who are invited to deliberate on important local 
issues and present agreed recommendations 

Education and Health Care Plan: A plan for those 
who are in education, under 25 and are assessed 
to have significant educational needs

EPC: An Energy Performance Certificate rates the 
energy efficiency and environmental impact of a 
property

Housing First: A project which provides rapid 
access to housing for people who struggle to 
follow the traditional homelessness pathways

Living Rent: The introduction of caps to rent prices 
in order to ensure living in Bristol is affordable for 
all

Local plan: A local guide to what can be built and 
the future patten of development within an area

Modern Method of Construction: A wide term, 
embracing a range of offsite manufacturing and 
onsite techniques that provide alternatives to 
traditional house building

Quality of Life Survey: An annual survey giving 
people in Bristol the opportunity to voice their 
opinion on local issues such as transport, health 
and crime

Transport

Active Travel: Refers to journeys being made by 
physically active means, like walking or cycling

Central Management System: Enables the remote 
and dynamic control of street lighting

City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement: 
Funding and powers given by central government 
to Combined Mayoral Authorities to enable 
improvements to regional transport

Cycling City: Government funding awarded to 
cities to improve cycling infrastructure, facilities 
and education

Euro 6 Emissions Standard: European emissions 
limits for diesel cars

Mass transit: The process of moving a high volume 
of people across a wide area using a system of 
shared transport modes such as trains or buses

Principle roads: A motorway or A-class road that is 
maintained by a local Highway Authority

Strategic corridors: Refer to key transport routes 
whereby a significant number of people travel 
across the city or into the wider region

Ultra-low Emissions: Refers to the lowest levels of 
pollutant emissions from a vehicle

West of England Combined Authority: Is a 
combined authority consisting of the local 
authorities of Bristol, South Gloucestershire and 
Bath and North East Somerset. Its powers focus 
mainly on transport, innovation, employment and 
skills, the environment and housing

Page 176



Bristol City Council Business Plan 2022–2023

77

Effective Development Organisation

Financial Management Code: Provides guidance 
for good and sustainable financial management in 
local authorities

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy: A professional institute for 
accountants working in the public services and 
other financial institutions

Civic University Agreement: A shared vision and 
action plan between a university (or universities), 
the local authority and other partners to deliver 
key civic outcomes in areas such as education, 
culture and health

Corporate scorecard: A reporting tool to help 
the Council demonstrate and review how it is 
getting on with delivering its targets and services. 
The scorecard will measure data from a variety 
of internal sources such as HR, Finance and 
Citizen Services

Employer of Choice: An organisation’s ability 
to attract and retain the best candidates with a 
desirable company culture, leadership style, and 
employee engagement

Equality Action Plan: A plan to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
and foster good relations in all areas of our work 
so that diverse people can participate, exercise 
voice and influence, and benefit from our work.

One City Approach: Describes the process of 
bringing a variety of partners together to commit 
to a set of shared goals for the city

Think Family: A multi-agency guidance document 
written for professionals working with parents 
whose complex needs impact on their ability to 
care for the children around them

You can request alternative formats of this 
document by calling 0117 922 2848

BD14488(a) Bristol Design, March 2022

Page 177



1 
 

Bristol City Council - 2022/23 Performance Framework 
The past year has seen the publication of the Bristol City Council (BCC) Corporate Strategy 2022-27, 
which provides a new framework for the annual Business Plan.  There are 7 Themes within the new 
framework, each with 3 to 6 Priorities (32 Priorities in total).  

At the same time, the Council has carried out a review of how corporate performance is measured, 
reported and managed. Through this review we have sought to increase the use of technology and 
new digital tools to improve how we monitor and manage performance, maximising the 
opportunities from the investment in technology via the Council’s Data and Insights programme.  

The review is still in its first year; our processes and measures to capture and report on performance 
will develop.  

This document summarises how Bristol City Council will track how well it is achieving against the 
themes and priorities set out in the new Corporate Strategy 2022-27, and includes:  

A. An overview of the governance and performance management arrangements for 2022/23 

B.  Performance reporting plans and how this is different from the current process  

C. Performance metrics for the annual Business Plan 
 
 

A/ Overview of performance management arrangements 2022/23  

The new performance framework, to be published alongside the Business Plan 2022/23, will monitor 
progress through a blend of actions and performance metrics that will report quarterly and annually 
and will look at a range of performance measures as well as progress updates.  This represents a 
definite shift from previous years where the focus has been solely on quantifiable metrics.  

This revised performance framework focuses on three main component parts: 

1/ City Outcomes – Corporate Strategy Theme level measures 
 

2a/ Business Plan measures – Corporate Strategy Priority level performance metrics   
 

2b/ Business Plan measures – Corporate Strategy Priority level actions  

1/ City Outcomes – annual indicators centred on the new Corporate Strategy Themes.  They are 
primarily outcome-focused measures that are longer term in nature and slower moving, reporting 
annually (often in arrears) and look to assess the overall ‘health of the city', as opposed to specific 
Council performance.   

For the City Outcomes, we will seek to set 5-year targets in line with the timeframe of the Corporate 
Strategy. [NB Targets will be published in July 2022 – see section 7. Targets]. 

2/ Business Plan measures – the engine room of Corporate Strategy delivery, tracked quarterly. 

Within each Corporate Strategy Theme are a number of Priorities, which flow through to the annual 
Business Plan.  Each Business Plan Priority contains up to three actions that the Council intends to 
deliver over the coming 12 months, and most contain performance metrics (though several Priorities 
do not readily lend themselves to metrics).   

Page 178

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Corporate_Strategy_2022-27.pdf/64775487-6d75-004b-2f79-cc4037cf2010?t=1642610835516


2 
 

A combination of tracking actions and/or performance metrics will be used to show progress 
throughout the year. This represents a new blended approach, including quarterly narrative updates 
on actions to demonstrate that the Council is delivering the things it has said it will: 

a) Business Plan Priority performance metrics   

Primarily quarterly measures*, centred on the new Corporate Strategy Priorities, with direct data 
available to measure progress throughout the year. These are also metrics the Council has more direct 
responsibility over, and so will be used to measure Council performance rather than City Outcomes.  

Key performance questions will be considered and where progress is not as anticipated, recovery plans 
will be put in place, drawing on resource from across the wider organisation where appropriate.  

*Performance metrics will be reviewed quarterly where data is available; if annual the data will relate 
specifically to progress achieved in 2022/23, with quarterly narrative on plans to achieve target.  

b) Business Plan Priority actions   

Progress updates for the actions against each of the Priorities will also be reported on quarterly, whilst 
noting that some actions may take the majority of the year to deliver.  This will provide consistent 
reporting on all Priorities, including those without specific quantitative metrics, and will give a more 
rounded view of the Council’s performance. 

 

B/ Performance reporting 

1/ Business Plan thematic focus  

a) There is a strong focus on the Corporate Strategy Themes, including read across to One City 
Boards, and each theme is sponsored by a BCC Director, thereby providing direction and 
accountability to drive activity in meeting the aims of the Corporate Strategy.  
 

b) Each Theme sponsor will work with performance advisors through quarterly performance 
clinics and to support an annual narrative on progress for their Theme (see below).  
 

Change to note: Addition of Theme sponsors at Director level, including involvement in thematic 
performance clinics and production of an annual thematic narrative report  

 
c) Formal Business Plan reporting will begin at the Executive Director Meetings (EDMs) and 

progress to Corporate Leadership Board (CLB) to agree recommendations.  For EDMs, reports 
will focus on the measures relevant to that Directorate but be structured by Theme. 

Change to note: EDM reports will be structured by Business Plan Themes and Priorities, not by 
internal Directorate Divisions as is currently the case 

d) The Performance reports will then progress through the Council’s pathway to Cabinet 
Member Briefings, BCC Cabinet and to the Council’s Directorate Scrutiny Commissions and 
Overview & Scrutiny Management Board (OSMB). 

Change to note: There will no longer be a separate level of performance indicator that is reported 
to EDMs and Directorate Scrutiny Commissions but not reported to CLB, Cabinet and OSMB.  This is 
in reflection of the significant increase in reporting that the action tracking will bring at all levels 

 

Page 179



3 
 

2/ Quarterly reporting  

This will include a summary report of progress against the specific Business Plan measures that period, 
and headline figures or narrative for each measure accompanied by a Red/Amber/Green (RAG) 
progress rating. This process, including RAG rating, will be applied to the Business Plan actions as well 
as the performance metrics.  

Managers responsible for individual Business Plan actions and performance metrics will provide 
quarterly updates / narrative. The summation of this will see performance advisors, working with the 
Director lead/sponsor (or their representative) for each Corporate Strategy Theme, host a quarterly 
performance clinic at which progress against actions and data for that Theme is reviewed. This would 
also extend into business challenges, solutions and use of other insight or inputs. Directors and 
relevant managers would sit down with advisors as “critical friends” to consider key performance 
issues, solve challenges and course correct if needed.  Where progress is not as anticipated, plans will 
be put in place to draw on resource from across the wider organisation where appropriate. A brief 
written update on each Theme will then be prepared by the respective lead/sponsor. 

Change to note: All Business Plan actions will be subject to formal progress tracking each quarter as 
well as the metrics; this will be a significant expansion of the information available to show progress 

3/ Annual reporting   

At year end, an additional summary assessment will be published that sets out progress against the 
thematic City Outcomes, as well as the final (Quarter 4) quarterly progress report.   

Each Corporate Strategy Director theme lead, working with their performance advisor through a 
thematic performance clinic, will examine the data, perhaps discuss with the relevant One City Board 
(details tbc) and prepare a narrative around what the data means to BCC and the city, identifying areas 
where performance is going well and those where action may need to be taken.  NB This will be 
conducted on an annual basis and will conclude in a collective report compiled by the Head of Insight 
Performance & Intelligence (IPI) on behalf of the Chief Executive for CLB and Cabinet, and then 
published (either as an addendum to the following year’s Business Plan or as a standalone document). 

Change to note: Addition of annual summary report(s) focussed on each of the 7 Themes 

4/ Divisional Business as Usual activity 

It is recognised that a broad range of activity will be carried out across the Council’s divisions and 
services that is considered “business as usual”. Whilst there should where possible be a link between 
this activity and the Business Plan / Corporate Strategy activity, there may be instances where this will 
not be clear but the activity is considered essential nonetheless and, in some cases, will be a statutory 
or regulatory requirement. Such activity will also be of interest to Scrutiny Commissions. 

Over the course of the year, further insight will be rolled out to services across the Council and this 
can incorporate key performance measures and targets set, as now, by Directors in conjunction with 
their Cabinet Members. This will be visualised through automated dashboards and each Directorate 
will be able to view its own and, where appropriate, other dashboards.  

Day-to-day performance of this type will be managed by individual Directors and their Heads of Service 
supported by a performance advisor from IPI who will act as a business partner and critical friend, 
helping provide constructive challenge, insight and assurance. The performance advisor will host 
quarterly performance clinics along the same lines as those above with agreed actions becoming the 

Page 180



4 
 

formal record of the meetings. A number of indicators of particular relevance or operational 
importance will be incorporated into a “Corporate Scorecard” for discussion at CLB.   

5/ Scrutiny Commissions   

A key relationship in this process is Scrutiny.  Due to the strong performance focus on the Corporate 
Strategy Themes, performance metrics for each Scrutiny commission will be formally reviewed, and 
ideally will be aligned to the Corporate Strategy Themes (tbc). To maximise resources, performance 
advisors (supported by contributions from officers in relevant services) will provide a written overview 
of performance in advance of the Scrutiny meetings. The Scrutiny Chair will be asked to identify key 
lines of enquiry to explore further at the meeting and relevant officers (or Theme lead) will then attend 
to update and take questions from the Scrutiny committee members.  

6/ Key principles  

a) City Outcomes vs Business Plan metrics – there is a clearer distinction between slower 
moving, annual measures that monitor the “health of the city” at Theme level and those that 
focus on in-year BCC performance via the Business Plan Priority level. 
 

b) Business Plan Actions – given the number of priorities within the Corporate Strategy it was 
decided that a maximum of three actions (per Priority) each year would be used. 
 

c) Clearly defined - An Appendix of definitions is included with the Performance reports, to be 
clear on definitions and reporting periods (e.g. per quarter, cumulative or annual). 
 

d) Transparent – Quarterly performance reports are reported publicly via BCC Cabinet and 
Scrutiny meetings and are published on Performance - bristol.gov.uk. 

7/ Targets 

Targets focus on what we want to achieve and monitor whether our objectives are being achieved. 
Performance targets should be SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Timed).  

Targets for 2022/23 will be published in July 2022, to be informed by the 2021/22 year-end results, 
and will be published on our Performance page. 

Change to note: City Outcome indicators to have 5-year targets in line with the Corporate Strategy 

 
C/ Suite of performance measures 2022/23  

The proposed suite of Business Plan measures is drawn from existing metrics, new metrics or new 
actions designed to monitor progress against the Corporate Strategy Themes and Priorities.   

Compilation of the measures was led by the Insight, Performance and Information team based on 
the Corporate Strategy Themes and Priorities, as well as drawing from Service Plans and Director 
Summaries for the coming year.  These have been reviewed and updated through discussions with 
Managers, Directors, Cabinet leads and Scrutiny members.  

• For 2022/23 performance metrics – Thematic City Outcomes and Priority-level performance 
metrics / actions are listed now under each Theme and Priority in the Business Plan 2022/23 (and 
will be included on the Targets 2022/23 document published in July 2022). 

 

Page 181

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/council-spending-performance/performance
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/council-spending-performance/performance


 

Business Plan 2022/2023  

Scrutiny Members Workshop – Feedback report  

03/03/2022 

Background 

On the 3rd March 2022 the Policy and Public Affairs team and the Performance & 
Intelligence team (hereafter Business Plan team) held a workshop with members of the 
Bristol City Council Scrutiny committees. Every Councillor who has a role on a scrutiny 
Committee was invited to take part in the workshop and 13 Councillors attended.  
 
Members were provided with a presentation on the new Corporate Strategy 2022-27, how 
the Business Plan (BP) had been assembled and what other strategies and documents had 
been considered in developing it, and engagement with Senior officers and Cabinet 
members thus far. Scrutiny members were also provided information on the new approach 
to performance monitoring and Thematic accountability.  
 
Scrutiny Councillors were split into groups and given time to review the proposed measures 
and actions. They were also asked to RAG-rate actions and measures using coloured stickers 
and given the opportunity to comment on individual actions and metrics.  
 

Feedback assessment process 

Members of the Business Plan team were present to facilitate discussion. Following the 

workshop, members of the Business Plan team reviewed the RAG rating and comments 

received.  

The Business Plan is a thematic summary of top-level actions and the most important 

measures of our success only, so scrutiny of and reporting on specific actions will be on a 

case-by case basis throughout the year. On this basis, scrutiny of individual actions will be 

carried out for specific actions and proposals on a case-by-case basis. Accordingly, 

comments on the specific policy direction of priority actions or measures were disregarded 

as they were considered not appropriate for the workshop or in scope in the purpose of the 

Business Plan. 

The Business Plan team has reviewed feedback from the workshop. Some feedback was not 

feasible to incorporate into this Business Plan due to timeframes whilst other feedback has 

already been directly incorporated. Some feedback is still being explored as to whether it is 

possible to incorporate it into this Business Plan.  

Feedback  

General feedback 

 KPIs targets will be set during May once the previous year’s outturns are known. 

Best practice is not to include the numerical target in the title of a measure, but 

Page 182



 

wherever possible to have use wording what is explicit to the outcome we 

are hoping for e.g. increase the number of affordable homes.  

 Concerns were raised about some of the language used in KPIs. Some of 

these KPIs derive from national measures and language and this allows us to 

compare ourselves with others. 

 Feedback was raised about the general accessibility of the document in terms of 

language. There will be a glossary of terms in the final product. The draft document 

is also subject to a ‘Plain English’ review by BCC communications team. 

 Some felt that KPIs were missing from certain themes; some KPIs could be used 

against several themes, so were placed against ‘best fit’. This avoids duplication and 

ensures a range of measures across the different themes.    

 There was a general point raised about priority groups and how we handle these 

across the Business Plan. It was explained that all work contained in the Business 

Plan will be subject to the standard decision pathway including Equality Impact 

Assessments. All strategies referenced in the Business Plan will have been through 

the same process.  

 A general point was raised about the need to explain KPIs – annual, quarterly, and 

priority actions, this will be done in the introduction/ explanatory note at the start of 

the document.  

 Queries were raised as to why One City Actions were included, it was clarified that 

One City action were included in the Business Plan where they were specifically 

owned by Bristol City Council.   

 We were asked to consider how else to address crime in our reporting Officers have 

committed to explore further. Data is available, but it was noted that increased 

numbers might   reflect improved processes for reporting, rather than increases in 

crime per se.     

 There was a request to investigate developing KPIs for zero carbon housing. It is 

unlikely that it will feature in this Business Plan however, we will look to develop it 

for the future.  

 There were questions raised about why there were no more ‘business as usual’ 

actions. We explained that we try to avoid business as usual work in the Business 

Plan due to it being a high-level strategic plan so   try to capture priority projects for 

the year. However, we do capture some business-as-usual work in the KPIs – e.g. 

road surfaces 

 There were several questions about how reporting against priority actions will work. 

The Performance and Intelligence is developing a reporting tool that includes KPIs 

and narrative progress reports.  

 

Theme specific feedback 

Minor re-wording was undertaken on a number of the priority actions across all themes. A 

glossary to the Business Plan will also explain any technical terms or phrases used in actions 

Page 183



 

or measures. In addition to this, the Performance Targets appendix, published in 

June 2022, will include definitions for all targets in the Business Plan.  

 

 Children and young people  

- Scrutiny members asked if there was a gap about care leavers being unrepresented 

within the Business Plan. The Business Plan team has taken this up with relevant 

officers. 

- Thematic KPIs changed to include: 

o Reduce the suicide rate for young people 

o Increase specialist school places  

Priority actions and measures 

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added several phrases to the glossary including ‘‘Promptly’ as defined national 

measures, Youth Zone, Family Outcomes and Supporting Families 

- CYP1.2 request to add in foster availability for refugee children. The Business Plan 

team have taken this up with relevant officers 

 

Economy and skills 

- KPI 1, increase was added “Increase percentage of procurement spend with 'Small 

and Medium-sized Enterprises' (SME's)” 

Priority actions and measures 

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added several phrases to the glossary including ‘priority groups’ and ‘social value’ 

- Added KPI on Black Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported 

- ES3 KPI clarified KPI to focus on Living Wage organisation accredited  

Environment and Sustainability  

- KPI added on the amount of fly-tipping  

- KPI – removed “Reduce the council's indirect carbon dioxide equivalent emissions 

(Scope 3 of Greenhouse Gas Protocol)” as we only measure small part of scope 3 

currently 

Priority actions and measures 

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added several phrases to the glossary including ‘City leap’, ‘untreated/treated waste’ 

and ‘Bloomberg Harvard City Leadership Initiative’  

Health, Care and Wellbeing  

Page 184



 

- KPI changed to include most deprived areas “Reduce the % of people in the 

10% most deprived areas of Bristol who report below national average 

Mental Wellbeing (QoL)” 

- Added KPI on Increasing take-up of Benefit claimants 

Priority actions and measures 

- Sought officer clarification on CQC regulated services 

- Removed KPI on cultural activities  

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added ‘tier 3’ to the glossary  

Homes and communities 

- Added KPI on Number of Anti-Social Behaviour incidents reported 

Priority actions and measures 

- KPI HC1 – EPC rating – insert inclusion ‘Council owned houses’ 

- Exploring with Senior officers if KPI HC3 can be changed from “Maintain the levels of 

engagement with community development work” to “Increase the levels of 

engagement with community development work” 

- Added several phrases to the glossary including ‘energy efficiency’ 

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

Transport and connectivity  

- There was a request to add a KPI on Voi Scooters, however, as this is a WECA 

initiative we are unable to do this 

- Moved KPI ‘Satisfaction with the local bus service’ to theme level 

Priority actions and measures 

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added several phrases to glossary including ‘mass transit’, ‘strategic corridors’ ‘single 

journeys’ and ‘active travel’ 

- Added specific action on the introduction of Clean Air Zone for Bristol  

Effective Development Organisation  

Priority actions and measures 

- Sought officer clarification on digital transformation programme and joined up 

workforce  

- Minor re-wording was undertaken on some of the priority actions  

- Added several phrases to the glossary including ‘health in all policies’, ‘gender pay 

gap’, ‘race pay gap’, ‘Think Family’, ‘corporate scorecard’, and ‘carbon footprint 

Page 185



Business Plan 2022/23 Risk Register  
Negative Risks that offer a threat to the corporate Business Plan 2022/23 and its Aims (Aim - Reduce Level of Risk)

£k

BP1

The Business Plan is not approved by Cabinet or 

Full Council

1. This would 

happen if the 

decision pathway 

breaks down; or 

the officers leading 

the project fail to 

produce a plan; or 

leave their roles 

without continuity 

planning; or if the 

service areas fail to 

produce plans to 

feed into the overall 

corporate plan

The council's planning and 

resource alignment is based 

on an outdated Business 

Plan which inadequately 

reflects the priorities and 

themes of the new Corporate 

Strategy. The council does 

not demonstrate how it is 

meeting its commitments as 

set out in the Corporate 

Strategy 2022-2027. The 

process is not followed 

correctly or robustly. The final 

output does not adequately 

or accurately reflect the 

Open

Empowering and 

Caring; Fair and 

Inclusive; Well 

Connected; 

Wellbeing

Legal/Reputation/Ser

vice Provision

Mike Jackson, Head of Paid 

Service and CEO

1. Robust evidence assessment to inform the 

new Business Plan, with actions strategically 

aligned to the Corporate Strategy 2022-27

2. Early engagement of elected members/lead 

Cabinet member and embedded scrutiny via a 

cross-party working group.

3. Officers working with Directors and Heads 

of Service to ensure actions are specific and 

measurable

New 1 7 7 N/A 1 5 5 Feb-21

BP2

Not enough clear links between the Corporate 

Strategy and business planning/performance 

management and not enough reference to core 

statutory and regulatory functions of the Council 

in the Business Plan

Service planning 

aligned to outdated 

Corporate Strategy 

or

People adhering to 

the Corporate 

Strategy themes 

and commitments 

too rigidly as the 

'only' priorities, 

overlooking core 

duties.

An inability to properly 

performance measure 

service and individual 

outcomes. Failure to 

adequately resource or 

deliver core statutory or 

regulatory duties.

Open

Empowering and 

Caring; Fair and 

Inclusive; Well 

Connected; 

Wellbeing

Service provision/ 

Legal/Reputation

Mike Jackson, Head of Paid 

Service and CEO

1. Service planning templates have been 

aligned to seven Corporate Strategy themes

2. Corporate Strategy workshops run to ensure 

managers and other staff are aware of the 

new key priorities when delivering Service 

Plans

3. Redesign the Performance Framework for 

launch in April 2022.

4. Communicate commitment to statutory and 

regulatory obligations and continue use of 

normal management and Member oversight 

channels to provide assurance.

5. Work with Corporate Leadership Board to 

ensure the highest level of priority is reflected 

in the Business Plan

New 1 7 7 N/A 1 5 5 Feb-21

BP3

The council incurs reputational damage as a 

result of a lack of tangible and measurable 

actions in the Business Plan

A lack of thematic 

ownership at 

Director level and 

reluctance to 

commit to 

measurable actions 

from Heads of 

Service

Citizens and communities 

have less confidence in the 

priorities the council is 

investing in and are less likely 

to engage where citizen-led 

action is required

Open

Empowering and 

Caring; Fair and 

Inclusive; Well 

Connected; 

Wellbeing

Service 

provision/Reputation

Mike Jackson, Head of Paid 

Service and CEO

1. Working with Corporate Leadership Board 

to ensure services are clear about action 

deliverables

2. Officers working with Directors and Heads 

of Service to refine individual actions to ensure 

they are SMART

3. Publication of Key Performance Indicators 

New 2 4 8 N/A 1 4 4 Feb-21

BP4

The council's ability to deliver the key deliverables 

set out in the Business Plan is impacted by the 

need to make financial savings

1. Financial 

pressures faced by 

the council due to 

many factors, 

including central 

government 

funding, the wider 

economy and 

impacts of COVID-

19.

2. Increasing 

demand on key 

services. 

1. Potential failure to deliver 

on actions

2. Perceived contradiction 

between council's desire to 

raise standards while 

planning funding cuts

Open

Empowering and 

Caring; Fair and 

Inclusive; Well 

Connected; 

Wellbeing

Finance/Service 

provision

Mike Jackson, Head of Paid 

Service and CEO

1. Continuing to align the Service and Business 

Planning to the council's Medium Term 

Financial Planning. 

2. Regular review of organisational capacity to 

deliver through annual budget-setting and 

Service Planning, and regular management 

channels throughout the year.

3. Corporate work to tackle demand, including 

redesign of services and implementation of 

transformation projects. 

4. Implement the principles outlined in the 

Corporate Strategy.

5. Pursue all viable financing opoportunities 

and continue to work with partners in pressing 

Government for fairer funding for local 

authorities.

6. Working with Corporate Leadership Board 

to address specific contradictions within the 

Business Plan

New 3 7 21 N/A 2 5 10 Feb-21

Risk Tolerance

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

Im
p

a
c
t

R
is

k
 

R
a
ti

n
g

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d

Im
p

a
c
t

R
is

k
 

R
a
ti

n
g

Date

Monetary 

Impact of 

RiskRisk Category Risk Owner Key Mitigations
Direction of 

travel

Current Risk Level
Strategic ThemeRef

Risk Description Key Causes Key Consequence

Status

Open / 

Closed

P
age 186



BP5

Council fails to meet the targets outlined in the 

Business Plan

1. Continued 

funding pressures

2. Increasing 

demand on 

services, esp 

statutory services

3. Continuing 

impact of Covid-19

4. Service-level 

pressure on 

staffing and 

resources

The council needs to make 

changes to its priorities and 

actions reflecting financial or 

national changes, and this 

takes it off course in 

delivering its Corporate 

Strategy outcomes, future 

planning and aspirations.

Open

Empowering and 

Caring; Fair and 

Inclusive; Well 

Connected; 

Wellbeing

Finance/Service 

provision/Reputation

Mike Jackson, Head of Paid 

Service and CEO

1. Redesign the Performance Framework for 

launch in April 2022

2. Directors to report on Key Performance 

Indicators aligned to priorities and themes 

within the Corporate Strategy on a quarterly 

basis

3. Greater Director accountability for each 

Corporate Strategy theme within the Business 

Plan

4. Continuing to align the Service and Business 

Planning to the council's Medium Term 

Financial Planning. 

5. Regular review of organisational capacity to 

deliver through annual budget-setting and 

Service Planning, and regular management 

channels throughout the year.

New 3 5 15 N/A 2 4 8 Feb-21

P
age 187



Eco Impact Checklist 

Title of report: 2022/23 Business Plan & Performance Framework 

Report author: Tim Borrett 

Anticipated date of key decision: 22nd March 2022 

Summary of proposals: The aim of the Business Plan is to show what actions we will 
take in 2022/23 to meet the commitments that have been made in the Corporate Strategy 
2022-2027. For each of the seven strategic themes in the Corporate Strategy, the 
Business Plan summarises high level actions and success measures that will make sure 
we spend our money, time and resources as effectively as possible. The Performance 
Framework is a more detailed set of measures used to measure, gauge, report upon, 
support and challenge performance from an operational managerial level up to the 
highest strategic levels of the council. 

Will the proposal impact 
on... 

Yes/ 
No 

+ive 
or 
-ive 

If Yes… 

Briefly describe 
impact 

Briefly describe Mitigation 
measures 

Emission of Climate 
Changing Gases? 

Y +ive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The launch of City 
Leap will attract up to 
£1 billion zero-carbon 
energy projects, 
engagement with 
partners will help 
deliver results on 
food sustainability 
and retrofitting 
homes, Local Plans 
will integrate 
emission cutting 
targets. 
 
One City Plan goal of 
the city becoming 
carbon neutral, 
developing a 12-year 
strategy to accelerate 
delivery to 2030. 
 
 
Commitment to focus 
on energy efficiency 
and retrofit 
programmes across 
our housing and 
those in private 
sector. 
 
Promoting a shift to 
sustainable and 
active travel 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-ive 
 

 
Move towards lower 
carbon footprint 
through estate review 
and street lighting 
project. 
 
Some projects will 
generate embodied 
emissions from 
purchasing goods 
and materials and 
direct emissions from 
works. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise 
overall emissions and 
contribute to the council’s 
carbon neutrality goals 

Bristol's resilience to the 
effects of climate change? 

Y +ive One City focus on 
food sustainability 
will improve food 
security within most 
vulnerable 
communities. 
 
Delivering River Avon 
flooding strategy that 
will build up long 
term resilience of 
local communities. 
 
A Blue/Green 
Infrastructure 
strategy will ensure 
future design is 
climate resilient, 
focus on tackling 
flood risk will improve 
people and places 
against increasing 
flood risk, key 
strategic 
improvements will be 
made to deal with 
increasing summer 
heat and other 
extreme weather. 

N/A 
 

Consumption of non-
renewable resources? 

Y +ive 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As above, increasing 
investment in green 
energy will reduce 
the city’s reliance on 
fossil fuels.  
 
Greater ecological 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
Process managed 

Page 189



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-IVE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

focus on Local Plans 
will lead to 
improvement of 
renewable resources 
being used in 
building new homes 
and promote use of 
low carbon modern 
methods of 
construction. 
 
Some projects will 
use non-renewable 
resources. 
 

through the planning 
process with new homes 
more energy efficient 
than older existing stock 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise the 
overall use of non-
renewable resources, 
except where they 
provide significant 
benefits (such as 
reducing emissions). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Production, recycling or 
disposal of waste 

Y +ive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-ive 
 
 

Work with 
businesses will 
deliver a more 
sustainable approach 
to disposing of 
commercial waste, 
trialling new ways of 
working with Bristol 
Waste will improve 
the mass clean-up of 
waste across the city, 
improvements will be 
made to the way 
citizens can report 
issues such as fly-
tipping. 
 
 
 
Some projects will 
produce wastes 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise the 

Page 190



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

production of waste.  
Where it is necessary, 
the waste hierarchy will 
be applied to reuse or 
recycle as much of it as 
possible.  Waste will be 
reused, segregated, 
stored, transferred, 
treated or disposed of 
correctly, legally and 
sustainably. 
 

The appearance of the 
city? 

Y +ive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-ive 

More prompt 
responses to graffiti 
and fly-tipping 
complaints will 
improve the look of 
neighbourhoods.  
 
Focus on biodiversity 
in Local Plans will 
improve the natural 
environment and look 
of the city.  
 
The Green/Blue 
Infrastructure 
strategy will also aim 
to enhance the 
natural environment 
across the city by 
utilising water and 
green spaces in 
planning. 
 
 
Does not overrule 
any Local Plan 
policy. 
 
 
 
Some projects may 
temporarily detract 
from the appearance 
of the city while 
works are taking 
place. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Detailed guidance and 
policy in local plan and 
other statutory planning 
documents. 
 
 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise any 
negative visual impacts. 

Pollution to land, water, or Y +ive Formalised the N/A 

Page 191



air?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-ive 

commitment on 
ecological recovery – 
will drive delivery of 
the One City 
Ecological 
Emergency Strategy 
and BCC action plan 
– aiming to make 
waterways cleaner, 
reduce pesticide use 
and more. 
 
Commitment to 
improve local air 
quality via delivery of 
clean air plan and 
Clean Air Zone and 
improved emissions 
standards for 
Hackney cabs 
 
Promoting a shift to 
sustainable and 
active travel 
 
Some projects may 
pose a risk of 
discharging 
pollutants to water, 
air or land, or 
causing light, noise, 
dust, or odour 
nuisances 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise 
pollution risks by using 
less hazardous 
materials, screens, dust 
suppression and best 
practice for storing, 
using, refuelling, 
maintaining and cleaning 
materials and equipment. 
 

Wildlife and habitats? Y +ive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formalised the 
commitment on 
ecological recovery – 
will drive delivery of 
the One City 
Ecological 
Emergency Strategy 
and BCC action plan 
– reduce use of 
products that 
undermine wildlife 
habitats and wider 
ecosystems 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 192



 
-ive 

 
Some projects may 
affect, enclose, 
downsize, or remove 
habitats and green 
and blue spaces. 
 
 

 
Project co-ordinators will 
design and implement 
projects to minimise any 
negative impacts on 
habitats and species and 
to aim for biodiversity net 
gain wherever possible.  
This may include 
biodiversity offsetting 
(replacing lost habitat 
type with equivalent 
habitat types in another 
location) where this is 
possible and is the only 
means to achieve this. 
 

Consulted with: The actions and Key Performance Indicators identified in the draft 
Business Plan have been consulted on by Executive Directors, Directors and Heads of 
Service. The first draft of the Business Plan will be subject to input from all levels of the 
Decision Pathway and councillor scrutiny. 

Summary of impacts and Mitigation - to go into the main Cabinet/ Council Report 

Environmental impacts of key priorities and policy commitments that are referenced in 
this document were considered when formulating the Corporate Strategy and when 
individual services were drawing up their Service Plans. While the aim is to achieve the 
positive outcomes listed above, there will inevitably be some potential for negative 
impacts from implementing some projects. 
 
 
Mitigation will be separately considered for any specific measures requiring Cabinet 
approval, but will follow the generic pattern of mitigation set out in this assessment. The 
adoption of this Business Plan will have no direct impact, but the delivery of the 
associated actions (particularly those attached to the sustainability building block in the 
Corporate Strategy 2022-2027) provides a basis for more environmental sustainable 
planning and operational change to follow. 
  
Actions within the Business Plan provide for significant positive environmental 
improvement, in particular a reduction in citywide CO2 emissions and improvements to 
local air quality. Specific decisions and policy making in the future will be guided by these 
key actions, but will be subject to separate approvals. 
  
The overall impact of this strategy is likely to be positive. 

Checklist completed by: 

Name: Chris Duncan 

Dept.: Policy, Strategy and Partnerships 

Extension:  N/A 

Date:  06/02/2022 

Page 193



Verified by  
Environmental Performance Team 

Daniel Shelton 
07.02.2022 

 
 
 

Page 194



 

Equality Impact Assessment [version 2.9] 

 

Title: 2022/23 Corporate Business Plan and Performance Framework 

☐ Policy  ☒ Strategy  ☐ Function  ☐ Service 

☐ Other [please state]  

☒ New  

☐ Already exists / review ☐ Changing  

Directorate: Resources Lead Officer name: Tim Borrett 

Service Area: Policy, Strategy and Partnerships  Lead Officer role: Director, Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships  

Step 1: What do we want to do?  

The purpose of an Equality Impact Assessment is to assist decision makers in understanding the impact of proposals 
as part of their duties under the Equality Act 2010. Detailed guidance to support completion can be found here 
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com).  

This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of the 
proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team approach to 
completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Equality and Inclusion Team early for advice and 
feedback.  

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal? 

Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the intended aims / 
outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use plain English, avoiding 
jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of people including decision-makers 
and the wider public. 

The aim of the Business Plan is to show what actions Bristol City Council will take in 2022-23 to meet the 

commitments that have been made in the Corporate Strategy 2022-2027. For each of the seven key themes in the 

Corporate Strategy, the Business Plan summarises high level actions and success measures that will make sure we 

spend our money, time and resources as effectively as possible. The Performance Framework is a more detailed 

set of measures used to measure, gauge, report upon, support and challenge performance from an operational 

managerial level up to the highest strategic levels of the council. 

The seven themes within the Business Plan/Corporate Strategy are: Children and Young People, Economy and 
Skills, Environment and Sustainability, Health and Wellbeing, Homes and Communities, Transport and An Effective 
Development Organisation. 
 
These actions and activities are drawn from the detailed contents of Service Plans created by every service. 
Service Plans also incorporate their Equality Action Plans (EAP) into their planning and the final Business Plan 
includes specific actions informed by these EAPs. The Performance Framework is a more detailed set of measures 
used to measure, gauge, report upon, support and challenge performance from an operational managerial level 
up to the highest strategic levels of the council. 

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect? 

☒ Bristol City Council workforce  ☒ Service users ☒ The wider community  

☒ Commissioned services ☒ City partners / Stakeholder organisations 

Additional comments:  

Page 195

https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk
http://www.plainenglish.co.uk/
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Corporate_Strategy_2022-27.pdf/64775487-6d75-004b-2f79-cc4037cf2010?t=1642610835516


1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?   

Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the potential to 
change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?  

If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by Equality 
and Inclusion Team.  

If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment, or if you plan to complete the assessment at a later stage please state 
this clearly here and request review by the Equality and Inclusion Team. 

☒ Yes    ☐ No                       [please select] 
 

 

 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 

Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include general 
population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with particular reference to 
protected and other relevant characteristics: https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-
success .  

Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix of 
qualitative and quantitative data e.g. from national or local research, available data or previous consultations and 
engagement activities. 

Outline whether there is any over or under representation of equality groups within relevant services - don't forget 

to benchmark to the local population where appropriate. Links to available data and reports are here Data, statistics 

and intelligence (sharepoint.com). See also: Bristol Open Data (Quality of Life, Census etc.); Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA); Ward Statistical Profiles. 

For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected teams using 

available evidence such as HR Analytics: Power BI Reports (sharepoint.com) which shows the diversity profile of 

council teams and service areas. Identify any over or under-representation compared with Bristol economically 

active citizens for different characteristics. Additional sources of useful workforce evidence include the Employee 

Staff Survey Report and Stress Risk Assessment Form 

Data / Evidence Source 
[Include a reference 
where known] 

Summary of what this tells us 

Corporate Strategy 
2022-27 

The Corporate Strategy 2022-27 sets out the Council’s corporate and city vision and 
outlines its top-level priorities and strategic themes. The vision outlined in the 
Corporate Strategy is equality focussed and the seven strategic themes make 
numerous references to delivering positive change for equalities groups. 

Census 2011 and 
Census 2021 

As the Business Plan is a citywide document, the statistics used mostly relate to Bristol 
as a whole. The Census details the demographic profile of Bristol. The first results of 
the 2021 census will not be available until Spring 2022, so demographic data is still 
informed by 2011 census and other population related documents (listed below). 

Census 2011: Key 
Statistics About 
Equalities Communities 
in Bristol 

Age Number % England + 
Wales % 

0-17 years 87,503 20.4 21.3 
18-64 284,859 66.5 62.2 
65 + 55,872 13.0 16.4 Page 196

mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-success
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalities-success
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/data-statistics-and-intelligence.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/data-statistics-and-intelligence.aspx
https://bristol.opendatasoft.com/explore/?sort=modified&q=equalities
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/new-wards-data-profiles
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbristolcouncil.sharepoint.com%2Fsites%2FHR%2FSitePages%2Fhr-reports.aspx&data=04%7C01%7C%7C90358974d66d41257ac108d8deebfdde%7C6378a7a50f214482aee0897eb7de331f%7C0%7C0%7C637504452456282778%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=6kXYSnoOXQ1Yn%2Be9ZRGlZULZJYwfQ3jygxGLOPN%2BccU%3D&reserved=0
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/hr-reports.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/hr-reports.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/HealthSafetyandWellbeing/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B813AE494-A25E-4C9C-A7F7-1F6A48883800%7D&file=Stress%20risk%20assessment%20form.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Corporate_Strategy_2022-27.pdf/64775487-6d75-004b-2f79-cc4037cf2010?t=1642610835516
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33620/Corporate_Strategy_2022-27.pdf/64775487-6d75-004b-2f79-cc4037cf2010?t=1642610835516
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/census-2011
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/census-2021
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34008/2011+Census+Key+Statistics+About+Equalities+Communities.pdf/2c59eeae-b5fa-431d-87b8-f629c241dff6?t=1436544603000


Total  428,234 100.0 100.0 
Gender       
Female 215,163 50.2 50.8 
Male 213,071 49.8 49.2 
Ethnicity       
Black and 
minority 
ethnic 

68,642 16.0 14.0 

White British 333,432 77.9 80.5 
Other White 26,160 6.1 5.5 
Religion       
Yes 233,234 54.5 67.7 
No 160,218 37.4 25.1 
Not stated 34,762 8.1 7.2 
Disability       
Day-to-day 
activities 
limited 

71,724 16.7 17.9 

Day-to-day 
activities no 
limited 

356,510 83.3 82.1 

Sexual 
orientation 

     

LGBT   6 
 

The Population of 
Bristol 

Updated annually. The report brings together statistics on the current estimated 
population of Bristol, recent trends in population, future projections and looks at the 
key characteristics of the people living in Bristol. 

Wards: Data Profiles The Ward Profiles provide a range of data-sets, including Population, Life Expectancy, 
Premature Mortality and Education for each of Bristol’s 34 electoral wards. 

Indices of Deprivation 
(2019) 

The Indices of Deprivation measure relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 small areas 
or neighbourhoods across England, called Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs). 
LSOA’s are a smaller geographical area than an electoral ward; there may be 8-10 
LSOAs in an electoral ward. The indices of deprivation indicate the parts of the city 
where poverty and disadvantage are most acute. In brief, Bristol has 41 LSOAs in the 
most deprived 10% in England for Multiple Deprivation (one less than in 2015), 
including 3 LSOAs in the most deprived 1% in England (3 less than in 2015). 
The 10 most deprived neighbourhoods in Bristol in 2019 are all in the South Bristol 
areas of Hartcliffe, Whitchurch Park and Knowle West. At ward level, the greatest 
levels of deprivation in Bristol are in the wards of Hartcliffe & Withywood, Lawrence 
Hill and Filwood, the same as identified in 2015 

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (data 
profiles) 

Brings together detailed information on health and wellbeing needs within Bristol and 
looks ahead at emerging challenges and projected future needs. In brief, inequalities 
in health outcomes are clearly linked to socio-economic deprivation and the parts of 
the city where general health tends to be poorest are also the most socio-
economically deprived parts of the city. 

Quality of Life Survey The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is an annual randomised sample survey of the Bristol 
population, mailed to 33,000 households (with online & paper options), and some 
additional targeting to boost numbers from low responding groups. In brief, the 
2021/22 QoL survey indicated that inequality and deprivation continue to affect 
people’s experience in almost every element measured by the survey. 

Citizens’ Assembly The Citizens’ Assembly was composed of 60 randomly selected participants. The 
group reflected the diversity of the population in terms of age, sex, ethnicity, 
disability, employment status, and geographical location.  Bristol Citizens' Assembly 
was part of a process created by the city of Bristol to gather public input to inform its 
COVID-19 recovery plan. 

Additional comments: Individual actions within the Business Plan have been derived from Service Plans across 
the Council. Heads of Service may have used a variety of other data or evidence sources to inform their key 
actions. Page 197

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Population+of+Bristol+September+2021.pdf/e6cb7ac8-278c-c351-9dcc-07a83fb4fe23?t=1632843439676
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33904/Population+of+Bristol+September+2021.pdf/e6cb7ac8-278c-c351-9dcc-07a83fb4fe23?t=1632843439676
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/statistics-census-information/new-wards-data-profiles
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32951/Deprivation+in+Bristol+2019.pdf/ff3e5492-9849-6300-b227-1bdff2779f80
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/32951/Deprivation+in+Bristol+2019.pdf/ff3e5492-9849-6300-b227-1bdff2779f80
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-data-profile
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-data-profile
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/policies-plans-strategies/jsna-data-profile
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33896/QoL_2021-22_Priority_Indicators_briefing.pdf/ebe2af19-0628-f44b-95b4-83f737e562b0?t=1643621428346
https://bristol.citizenspace.com/ycof-1/recommendations-citizens-assembly/#:~:text=The%20assembly%20has%20produced%2017%20recommendations%20to%20take,for%20the%20environment.%20tackle%20health%20inequalities%20in%20Bristol.


2.2  Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected characteristics? 

☒ Age ☒ Disability ☒ Gender Reassignment 
☒ Marriage and Civil Partnership ☒ Pregnancy/Maternity ☒ Race 
☒ Religion or Belief ☒ Sex ☒ Sexual Orientation 

2.3  Are there any gaps in the evidence base?  

Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, include an 
equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the assessment without 
the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the assessment later. If you are 
unable to fill in the gaps, then state this clearly with a justification. 

For workforce related proposals all relevant characteristics may not be included in HR diversity reporting (e.g. 
pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not known/not 
disclosed may require an action to address under-reporting. 

Census data is currently collected every 10 years – and data from the most recent census in 2021 will not become 
available until late spring 2022. The ONS has also published mid-2020 population estimates. Gaps in data will exist 
as it becomes out of date or is limited through self-reporting.  
  
Data on the overall number of disabled people is based on residents self-reporting limiting long-term illness or 
impairment. The 2011 census asks ‘Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability 
which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? Include problems related to old age?’ As it is a self-
reported figure, the actual number of disabled people in the city may be higher.  
 
The 2021 Census asks similar health-related questions: 

 How is your health in general? 

 Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting or expected to last 12 months or 
more? 

 Do any of your conditions or illnesses reduce your ability to carry out day-to-day activities? 

 Do you look after, or give any help or support to, anyone because they have long-term physical or mental 
health conditions or illnesses, or problems related to old age? 

But issues of self-reporting still remain, and the Census data will not become available until 2022. 
  
The number of LGB people in the city is based on the DTI Final Regulatory Impact Assessment: Civil Partnerships 
Act 2004 national percentage estimate (5-7%) applied to Bristol. As it is a national estimate applied to Bristol 
population figures, the actual numbers of LGB people in the city may be higher or lower.  
 
The 2021 Census asks a number of questions relevant to LGBT statistics: 

 Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation? 

 Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth? 

These questions should give us a clearer picture of the number of LGBT in the city, but issues of self-reporting 
remain, and data will not be available until 2022. 

 

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?  

You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your assessment. 
The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This should usually include 
individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. Please include details of any 
completed engagement and consultation and how representative this had been of Bristol’s diverse communities. See 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/equalities-groups. 

Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above. 
Page 198

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/equalities-groups


If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to Managing change or restructure 
(sharepoint.com) for advice on consulting with employees etc. Relevant stakeholders for engagement about 
workforce changes may include e.g. staff-led groups and trades unions as well as affected staff.  

Whilst there has not been direct engagement or consultation about the production of the Business Plan and 
Performance Framework themselves, these documents detail delivery of the Corporate Strategy 2022-27 and how 
this is measured. This Corporate Strategy was subject to extensive internal development, including the Mayor, 
Cabinet, Corporate Leadership Board, Executive Director Meetings, Directors, Heads of Service, a cross-party 
Elected Members working group, Young Professionals Network, Youth Council, and embRACE staff network. 
Offers were also made to attend to the Disabled Colleagues Network and LGBT+ Group. The Corporate Strategy 
was also subject to a full public consultation and received input from many individuals, interest groups and 
experts and organisations including from Mayoral Women’s Commission and the Chair of the Bristol Disability 
Equality Commission. 
 
 

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue? 

Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. Please 
describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to undertake it. Include 
any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend to undertake it, please set 
out your justification. You can ask the Equality and Inclusion Team for help in targeting particular groups. 

The Business Plan is a thematic summary of top-level actions and the most important measures of our success 

only.  On this basis, Equality Impact Assessments will be carried out for specific actions and proposals on a case-

by-case basis, including engagement and formal consultation where appropriate.  

The actions summarised in the Business Plan touch on all aspects of council business and therefore bring all Bristol 

citizens in to scope, particularly vulnerable people who receive the most critical services.  We will ensure that due 

regard is given to any potential impact of specific proposals on protected characteristics by conducting Equality 

Impact Assessments for specific actions and proposals as required. This process is designed to help maximise 

positive impacts and ensure we are thoughtful and intentional about designing inclusivity and equity in to our 

work. It also helps us identify potential negative impacts and how we can eliminate, minimise or mitigate these. 

The final version of the Business Plan is subject to scrutiny via the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board. 

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact? 

Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this 
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above, and the characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010. 
Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking to address or 
mitigate through this proposal. See detailed guidance documents for advice on identifying potential impacts etc. 
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com) 

3.1  Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people based on their 
protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with combined 
characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds of disadvantage. 

Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.  

GENERAL COMMENTS   (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups) 
The Business Plan contains a number of high-level actions and corresponding measures of success but is not 
intended to give detailed delivery plans for service projects. These would be contained within the plans made by 
each service. That being said, our aim is to maximise equality and inclusion across all of the council’s work, and to 
minimise direct and indirect adverse impacts on our communities through the successful delivery of the Business Page 199

https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/managing-change-or-restructure.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/HR/SitePages/managing-change-or-restructure.aspx
https://bristolcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Corporate/SitePages/equality-impact-assessments.aspx


Plan. In doing so, particular regard given to people’s protected characteristics, and also to carers and people 
experiencing socio-economic deprivation. 
  
Many of the actions address intersecting issues of inequality, inclusiveness, participation and resilience, such as 
protecting children from violence, abuse and other adverse childhood experiences,  reducing educational 
inequality at all stages, tackling food insecurity, tackling health inequalities and the wider determinants of health, 
improving city accessibility, building more affordable housing (including social housing), increasing digital inclusion 
in more deprived parts of the city and developing skills and routes into employment that tackle structural 
inequalities. 
  
In the specific proposals or services emerging from these actions, we will highlight and mitigate particular adverse 
impacts on protected characteristics, and these are set out in those proposals’ own Equality Impact Assessments. 

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 

Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Age: Older People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Disability Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Sex Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Sexual orientation Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Pregnancy / Maternity Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Gender reassignment Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Race Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Religion or 
Belief 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Marriage & 
civil partnership 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS 

Socio-Economic 
(deprivation) 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Carers Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Other groups [Please add additional rows below to detail the impact for other relevant groups as appropriate e.g. 
Asylums and Refugees; Looked after Children / Care Leavers; Homelessness] Page 200



Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

3.2  Does the proposal create any benefits for people based on their protected or other 
relevant characteristics? 

Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal will 
support our Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 
The Business Plan reflects five key principles, all of which are focussed on creating a fairer Bristol, where everyone 
can share in the city’s success. Reducing inequality runs throughout the themes and key priorities for which the 
Business Plan is structured around. Its ambitions, therefore, are clearly aimed at creating positive outcomes and 
advancing opportunity for disadvantaged groups/communities and fostering good relations with people who do 
not share a protected characteristic. 
 
Each of the seven themes within the Business Plan - as well as the priorities which sit underneath each theme - 
contain a range of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are designed to help us measure our progress on 
delivering the city’s key priorities. Directors will be required to report back on progress against these KPIs, either 
on a quarterly or annual basis. 

 
The delivery of many of these KPIs will bring about very specific benefits for people with protected or relevant 

characteristics. Below is a list of some: 

 Improve the percentage of 17–18-year-old care leavers in Employment, Education or Training 

 Reduce the percentage of children living in low-income families 

 Improve the employment rate in areas of deprivation 

 Black, Asian and minority ethnic-led businesses supported 

 Increase the percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care who are in paid 

employment 

 Increase the number of people enabled to live independently through home adaptations 

 Reduce the pay gap 

Step 4: Impact 

4.1  How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?  

What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. This 
summary can be included in decision pathway reports etc. 

If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification showing 
how the proposal is proportionate, necessary, and appropriate despite this. 

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified: 
There are no negative impacts identified as arising from the proposals within the Business Plan. 

Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

Tackling inequality has been a ‘golden thread’ running throughout the refreshed Corporate Strategy and Business 
Plan. As noted, many of the priorities seek to address issues of inequality and promoting inclusivity, such as 
protecting children from violence, abuse and other adverse childhood experiences,  reducing educational 
inequality at all stages, tackling food insecurity, tackling health inequalities and the wider determinants of health, Page 201

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


targeting regeneration schemes in more deprived areas, building more affordable housing (including social 
housing), tackling homelessness, promoting safer and accessible neighbourhoods, making more people-centred 
services within communities, increasing the increasing digital inclusion in more deprived parts of the city, 
promoting safe and active travel and developing skills and routes into employment that tackle structural 
inequality. 

4.2  Action Plan  

Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise 
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this. 

Improvement / action required Responsible Officer Timescale  

Update data sources following results of Census 2021 Guy Collings Spring 2022 

4.3  How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?  

How will you know if you have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact 
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective your approach is still 
appropriate. 

Each of the seven themes within the Business Plan will have Key Performance Indicators which will be measured 
on an annual basis (e.g. Percentage of procurement spend with 'Small and Medium sized Enterprises' (SME's)). 
Each priority under that theme will include a number of relevant Key Performance Indicators which will be 
measured on a quarterly basis (e.g. Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known to social care who are in 
paid employment). These measures will provide us with quantitative and qualitative measures of achievement, 
which will be used to identify whether specific initiatives or interventions are providing tangible benefits to 
disadvantaged groups/communities. This evidence-based approach will allow us to identify the approaches that 
will yield greatest benefit and to modify and/or stop initiatives that are proving less successful. 

Step 5: Review 

The Equality and Inclusion Team need at least five working days to comment and feedback on your EqIA. EqIAs 
should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the equalities 
impact of the proposal. Please seek feedback and review from the Equality and Inclusion Team before requesting 
sign off from your Director1. 

Equality and Inclusion Team Review: 

Reviewed by Equality and Inclusion Team 

Director Sign-Off: 

Tim Borrett, Director: Policy, Strategy 
and Partnerships 
 

Date: 9/3/2022 Date: 11/3/2022 

 

                                            
1  Review by the Equality and Inclusion Team confirms there is sufficient analysis for decision makers to consider the 
likely equality impacts at this stage. This is not an endorsement or approval of the proposal. 
 Page 202

mailto:equalities.team@bristol.gov.uk


Forward plan 

 

This update published 7 March 2022 
Democratic Services 
Contact: Corrina Haskins, Democratic Services Officer, email: corrina.haskins@bristol.gov.uk  
 

 

THIS DOCUMENT GIVES NOTICE OF 
ANTICIPATED KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN 
AT CABINET AND OTHER MEETINGS 
 
 

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 15



 - 2 - 
 

 
BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL - FORWARD PLAN 

INDEX OF PROPOSED KEY DECISIONS 
 
 

The Forward Plan gives notice of anticipated key decisions to be taken at Cabinet, Health and Wellbeing Board  and Learning City Partnership Board 
meetings.  It will be updated and published on the Council website www.bristol.gov.uk on a monthly basis. 
 
Key Decision 
Under the Council’s constitution, the definition of a key decision is a decision which is likely to: 
 
1) Result in expenditure of £500,000 or over. 
 
2) Result in savings of £500,000 or over. 
 
3) Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in two or more wards in the city.  

 
Non-key Decision 
For additional information and completeness the Forward Plan also contains those items which are outside the definition of a key decision. 
 
Cabinet Meetings 
The Cabinet will normally meet on a Tuesday on a six weekly cycle. Meetings start at 4pm and are currently held at City Hall, College Green 
Bristol, BS1 5TR.  Meetings of the Cabinet are open to the public with the exception of discussion regarding reports which contain 
exempt/confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information which will be identified in the Mayor’s Forward Plan). 
 
Reports submitted to the Mayor and Cabinet will be available on the council’s website 5 clear working days before the date the decision can be 
made.  If you would like a copy by email please contact democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk    
 
 
  
 
 

P
age 204

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 - 3 - 
 

Glossary: 
 
HWB Health and Wellbeing Board 
LCPB Learning City Partnership Board 
APR15 Under the Council’s Constitution if a key decision needs to be taken with less than 28 days’ notice, it can still be taken under APR15 – 

General Exception, if it is impracticable to defer it until the next scheduled Cabinet meeting.  The relevant Scrutiny Commission must 
be notified and the report published as part of the agenda 5 clear working days ahead of the Cabinet meeting 

 
 
Description of Exempt Information :- England, Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the local Government Act 1972 
 

1 Information relating to any individual. 
 

2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under the authority. 
 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; 0r 

 
 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of a crime. 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 205



 - 4 - 
 

Cabinet Members 

 Mayor Marvin Rees  

 Councillor Craig Cheney – Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance and Performance 

 Councillor Asher Craig – Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education and Equalities 

 Councillor Don Alexander – Cabinet Member for Transport 

 Councillor Nicola Beech – Cabinet Member for Climate, Ecology, Waste and Energy 

 Councillor Helen Holland - Cabinet Member with responsibility for Adult Social Care and Integrated Care System 

 Councillor Ellie King Cabinet Member with responsibility for Public Health, Communities and Bristol One City 

 Councillor Tom Renhard – Cabinet Member for Housing Delivery and Homes 

 

 
 

 

 
The City Council’s website www.bristol.gov.uk contains all supporting documents and decisions for formal meetings and lots more 
about the City Council. 

 

 

P
age 206

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 5 - 
 

Gail Rogers, Head of Service - 
Children's Commissioning 
gail.rogers@bristol.gov.uk 

Home to School Travel DPS Framework Re-
commission 
To seek approval for a new Home to School Travel 
DPS framework to open transport tenders up to 
more providers, consultation on travel policy to 
introduce independent travel training and 
recommendations for service delivery based on 
modelling of children and their needs attending 
different settings. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Patricia Barry, Interim Director: 
Property 
patricia.barry@bristol.gov.uk 

Restructure of the lease of the Mill Youth 
Centre, Easton 
To seek approval for the restructure of the lease 
of the Mill Youth Centre to Empire Fighting 
Chance, and authorise regrant of the lease. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Patricia Barry, Interim Director: 
Property 
patricia.barry@bristol.gov.uk 

Astry Close - Community Led Housing 
To approve the disposal of land at Astry Close at 
less than best consideration for the development 
of community led housing and authorise the 
agreement of the terms of a lease at an 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 207



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 6 - 
 

undervalue.  

  
Open 
 
  
 

Steve Ransom, Acting Head of 
Energy 
steve.ransom@bristol.gov.uk 

Domestic Energy Upgrade of Low Income Homes 
To seek approval to (if successful) accept 
Sustainable Warmth Grant (HUG 1) funding and 
to bid for, accept, and spend any additional 
funding or extensions offered on the Sustainable 
Warmth Scheme.  

  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Paul Sylvester, Rehousing 
Manager 
paul.sylvester@bristol.gov.uk 

Homelessness Prevention Grant 2022/23 
To seek approval to spend Bristol’s Homelessness 
Prevention Grant 2022/23 allocation. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Fiona Lester, Head of Housing 
Management and Estates 
Fiona.Lester@bristol.gov.uk 

Rental Income and Arrears Management Policy 
To seek approval of the Rental Income and 
Arrears Management Policy for Bristol City 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 208



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 7 - 
 

Council residents. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Homes 

Fiona Lester, Head of Housing 
Management and Estates 
Fiona.Lester@bristol.gov.uk 

Housing Revenue account (HRA) Debt Write Off 
To seek approval to write off former tenant debts 
held on CIVICA CX which are over three years old. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Elaine Olphert, Head of Housing 
Delivery 
elaine.olphert@bristol.gov.uk 

Goram Homes - Pipeline of Housing 
Development Sites 
To note the update on the current status of the 
sites previously approved for transfer to Goram 
Homes and to approve the transfer of a number 
of additional housing delivery sites to Goram 
Homes.  

  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

John Roy, Group Manager – 
Transport Assets 
john.roy@bristol.gov.uk 

Metrobus Upgrade Package 
To seek approval in relation to grant funding from 
the West of England Combined Authority (WECA) 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 

P
age 209



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 8 - 
 

for improvement works, authorisation for use of 
the Metrobus budget and note measures to 
improve delivery of capital programmes within 
City Transport and Highways & Traffic Services. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Commission 

Thomas Jarvis, Learning City 
Strategic Lead 
thomas.jarvis@bristol.gov.uk 

Holiday Activities and Food Fund 2022 
To seek approval to accept and spend the grant 
funding from the Holiday Activities and Food 
Fund 2022. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Adam Crowther, Head of 
Strategic City Transport 
adam.crowther@bristol.gov.uk 

Portway Park & Ride Car Park Expansion 
To seek approval to submit a funding bid and Full 
Business Case to the West of England Combined 
Authority (WECA), to deliver the expansion of the 
Portway Park & Ride Car Park by March 2023 and 
if successful, to authorise the delivery of the 
scheme. 
 
 

  
Open 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 210



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 9 - 
 

 
  
 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

P10 Finance Exception Report 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Tim O'Gara, Director - Legal and 
Democratic Services 
tim.ogara@bristol.gov.uk 

Bristol Holding Limited Group Company Business 
Plans 2022/23 
To approve the 2022/23 Business Plans for the 
Bristol Holding Limited Group of companies. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Hugh Evans, Executive Director: 
People 
hugh.evans@bristol.gov.uk 

Extension of the Memorandum of 
Understanding Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire Healthier together 
partnership 
To agree the extension of the Memorandum of 
Understanding for the Bristol, North Somerset 
and South Gloucestershire Healthier together 
Integrated care partnership.  
Non Key 
Open 
 
  

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care and 
Integrated Care 
System 

Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

P
age 211



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 10 - 
 

 

Paul Sylvester, Rehousing 
Manager 
paul.sylvester@bristol.gov.uk 

Extensions for Young People’s Housing & 
Independence Pathway contracts 
Approval to extend and vary the existing Bristol 
Youth MAPS (Mediation, Assessment, Prevention 
and Support), high support, medium high support 
and low support contracts. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
3 Mar 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

John Smith, Director: Economy 
of Place 
john.smith2@bristol.gov.uk 

Update on Temple Gate and Station Approach 
and Compulsory Purchase of the Grosvenor 
Hotel 
To seek approval and authorisations for land 
acquisition related to Temple Gate (formerly 
Temple Square) the purchase of Station 
Approach, and the Compulsory Purchase of the 
Grosvenor Hotel site. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Elaine Olphert, Head of Housing 
Delivery 
elaine.olphert@bristol.gov.uk 

Proposed Compulsory Purchase of 16 Branwhite 
Close and the Gainsborough Public House,  
Lockleaze 
To seek an updated approval following Cabinet 
approval on 3 September 2019 for Bristol City 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 212



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 11 - 
 

Council to compulsory purchase the 
Gainsborough Public House site in Lockleaze and 
16 Branwhite Close should negotiated acquisition 
fail. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Pete Woodhouse, Group 
Manager Sustainable Transport 
peter.woodhouse@bristol.gov.
uk 

Geographical Expansion of the E-scooter on-
street rental trial 
To approve extending the current on-street e-
scooter rental trial operating area to cover the 
whole of Bristol. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

David Bunting, Head of Traffic 
and Highways Maintenance 
david.bunting@bristol.gov.uk 

Cashless Parking Contract Extension 
To approve a 3 year contract extension for the 
provision of Cashless Parking (RingGo) . 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Jon Finch, Head of Culture and 
Creative Industries 
Jon.Finch@bristol.gov.uk 

Museum Estate and Development Fund (MEND) 
To seek approval to accept and spend (subject to 
award) funding from the Museum Estate and 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 

P
age 213



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 12 - 
 

Development Fund (MEND). 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

and Performance Commission 

Fiona Gilmour, Cabinet Policy 
Advisor 
fiona.gilmour@bristol.gov.uk 

Recommendations of the We Are Bristol History 
Commission 
To endorse the content and recommendations of 
the We Are Bristol History Commission “Colston 
Statue: What Next?” report. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Paul Sylvester, Rehousing 
Manager 
paul.sylvester@bristol.gov.uk 

Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) Services 2022-
2025 
To seek approval to submit a funding bid to the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) to reduce rough sleeping 
in the city for 2022/25 and if successful accept 
and spend the funding. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Paul Sylvester, Rehousing 
Manager 

Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme 
(RSAP) Grant Funding 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 

Communities 
Scrutiny 

P
age 214



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 13 - 
 

paul.sylvester@bristol.gov.uk To seek approval to submit a bid to the Rough 
Sleeping Accommodation Program (RSAP) round 
5 and if successful, to accept and spend the 
funding. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Commission 

Tom Gilchrist, Private Housing 
and Accessible Homes Manager 
tom.gilchrist@bristol.gov.uk 

Private Housing Service– Rogue landlord 
database and time period of a banning order 
Policy 
To note the Private Housing Service– Rogue 
landlord database and time period of a banning 
order Policy. 

Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Elaine Olphert, Head of Housing 
Delivery 
elaine.olphert@bristol.gov.uk 

Funding for Housing Enabling Infrastructure in 
Filwood 
To update Cabinet on the proposed Housing 
Enabling Infrastructure within Filwood, and the 
provision of a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) for 
Filwood and Knowle West, and floodlighting for 
the Redcatch Football Club. 
 
To seek approval to utilise funding from the 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 215



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 14 - 
 

Filwood Green Capital Receipt Budget towards a 
new MUGA for Filwood and Knowle West, 
floodlighting for the Redcatch Football Club, and 
towards Housing Enabling Infrastructure within 
Filwood.  

  
Open 
 
  
 

Shaun Taylor, Highways 
Manager 
shaun.taylor@bristol.gov.uk 

Street Lighting LED upgrade and CMS rollout 
To seek approval to spend allocated funding to 
procure and award the Bristol’s LED (Light 
Emitting Diode) and CMS (Central Management 
System) street lighting contract. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regenerations 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

John Roy, Group Manager – 
Transport Assets 
john.roy@bristol.gov.uk 

City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement 
(CRSTS) 2022-2027 
To seek approval and authority to bid for, accept 
and spend funding allocations from West of 
England Combined Authority (WECA) as part of 
the City Regions Sustainable Transport 
Settlement (CRSTS) and the allocation of match 
funding to deliver the programme of works to 
outline business case stage, including 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Transport 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 216



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 15 - 
 

maintenance, legacy or minor works. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

David White, Service Manager 
david.white@bristol.gov.uk 

Appointment of preferred bidder for City Leap 
Energy Partnership 
To seek approval to appoint a Preferred Bidder 
for the City Leap Energy Partnership and to take 
further steps as necessary to establish the City 
Leap Joint Venture to implement City Leap. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

City Funds Limited Partnership 
To seek approval to increase the term of the fund 
for the City Fund Limited Partnership from 10 
years to 11 years 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Great Western Credit Union (GWCU - previously 
known as Bristol Credit Union) further 
investment from Fair4All funding 
To seek approval on the proposal by WGCU to 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 217



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 16 - 
 

accept the investment from Fair4All funding to 
support providing more loans to those in 
deprived areas from high cost lenders. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Tara Dillon, Service Manager, 
Programme Management Office 
Tara.Dillon@bristol.gov.uk 

Digital Transformation Plans and Update 
To update on the Digital Transformation Plan and 
seek approval and authority to procure and 
award contracts for a Digital Strategic Partner and 
Telephony project/solution. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

John Walsh, Director: 
Workforce & Change 
john.walsh@bristol.gov.uk 

Building Practice Capital Programme Budget 
Allocation 2022-2026 
To seek approval of the Building Practice Capital 
Budget allocation of a proposed capital spend of 
11 million across a number of sites and work 
types. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Denise Murray, Director - P11 Finance Exception Report Cabinet Deputy Mayor with Resources 

P
age 218



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 17 - 
 

Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

To inform Cabinet of any material change since 
P10 and seek approval for any finance approvals 
that are required. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

5 Apr 2022 responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Q3 Quarterly Performance Progress Report – Q3 
2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Business Plan and Performance Framework 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Fiona Tudge, Service Manager, 
Safeguarding and Quality 
Assurance 
fiona.tudge@bristol.gov.uk 

Adoption West Contract extension 
To seek agreement for a five-year extension to 
the Adoption West Commissioning Agreement 
from 1st March 2022- 28 Feb 2027.  
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 219



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 18 - 
 

Lucia Dorrington, Deputy 
Director Commissioning 
lucia.dorrington@bristol.gov.uk 

Adult Social Care -- changes to Care Home 
Placements Commissioning of bed-based care 
for Older People 
To seek approval and authority to implement 
changes to better manage the cost and supply of 
bed-based packages of care (complex needs) for 
Older People. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care and 
Integrated Care 
System 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Becky Lewis 
becky.lewis@bristol.gov.uk 

Violence Reduction Unit Grant Funding 
To seek approval to bid for 3-year grant funding 
from the Home Office as part of the Avon and 
Somerset Regional Violence Unit to maintain the 
Bristol component of the Violence Reduction Unit 
and if successful accept and spend the funding. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
5 Apr 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

 

Jane Taylor, Employment and 
Skills Manager 
jane.taylor@bristol.gov.uk 

Apprenticeship Commissioning 
To seek approval of the new commissioning 
arrangements for apprenticeship training and 
assessment services 
  
Open 
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 220



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 19 - 
 

  
 

Gail Rogers, Head of Service - 
Children's Commissioning 
gail.rogers@bristol.gov.uk 

Youth Zones - Full Business Case 
To seek approval for the business case and site 
for the Youth Zone in the South of the City 
including the lease of an asset for the duration of 
the project. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Joanna Copping, Consultant: 
Sexual Health 
joanna.copping@bristol.gov.uk 

Recommissioning of Bristol, North Somerset and 
South Gloucestershire CCG Contract for 
Provision of Sexual Health Services. 
To seek approval and authority to recommission 
the BNSSG Contract for the Provision of Sexual 
health Services. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Public Health, 
Communities and 
Bristol One City 

Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

Guy Collings, Head of Insight, 
Performance and Intelligence 
Guy.Collings@bristol.gov.uk 

Q4 Quarterly Performance Progress Report – Q4 
2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

P
age 221



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 20 - 
 

Denise Murray, Director - 
Finance & Section 151 Officer 
denise.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Q4 Corporate Risk Management Report 2021/22 
Non Key 
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Tim Borrett, Director: Policy, 
Strategy and Partnerships 
tim.borrett@bristol.gov.uk 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2021-24 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

Adam Crowther, Head of 
Strategic City Transport 
adam.crowther@bristol.gov.uk 

Defra Innovation Resilience Programme Fund 
To seek approval of a business case and 
authorisation to apply for, accept and spend 
grant funding to enter into contract(s) to deliver 
the proposals set out in the business case. 

  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Climate, Ecology, 
Waste and Energy 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Grace Davies, Public Health 
Principal 
grace.davies@bristol.gov.uk 

Grant funding for a Weight Management Service 
To seek approval to accept and spend a grant for 
a weight management service. 
  
Open 
 
  

Cabinet 
Before 7 
Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Public Health, 
Communities and 
Bristol One City 

Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

P
age 222



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 21 - 
 

 

Gail Rogers, Head of Service - 
Children's Commissioning 
gail.rogers@bristol.gov.uk 

Education Health Care Plans (EHCP) Additional 
Provision Framework Contract 
To approve the commissioning and establishment 
of a flexible framework of providers to deliver 
EHCP Additional Provision Services including 
therapies and learning support 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
7 Jun 2022 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Children’s Services, 
Education and 
Equalities 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Lucia Dorrington, Deputy 
Director Commissioning 
lucia.dorrington@bristol.gov.uk 

Recommissioning of Care and Support Services 
in Extra Care Housing 
To seek cabinet approval to undertake a tender 
exercise to recommission and award contracts for 
commissioned Care and Support Services in Extra 
Care Housing Schemes in Bristol.  
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
7 Jun 2022 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Adult Social Care and 
Integrated Care 
System 

People Scrutiny 
Commission 

Tom Gilchrist, Private Housing 
and Accessible Homes Manager 
tom.gilchrist@bristol.gov.uk 

Gypsy, Travellers and Showpeople permanent 
sites 
To seek permission to approve the development 
of permanent Gypsy, Travellers and Showpeople 
sites. 
  
Open 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Housing Delivery and 
Homes 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 223



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 22 - 
 

 
  
 

Abigail Stratford, Service 
Manager, Major Projects 
abigail.stratford@bristol.gov.uk 

Whitehouse Street Regeneration Framework 
To seek approval of the Whitehouse Street 
Regeneration Framework. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Mayor Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Richard Fletcher, Parks Services 
Manager 
richard.fletcher@bristol.gov.uk 

Response to Ash Dieback disease 
To approve the Council’s approach to managing 
the immediate risk to people and property from 
trees affected by Ash Dieback and to take steps to 
ensure the environmental impacts are properly 
responded to including delivering a new tree 
planting programme. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Public Health, 
Communities and 
Bristol One City 

Communities 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

Kate Murray, Head of Libraries 
k.murray@bristol.gov.uk 

Book Supply Contract 
To approve the procurement of a new book 
supply contract for 3 years with possible 
extensions of two 12 month periods. 

  
Open 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Public Health, 
Communities and 
Bristol One City 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

P
age 224



Lead Officer Title and summary of Decision  Meeting 
date 

Decision taker Scrutiny Remit 

 - 23 - 
 

 
  
 

Jon Finch, Head of Culture and 
Creative Industries 
Jon.Finch@bristol.gov.uk 

Bristol Harbour Festival Contract 
To seek approval to go out to tender for the 
Bristol Harbour Festival contract. 
  
Open 
 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for 
Public Health, 
Communities and 
Bristol One City 

Growth and 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

John Smith, Director: Economy 
of Place 
john.smith2@bristol.gov.uk 

Extension of externally procured IT services 
contract for The Bottle Yard Studios 
To seek approval to extend provision of the IT 
Services contract for The Bottle Yard Studios with 
Bristol IT Company Ltd for a period of 12 months 
(‘Year 4’) between July 2022 and June 2023 and 
commencement of the procurement process for 
the Provision of IT Services contract for July 2023 
– June 2031. 
  
Part exempt 
3 
  
 

Cabinet 
Before 4 
Apr 2023 

Deputy Mayor with 
responsibility for 
Finance, Governance 
and Performance 

Resources 
Scrutiny 
Commission P

age 225



West of England Combined Authority
WECA Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Monday, 24 January 2022, 2.00  - 4.00 pm
Council Chamber, Kingswood Civic Centre, High Street, Kingswood BS15 9TR 
3 Rivergate, Bristol BS1 6ER

Present:
Cllr Winston Duguid, Bath and North East 
Somerset
Cllr Hal MacFie, Bath and North East Somerset 
Council
Cllr Geoff Gollop, Bristol City Council
Cllr Brenda Massey, Bristol City Council
Cllr Steve Pearce, Bristol City Council

Cllr Andrew Varney, Bristol City Council
Cllr Brian Allinson, South Gloucestershire Council
Cllr James Arrowsmith, South Gloucestershire 
Council
Cllr John Ashe, South Gloucestershire Council

Officers In Attendance:

Apologies:
Cllr Ed Plowden, Bristol City Council Cllr Peter Crew, North Somerset Council

Minutes

1  Apologies for absence 
It was noted that apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Mike Bird and 
Councillor Ed Plowden.

2  Declarations of interest 
There were no declarations of interest.

3  Minutes of previous meeting 
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the West of England Combined Authority Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee held on 13 December 2021 be confirmed as a correct record.

4  Discussion with Metro Mayor 
Relationship between Metro Mayor and unitary authority Leaders

The Chair welcomed Metro Mayor Dan Norris to the meeting, noting that the Metro Mayor 
was able to attend for the first 30 minutes of this meeting.  He also welcomed Councillor Toby 
Savage, Leader of South Gloucestershire Council to the meeting.  The Chair commented that 
the Committee were very happy to extend an invitation to all Mayors and Leaders to attend 
future meetings, with a view to enabling scrutiny members to raise issues with them and ask 
questions of them about forthcoming decisions.

Points raised / noted in discussion with the Metro Mayor:
a. Scrutiny members flagged the importance of Mayors and Leaders resolving their 

evident ‘differences’ (for example, around their differing views about the merits of pre-
agenda briefings/meetings involving Mayors and Leaders to discuss committee 
reports as part of the governance arrangements) as a matter of urgency and find a 
workable way forward that recognises the need to collaborate and work collectively in 
the best interests of our region’s residents.  If this is not resolved urgently, Scrutiny 
members fear reputational damage for the region may prevail.  Given the context of 
the imminent Levelling-Up white paper, we need to demonstrate that the region is 
ready to deliver.

Page 226

Agenda Item 16



b. Members eagerly await the outcome of the work being undertaken by Professor Steve 
West in liaison with Mayors and Leaders to unlock and understand the issues that 
need to be resolved and help find a constructive way forward.

c. They urged that public discussions between Mayors and Leaders are held in a 
mutually respectful manner and in the spirit of collaboration – as in other combined 
authority areas, there will inevitably be areas of political disagreement from time to 
time – the key challenge is to overcome this and focus on delivery across the areas of 
agreement.  

d. Members noted that the Audit Committee is intending to review governance matters at 
their meeting on 1 March 2022, particularly in terms of addressing the potential risks 
that the current political situation may have in relation to the Combined Authority’s 
governance and ensuring sound and secure decision-making. The members sincerely 
hope that the Audit Committee will, by 1 March, be in a position to assess that real 
progress is being made in terms of the working relationship between Mayors and 
Leaders.

At the conclusion of the discussion, the Chair thanked the Metro Mayor for his attendance.
5  Items from the public (questions; statements) 

It was noted that 4 statements had been received in advance of the meeting.  The statements 
had been circulated to committee members and were available to view on the Combined 
Authority web site. 

The statements received were on the following subjects:
1. David Redgewell – Budget and transport issues (this statement was presented at the 
meeting)
2. Peter Travis – Transport issues 
3. David Andrews – Transport issues (this statement was presented at the meeting)
4. Christopher Maltin – Transport issues (this statement was presented at the meeting)

It was noted that 2 questions had been submitted in advance of this meeting on the following 
subjects:
1. David Redgewell - Bus recovery grant 
2. David Redgewell – Transport interchanges
Written replies had been sent to the questioner in advance of the meeting. The questions and 
replies had been circulated to committee members and were available to view on the 
Combined Authority web site.

6  Chair's announcements 
None.

7  Update on and review of 28 January WECA Committee and West of England Joint 
Committee Reports 
Committee members reviewed and commented as follows on the 28 January committee 
reports.  It was noted that some of the reports had been considered by the Transport sub-
group at their meeting held on 17 January 2022 and comments from Cllr Ed Plowden, Chair 
of the sub-group are set out at Appendix 1.

West of England Combined Authority Committee reports:

Item 9 - MAYORAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET 2022/23 AND MEDIUM-TERM 
FINANCIAL FORECAST
It was noted that this report sought approval for a revenue budget for the Mayoral functions 
and the West of England Combined Authority for 2022/23.

Points raised/noted:

Page 227



* Members stressed the importance of delivering the Portishead railway line and are 
appreciative of officers’ ongoing efforts to resolve this.
* They noted and supported the proposal to transfer £950k from the 2021/22 Transport Levy 
to a specific earmarked reserve to fund the anticipated additional costs of maintaining 
continuity of bus services prior to the re-tender of major bus routes in August 2022.
* They highlighted that it will be important to maintain a close watch on the impact of inflation 
on key activities and projects.
* They noted and are supportive of the Financial Reserves Policy.

ITEM 10 - CAPITAL STRATEGY INCLUDING TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND 
INVESTMENT STRATEGIES
It was noted that this report presented the Capital Strategy for the West of England Combined 
Authority including the:
* Capital budget for 2022/23, and indicative budget up to 2024/25.
* Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23.
* Combined Authority Investment Strategy 2021 to 2026.

Points raised/noted:
* Members noted the updated Treasury Management and Investment strategies.
* They are supportive of the specific Highways and Transport Capital Grant allocations 
totalling £25m to the constituent councils for 2022/23.  And noted that the Department for 
Transport had adjusted the West of England allocation with a significantly reduced highways 
capital maintenance element of £14.6m and welcomed the fact that through the use of the 
CRSTS, we are now able to provide greater certainty for the constituent unitary authorities to 
help them better plan their highways capital maintenance over a five year period, through this 
proposal to raise the annual allocation to £25m per annum.

ITEM 11 - Investment fund programme 
It was noted that this report provided update on the overall programme and headroom, and 
outlined the extension of the current programme to 2025/26 providing £450m of funding 
overall; the proposals set out in the report would increase the available headroom for new 
projects to £66.8m.

Points raised/noted:
* Members noted this report and welcomed the £2m for Strategic Masterplanning from the 
Investment Fund headroom – they would like to be kept informed about the specific allocation 
of this funding in due course.

ITEM 12 - Investment fund – change requests 
It was noted that this report sought approval for change requests for schemes within the 
current Investment Fund programme. 

Points raised/noted:
* Members noted this report but asked that officers send some further information:
- on the latest position on the timeline for producing the Spatial Development Strategy.
- to explain the delay in taking forward the specific housing delivery programme through the 
North Keynsham Land Acquisition Fund.

ITEM 13 - REGIONAL RECOVERY AND ADAPTIONS FUND
It was noted that this report sought approval for additional funding to support the next phase 

Page 228



of regional recovery and adaption in response to the continued economic impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic.  

Points raised/noted:
* Members supported the proposal to allocate £5m to this fund and would be interested to 
receive further background information from officers on the detail / evidence on those sectors 
of the economy that suffered the greatest impacts through the pandemic.

ITEM 14 - Green Recovery Fund
It was noted that this report provided an update on the Green Recovery Fund, including 
indicative allocations by priority theme, and outlined the process for developing and assessing 
proposals.

Points raised/noted:
* Members were pleased to see this initial report.  In relation to retrofitting of buildings to 
achieve carbon reductions, it would be important to be mindful of value for money 
considerations.  It was suggested that opportunities around private investment /placemaking 
initiatives could be explored.

ITEM 15 - city region sustainable transport settlement
It was noted that this report requested agreement on the submission of the City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) to the Department for Transport on 31st January 
2022.  

Points raised/noted:
* Board members were supportive of the proposed submission and note that the proposals 
build on and take account of existing plans including the bus strategy.
* They commented that in terms of liveable neighbourhoods, early and sustained local 
engagement within communities will be critical.
* Whilst supporting the emphasis on Sustainable Transport Corridors, they felt that it would be 
crucial that walking and cycling schemes are integrated into scheme development.

ITEM 16 - On bus ‘tap on/tap off’ project
It was noted that this report updated members on development of the On Bus ‘Tap on, Tap 
off’ project and sought approval of the Full Business Case.

Points raised/noted:
* Members were very supportive of this report, noting that Phase 1 of the project will deliver 
an individual operator contactless ‘tap on tap off’ facility, with capping for adult tickets, on all 
buses in the West of England.  They would also encourage the widest possible future 
extension of this into the future, eg linking in with the regional rail network.

item 17 - ENHANCED partnership PLAN AND SCHEMES FOR BUSES
It was noted that this report provided an update on the development of a joint Enhanced 
Partnership Plan and Schemes with North Somerset Council, as required by the National Bus 
Strategy, and to seek delegated authority to approve the final documents.

Points raised/noted:
* Members were supportive of this report and asked that reference was also made to the 
comments of the Transport Sub-Group at Appendix 1.
* As a specific issue, they suggested that the lack of a bus service to/from Avonmeads retail 
park represents a deficiency in the current bus network.

Page 229



ITEM 18 - Supported bus services procurement
It was noted that this report sought approval to carry out the procurement of supported bus 
services across the region and delegated authority to award contracts in due course.

Points raised/noted:
* Members were supportive of this report – they referred also to the comments of the 
Transport Sub-Group at Appendix 1.
* They noted that the issue of procuring a Cribbs Patchway Metrobus Extension will be taken 
forward, it was suggested that the option of a Metrobus route serving the South Bristol Link 
should also be considered again.

ITEM 19 - ADULT EDUCATION BUDGET – APPROACH FOR THE 2022/23 ACADEMIC 
YEAR
It was noted that this report provided details of the
* proposed approach for the management and administration of the devolved Adult Education 
Budget (AEB) for the 2022/23 academic year.
* proposal by the Combined Authority to the Department for Education for National Skills 
Fund Bootcamp Wave 3 funding.

Points raised/noted:
* Board members were supportive of this report, noting that the approach will be sufficiently 
flexible in helping to meet individuals’ skills needs as the economy continues to move into 
recovery.
* Board members welcomed the fact that outcomes are being tracked through a ‘dashboard’ 
approach; the Skills scrutiny sub-group will be keen to receive a more detailed briefing on 
this.

ITEM 20 - Report of the independent remuneration panel
It was noted that this report presented the recommendations of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel.

Points raised/noted:
* Board members commented that clearly this is a matter for the Combined Authority to 
determine based on the independent panel’s recommendations.  A number of members did 
suggest, however, that given the range of responsibilities of the Metro Mayor, it would not in 
their view be unreasonable for the Metro Mayor’s remuneration to be at least the equivalent of 
an MP’s salary.
* Members also felt that a careful assessment should be made of the risks of not meeting the 
requirement that a Deputy Mayor should be in place and noted that the Audit Committee will 
review this as part of their governance discussions on 1 March.

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:

Appointment of interim Monitoring Officer
* It was suggested that, as a point of governance / public transparency, it would be 
appropriate for the appointment of the Combined Authority’s interim Monitoring Officer to be 
ratified formally by the Combined Authority Committee. 

Committee reports:
* Following a point raised by Cllr Gollop, it was agreed that it would be useful for the 
committee to be supplied with a description of the report preparation process, including any 
discussions/liaison that takes place through the governance process at officer groups / 

Page 230



Boards.

West of England Joint Committee report:

ITEM 9 - LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (LEP) REVENUE BUDGET SETTING 
REPORT 2022-23
It was noted that this report sought approval of the LEP revenue budget setting report for 
2022/23.

Points raised/noted:
* There were no particular comments on this report.

Note: following the meeting, the Chair (on behalf of the committee) submitted the comments 
(as set out in Appendix 1 below) to the 28 January 2022 meetings of the West of England 
Combined Authority Committee and West of England Joint Committee:

APPENDIX 1

COMMENTS FROM CHAIR OF THE WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
 
COMMENTS TO BE SUBMITTED TO: 
WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY COMMITTEE AND WEST OF ENGLAND 
JOINT COMMITTEE MEETINGS
28 JANUARY 2022
 
COMMENTS FROM CHAIR OF THE WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
 
COMMENTS TO BE SUBMITTED TO: WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
COMMITTEE and WEST OF ENGLAND JOINT COMMITTEE
28 JANUARY 2022
 
I wish to present the following comments on behalf of scrutiny members:

1. Relationship between Metro Mayor and unitary authority Leaders

We were pleased that the Metro Mayor again attended our meeting and that he has given an 
ongoing commitment to engage with scrutiny.

We were also pleased to welcome Cllr Toby Savage, Leader of South Gloucestershire 
Council to the meeting.  We are very happy to extend an invitation to all Mayors and Leaders 
to attend our future meetings, with a view to enabling us as scrutiny members to raise issues 
with them and ask questions of them about forthcoming decisions.

It is clear to us that it is now absolutely vital that Mayors and Leaders resolve their evident 
‘differences’ (for example, around their differing views about the merits of pre-agenda 
briefings/meetings involving Mayors and Leaders to discuss committee reports as part of the 
governance arrangements) as a matter of urgency and find a workable way forward that 
recognises the need to collaborate and work collectively in the best interests of our region’s 
residents.

If this is not resolved urgently, we fear reputational damage for the region may prevail.  Given 

Page 231



the context of the imminent Levelling-Up white paper, we need to demonstrate that the region 
is ready to deliver.

We eagerly await the outcome of the work being undertaken by Professor Steve West in 
liaison with Mayors and Leaders to unlock and understand the issues that need to be 
resolved and help find a constructive way forward.

We urge that public discussions between Mayors and Leaders are held in a mutually 
respectful manner and in the spirit of collaboration – as in other combined authority areas, 
there will inevitably be areas of political disagreement from time to time – the key challenge is 
to overcome this and focus on delivery across the areas of agreement.  

We note that the Audit Committee is intending to review governance matters at their meeting 
on 1 March, particularly in terms of addressing the potential risks that the current political 
situation may have in relation to the Combined Authority’s governance and ensuring sound 
and secure decision-making. We sincerely hope that the Audit Committee will, by 1 March, be 
in a position to assess that real progress is being made in terms of the working relationship 
between Mayors and Leaders.

2. Specific comments on the 28 January Combined Authority Committee reports:

Some of the reports were considered by our Transport sub-group at their meeting held on 17 
January and comments from Cllr Ed Powden, Chair of the sub-group are set out at Appendix 
1.

Specific comments:

a. Agenda item 9 - Mayoral and Combined Authority budget 2022/23 and medium-term 
financial forecast
* Members stressed the importance of delivering the Portishead railway line and are 
appreciative of officers’ ongoing efforts to resolve this.
* We noted and supported the proposal to transfer £950k from the 2021/22 Transport Levy to 
a specific earmarked reserve to fund the anticipated additional costs of maintaining continuity 
of bus services prior to the re-tender of major bus routes in August 2022.
* It will be important to maintain a close watch on the impact of inflation on key activities and 
projects.
* We noted and are supportive of the Financial Reserves Policy.

b. Agenda item 10 – Capital Strategy
* We noted the updated Treasury Management and Investment strategies.
* We are supportive of the specific Highways and Transport Capital Grant allocations totalling 
£25m to the constituent councils for 2022/23.  We noted that the Department for Transport 
had adjusted the West of England allocation with a significantly reduced highways capital 
maintenance element of £14.6m and we welcome the fact that through the use of the CRSTS, 
we are now able to provide greater certainty for the constituent unitary authorities to help 
them better plan their highways capital maintenance over a five year period, through this 
proposal to raise the annual allocation to £25m per annum.

c. Agenda item 11 – Investment fund programme
* We noted this report and welcomed the £2m for Strategic Masterplanning from the 
Investment Fund headroom – we would like to be kept informed about the specific allocation 
of this funding in due course.

Page 232



d. Agenda item 12 – Investment Fund – change requests
* We noted this report but asked that officers send us some further information:
- on the latest position on the timeline for producing the Spatial Development Strategy.
- to explain the delay in taking forward the specific housing delivery programme through the 
North Keynsham Land Acquisition Fund.

e. Agenda item 13 - Regional recovery and adaptions fund
* We support the proposal to allocate £5m to this fund and will be interested to receive further 
background information from officers on the detail / evidence on those sectors of the economy 
that suffered the greatest impacts through the pandemic.

f. Agenda item 14 – Green Recovery Fund
* We were pleased to see this initial report.  In relation to retrofitting of buildings to achieve 
carbon reductions, it will be important to be mindful of value for money considerations.  It was 
suggested that opportunities around private investment /placemaking initiatives could be 
explored.

g. Agenda item 15 – City Region Sustainable Transport Fund
* We were supportive of the proposed submission and note that the proposals build on and 
take account of existing plans including the bus strategy.
* In terms of liveable neighbourhoods, early and sustained local engagement within 
communities will be critical.
* Whilst we support the emphasis on Sustainable Transport Corridors, it will be crucial that 
walking and cycling schemes are integrated into scheme development.

h. Agenda item 16 – On bus ‘tap on, tap off’ project
* We were very supportive of this report, noting that Phase 1 of the project will deliver an 
individual operator contactless ‘tap on tap off’ facility, with capping for adult tickets, on all 
buses in the West of England.  We also encourage the widest possible future extension of this 
into the future, eg linking in with the regional rail network.

i. Agenda item 17 - Enhanced partnership plan and schemes for buses
* We were supportive of this report – please refer also to the comments of the Transport Sub-
Group at Appendix 1.
* As a specific issue, it was suggested that the lack of a bus service to/from Avonmeads retail 
park represents a deficiency in the current bus network.

j. Agenda item 18 - Supported bus services procurement
* We were supportive of this report – please refer also to the comments of the Transport Sub-
Group at Appendix 1.
* Noting that the issue of procuring a Cribbs Patchway Metrobus Extension will be taken 
forward, it was suggested that the option of a Metrobus route serving the South Bristol Link 
should also be considered again.

k. Agenda item 19 - Adult education budget – approach for the 2022/23 academic year
* We were supportive of this report, noting that the approach will be sufficiently flexible in 
helping to meet individuals’ skills needs as the economy continues to move into recovery.
* We also welcome the fact that outcomes are being tracked through a ‘dashboard’ approach; 
the Skills scrutiny sub-group will be keen to receive a more detailed briefing on this.

l. Agenda item 20 – Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel
* Clearly this is a matter for the Combined Authority to determine based on the independent 
panel’s recommendations.  A number of members did suggest, however, that given the range 
of responsibilities of the Metro Mayor, it would not in their view be unreasonable for the Metro 
Mayor’s remuneration to be at least the equivalent of an MP’s salary.

Page 233



* Members also felt that a careful assessment should be made of the risks of not meeting the 
requirement that a Deputy Mayor should be in place and noted that the Audit Committee will 
review this as part of their governance discussions on 1 March.

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:

Appointment of interim Monitoring Officer
* It was suggested that, as a point of governance / public transparency, it would be 
appropriate for the appointment of the Combined Authority’s interim Monitoring Officer to be 
ratified formally by the Combined Authority Committee. 

Committee reports:
* Following a point raised by Cllr Gollop, it was agreed that it would be useful for the 
committee to be supplied with a description of the report preparation process, including any 
discussions/liaison that takes place through the governance process at officer groups / 
Boards.

3. Comments on the 28 January West of England Joint Committee report:

Agenda item 9 – Local Enterprise Partnership revenue budget setting report
* There were no particular comments on this report.

Councillor Winston Duguid
Chair
West of England Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Appendix 1

Comments from Chair of Scrutiny Transport sub-group (arising from meeting held on 
17 January 2022:

Bus strategy and Enhanced Partnerships:
* We note the considerable work undertaken to create a Bus Strategy and an Improvement 
Plan, and to lay the groundwork for an Enhanced Partnership (which is the local delivery 
model for the strategy and plan).
* We fully support the focus on improving and harmonising ticketing, capping fares and 
cleaning up the emissions from buses.
* Given the Government will announce the revenue funding in February and has extended the 
overall deadline, we fully support the approach to tailor the next steps to that funding 
package, also noting the significant focus on corridor improvements in the CRSTS.
* More details will be needed in due course about how operators will be encouraged to 
match the corridor investments with their own investment in increased frequency.
* We would like to be able to revisit the proposals once officers and operators have 
refined them following the announcement of funding.

Supported Bus services:
* We note that all current supported bus services will be tendered, and following discussion 
with operators, some of the commercial services at threat will also be included in the tender.
* We have previously heard about the lobbying to extend the current Bus Recovery Grant 
beyond the end of March, and note that there is no news on this at present.
* We support the use, if necessary, of the underspend on the concessionary fares budget to 
protect services between end of March and the commencement of the new services at the 

Page 234



end of August.
* We note that the current budget will not support all the services that will be tendered, and 
that the timescales are tight; as such delegated authority will be sought to decide how best to 
use the investment.
* We note that this decision will be based on a range of factors including viable alternatives 
and the impact of losing the services.
* Whilst we understand that delegated authority is needed and have been assured that 
political input will be sought in making these tough decisions, we would like to see a 
clear timetable for including the involvement of Scrutiny in this process and a timely 
date for a meeting of the transport sub-group.

Communications:
* Officers advised that problems contacting Bristol Councillors are being resolved to ensure 
timely and direct communications. In the meantime Bristol Councillors noted that Cllr Don 
Alexander has recently been prompt in forwarding this information.
Monday, 4 April 2022, 1.00 pm, To be confirmed

Page 235


	Agenda
	1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
	7 Performance Report Q3 2021-22
	Q3 2021-22 Performance report - OSMB
	Appendix A1 - Summary
	Appendix A1 - Q3 Progress report 
	Key
	Appendix A2 - Definitions 2021-22

	8 Risk Report Q3 2021-22
	Q3 Corporate Risk Report Appendix 2021-2022

	9 Scrutiny Annual Report 2021-22
	Scrutiny Annual Report 20-21 Final

	10 Work Programme
	11 Bristol City Council Business Plans
	For approval 2022 Business Plan
	Introduction 
	2021/22 a Year in review 
	Sustainable Development Goals 
	More about this Business Plan 
	Our Approach 
	Our Obligations  
	Measures of success

	Theme 1: Children and young people
	City Outcome indicators for Children and Young People theme
	CYP1  Child friendly city
	CYP2  Supported to thrive
	CYP3  Equity in education
	CYP4  Intergenerational equality

	Theme 2: Economy and skills
	City Outcome indicators for Economy and Skills theme
	ES1  Regeneration
	ES2  Access to employment 
	ES3  Good growth
	ES4  Childcare 
	ES5  Digital Inclusion

	Theme 3: Environment and sustainability
	City Outcome indicators for Environment and Sustainability theme
	ENV1  Carbon neutral
	ENV2  Ecological recovery
	ENV3  A cleaner, low-waste city 
	ENV4  Climate resilience
	ENV5  Global leadership

	Theme 4: Health, care and wellbeing
	City Outcome indicators for Health, Care and Wellbeing theme
	HCW1  Transforming care
	HCW2  Mental health and wellbeing
	HCW3  Poverty

	Theme 5: Homes and communities
	City Outcome indicators for Homes and Communities theme
	HC1  Housing supply
	HC2  Low and zero carbon homes
	HC3  Homelessness 
	HC4  Disability
	HC5  Community participation

	Theme 6: Transport and connectivity
	City Outcome indicators for Transport and Connectivity theme
	TC1  Connectivity
	TC2  Improved bus services
	TC3  Safe and active travel
	TC4  Physical infrastructure

	Theme 7: Effective development organisation
	City Outcome indicators for A Development Organisation theme
	EDO1 One City
	EDO2 One Council
	EDO3   Employer of choice
	EDO4  Data driven
	EDO5 Good governance
	EDO6  Estate review

	Bibliography
	Glossary

	Performance Framework 2022-23 (final, v5)
	Bristol City Council - 2022/23 Performance Framework
	A/ Overview of performance management arrangements 2022/23
	B/ Performance reporting
	C/ Suite of performance measures 2022/23


	Scrutiny Members Workshop Report 03.03.22
	Decision Pathway Risk Register - Business Plan 22.23
	Eco Impact Assessment - Business Plan 22-231
	Equality Impact Assessment - Business Plan 22-23 (1)

	15 Mayor's Forward Plan - Standing Item (for information only)
	16 Minutes from the WECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee - standing item (for information only)



